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The Underwriter has provided the following sentence for inclusion in this Official Statement: The
Underwriter has reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and as part of, their
respective responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances
of this transaction, but the Underwriter does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information.

No dealer, broker, salesperson or other person has been authorized by the North Carolina Housing Finance
Agency or the Underwriter to give any information or to make any representations other than those contained
herein and, if given or made, such other information or representations must not be relied upon as having been
authorized by any of the foregoing. This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation
of any offer to buy nor shall there be any sale of the Series 52-C Bonds by any person in any jurisdiction in which
it is unlawful for such person to make such offer, solicitation or sale.

The information set forth herein has been provided by the North Carolina Housing Finance Agency and
other sources believed to be reliable. Quotations from and summaries and explanations of provisions of laws and
documents herein do not purport to be complete and reference is made to such laws and documents for full and
complete statements of their provisions. Any statements made in this Official Statement involving estimates or
matters of opinion, whether or not expressly stated, are intended merely as estimates or opinions and not as
representations of fact.

The information and expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice and neither the
delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any
implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the North Carolina Housing Finance Agency since the
dates as of which information is given herein.

THE SECURITIES OFFERED HEREBY HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 OR THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE OF THE UNITED STATES.
THE SECURITIES OFFERED HEREBY HAVE NOT BEEN APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR ANY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION, NOR
HAVE ANY OF THE FOREGOING AUTHORITIES PASSED UPON OR ENDORSED THE MERITS OF
THIS OFFERING OR THE ADEQUACY OF THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT. ANY REPRESENTATION TO
THE CONTRARY MAY BE A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.

IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, THE UNDERWRITER MAY EFFECT
TRANSACTIONS WHICH STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF THE SERIES 52-C
BONDS OFFERED HEREBY AT A LEVEL ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN
THE OPEN MARKET. SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY
TIME.

References to website addresses presented herein are for informational purposes only and may be in the
form of a hyperlink solely for the reader’s convenience. Unless specified otherwise, such websites and the
information or hyperlinks contained therein are not incorporated into, and are not part of, this Official Statement
for purposes of, and as that term is defined in, Rule 15¢2-12 of the Securities and Exchange Commission.

The order and placement of materials in this Official Statement, including the Appendices, are not deemed
to be a determination of relevance, materiality or importance, and this Official Statement, including the attached
Appendices, must be considered in its entirety.
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT
OF
NORTH CAROLINA HOUSING FINANCE AGENCY

$40,000,000
North Carolina Housing Finance Agency
Home Ownership Variable Rate Revenue Bonds
$40,000,000 Series 52-C (Non-AMT) (Social Bonds)
(1998 Trust Agreement)

INTRODUCTION AND PURPOSE

This Official Statement (including the cover page and appendices hereto) has been prepared and is being
distributed by the North Carolina Housing Finance Agency (the “Agency”) in order to furnish information in
connection with the sale of the Agency's Home Ownership Variable Rate Revenue Bonds, Series 52-C (Non-
AMT) (Social Bonds) (the “Series 52-C Bonds”) being offered hereby in the aggregate principal amount of
$40,000,000, pursuant to the North Carolina Housing Finance Agency Act, being Chapter 122A of the General
Statutes of North Carolina, as amended (the “Act”), the Trust Agreement, dated as of May 1, 1998, between the
Agency and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, National Association (hereinafter the “Trustee”), as
amended and restated by the Amended and Restated Trust Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2023 between the
Agency and the Trustee (the “Trust Agreement”), as further amended by the First Amendment thereto dated as of
November 1, 2023 (the “First Amendment”) and a Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement, dated as of
November 1, 2023, between the Agency and the Trustee (the “Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement”),
authorizing the issuance of the Series 52-C Bonds. Separately, the Agency is issuing $235,000,000 in aggregate
principal amount of its Home Ownership Revenue Bonds, Series 52-A (Non-AMT) (Social Bonds) (the “Series
52-A Bonds”) and $75,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of its Home Ownership Revenue Bonds, Series 52-
B (Federally Taxable) (Social Bonds) (the “Series 52-B Bonds™). The Series 52-A Bonds and the Series 52-B
Bonds will be delivered at a closing on the same day as the Series 52-C Bonds. Collectively, the Series 52-A
Bonds, Series 52-B Bonds and the Series 52-C Bonds are referred to as the “Series 52 Bonds.”

Except for bonds issued under the Trust Agreement that by the terms thereof are subordinate to the other
bonds issued under the Trust Agreement, all bonds issued under the Trust Agreement will be equally and ratably
secured by the pledges and covenants contained therein. All such bonds that are equally and ratably secured,
including the prior series of bonds issued in the respective aggregate principal amounts and on the respective dates
as described in “THE PROGRAM — Experience to Date Under The Program” herein, and the Series 52 Bonds are
herein referred to as the “Bonds.” Information descriptive of the Series 52-C Bonds which is included on the
cover page and inside cover page hereof is part of this Official Statement.

All capitalized terms used in this Official Statement which are defined in the Trust Agreement shall have
the same meanings as are set forth therein (see Appendix C — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF
THE TRUST AGREEMENT AND THE FIFTY-SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL TRUST AGREEMENT -
Definitions”). The summaries of and references to the Act, the Trust Agreement and the other statutes and
documents referred to herein and the description of the Series 52-C Bonds which are included in or attached to
this Official Statement do not purport to be comprehensive or definitive, and such summaries, references and
descriptions are qualified in their entirety by reference to each such document or statute, copies of which are
available from the Agency upon request.

The Agency is a body politic and corporate constituting a public agency and instrumentality of the State
of North Carolina (the “State”) which was created for the purpose of providing financing for residential housing
for low and moderate income households. Pursuant to the Act, the Agency has established a housing program
under the Trust Agreement (hereinafter referred to as the “Program”) under which the Agency is authorized to
enter into agreements for the purchase of mortgage loans, mortgage-backed securities and other obligations made
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for the purpose of assisting in providing housing to low and moderate income households in the State. Under the
Act the issuance of bonds or notes by the Agency and the interest rate or rates, sale price or prices and manner of
sale thereof must be determined by the State Treasurer and approved by the Local Government Commission (the
“Commission”) of the State.

The Trust Agreement authorizes the issuance of Bonds thereunder for the purpose of paying the costs of
the Program and for refunding certain bonds of the Agency. Generally, Bonds issued to pay the costs of the
Program are issued to finance the making or purchase by the Agency of “Program Loans” or “Program Securities.”
Under the Trust Agreement, and as used herein, a “Program Loan” is an obligation made or purchased by the
Agency in order to finance or otherwise provide housing principally on behalf of households of low and moderate
income, and a “Program Security” is an obligation representing an interest in a pool of mortgage loans, which
obligations are guaranteed or insured by a mortgage agency authorized by the Trust Agreement. As defined in
the Trust Agreement and used herein, a “Program Obligation” is a Program Loan or a Program Security. Under
the Trust Agreement and as used in this Official Statement, a “Series 52 Securitized Mortgage Loan” refers to a
mortgage loan that is made to an eligible borrower to finance the purchase of a home, which mortgage loan is
pooled into a Program Security that is purchased by the Agency with the proceeds of the Series 52 Bonds. See
“Definitions” and “Program Fund” in Appendix C hereto.

The Trust Agreement further provides that the Supplemental Trust Agreement authorizing the issuance
of a Series of Bonds shall direct whether the proceeds of such Series will be used to purchase Program Loans or
Program Securities and, if Program Securities are to be purchased, the requirements therefor, including any
insurance or guarantee requirements for the Program Securities that may be purchased. In the Fifty-Second
Supplemental Trust Agreement, the Agency has provided that the new Program Securities that may be purchased
with the proceeds of the Series 52 Bonds must be mortgage-backed securities issued by the Government National
Mortgage Association (“Ginnie Mae”), Federal National Mortgage Association (“Fannie Mae”), or Federal Home
Loan Mortgage Corporation (“Freddie Mac”), representing mortgage loans financing single family residential
housing for households of low and moderate income in the State. In addition to the purchase of Program Securities
with proceeds of the Series 52 Bonds, new Program Loans will be purchased with proceeds of the Series 52 Bonds
that will be non-interest-bearing loans made to the borrowers of the related Series 52 Securitized Mortgage Loans
to provide down payment assistance to such borrowers (“Series 52 DPA Loans”). Series 52 DPA Loans will be
secured by a subordinate mortgage on the property purchased with the proceeds thereof, and the principal of such
Program Loans will be forgiven if the borrower meets certain program requirements.

The proceeds of the Series 52 Bonds will be used by the Agency, together with any other available funds,
to (a) purchase Program Securities as described herein, (b) purchase Series 52 DPA Loans as described herein and
(c) pay a portion of the costs of issuance of the Series 52 Bonds. For a more detailed discussion of the manner in
which the Agency intends to apply the proceeds of the Series 52 Bonds, see “PLAN OF FINANCE” and “THE
PROGRAM.” In addition, in connection with the issuance of the Series 52 Bonds, the Agency will instruct the
Trustee to transfer approximately $9.8 million from other funds available under the Trust Agreement to the credit
of the Series 52 Program Account of the Program Fund for purchase of additional Series 52 Program Obligations
as described herein.

The Series 52-C Bonds and the interest thereon are payable solely from the Revenues and other moneys
and assets pledged therefor under the Trust Agreement. The Series 52-C Bonds are additionally secured by a Debt
Service Reserve Fund, as more fully described below in “SECURITY FOR AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT OF
THE SERIES 52-C BONDS — Debt Service Reserve Fund.”

The Series 52-C Bonds do not constitute a debt, liability or obligation of the State or any political
subdivision thereof, nor is the faith and credit or the taxing power of the State or any political subdivision thereof
pledged to payment of the Series 52-C Bonds. The Agency has no taxing power.

PLAN OF FINANCE

The Series 52-C Bonds will be issued as variable interest rate bonds under a combined plan of finance
which will also include the Series 52-A Bonds and Series 52-B Bonds. The Series 52-C Bonds will be delivered
on the same day as the Series 52-A Bonds and Series 52-B Bonds. The Series 52-C Bonds are being offered for
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sale separately from the Series 52-A Bonds and Series 52-B Bonds. This Official Statement is not intended to
apply to the Series 52-A Bonds and Series 52-B Bonds.

The proceeds of the Series 52-C Bonds will be used, together with other available funds, including the
proceeds of the Series 52-A Bonds and the Series 52-B Bonds for the purchase by the Agency of Program
Obligations to finance single family residential housing.

The Series 52-C Bonds will be issued as variable interest rate bonds, containing provisions permitting the
owners thereof to tender their Series 52-C Bonds for purchase to the Trustee. TD Securities (USA) LLC will act
as remarketing agent (the “Remarketing Agent”) for the Series 52-C Bonds. Series 52-C Bonds so tendered will
be subject to remarketing to new purchasers by the Remarketing Agent pursuant to a Remarketing Agreement
dated as of November 1, 2023 (the “Remarketing Agreement”) between the Agency and the Remarketing Agent.
In order to provide a source of funds to purchase tendered Series 52-C Bonds in the event of an unsuccessful
remarketing, the Agency will enter into a Standby Bond Purchase Agreement with TD Bank, N.A. (the “Bank”)
dated as of November 1, 2023 (the “Series 52-C Liquidity Facility”), pursuant to which the Bank will purchase
Series 52-C Bonds so tendered and not remarketed. Upon such purchase, the Agency will have certain repayment
obligations to the Bank in accordance with the terms of the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility.

In connection with the issuance of the Series 52-C Bonds, the Agency will enter into an interest rate swap
agreement (the “Swap Agreement”) with Bank of America, N.A. (“Series 52 Swap Provider”). Pursuant to the
Swap Agreement, the Agency will receive payments, computed at a variable rate intended to approximate the
variable interest rate on the Series 52-C Bonds, on a notional amount expected to correspond to the principal
amount of the Series 52-C Bonds. The Agency will agree to pay to the Series 52 Swap Provider payments,
computed at a fixed rate, on the same notional amount. Payments under the Swap Agreement are subordinate to
payments of principal and interest on the Series 52-C Bonds. Payments made by the Series 52 Swap Provider to
the Agency under the Swap Agreement are Revenues pledged under the Trust Agreement. The Swap Agreement
will expire on July 1, 2049, but is subject to early termination, in whole or in part, at any time at the option of the
Agency upon payment of a market based termination payment. The Swap Agreement is also subject to early
termination at the option of the Agency without cost beginning on July 1, 2032 and semiannually thereafter on
each January 1 or July 1 to July 1, 2049. The notional amount of the Swap Agreement is subject to mandatory
semi-annual reductions beginning July 1, 2046 through July 1, 2049.

Purchase of New Program Securities

The Agency anticipates using approximately $366.1 million of the proceeds of Series 52 Bonds and
transfers from other funds available under the Trust Agreement to fund the purchase by the Agency of Ginnie
Mae Certificates, Fannie Mae Certificates and Freddie Mac Certificates securitizing new mortgage loans for home
ownership made to persons of low and moderate income in the State. Upon the purchase of such Certificates, the
Certificates so purchased will be deposited to the Series 52 Program Account and will be Series 52 Program
Securities for all purposes of the Trust Agreement as that term is used in this Official Statement.

Ginnie Mae, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac may from time to time change their mortgage-backed securities
programs and documents governing those programs. Alterations or amendments to Ginnie Mae, Fannie Mae or
Freddie Mac mortgage-backed securities programs in such a way as to prevent Lenders from originating new
mortgage loans to be securitized into Program Securities, reduce the volume of such new mortgage loans that can
be originated and securitized, and/or prevent ServiSolutions from issuing or delivering new Program Securities to
be purchased with proceeds of the Series 52-C Bonds as contemplated by the Plan of Finance could result in the
early redemption of Series 52-C Bonds before their maturity as described under “REDEMPTION OF THE
SERIES 52-C BONDS—Special Redemption.” See APPENDIX E for discussions of the current Ginnie Mae,
Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac certificate programs.

The Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement also provides that the Agency may use the proceeds of
the Series 52-C Bonds to purchase Program Loans meeting the requirements of the Trust Agreement and the Fifty-
Second Supplemental Trust Agreement, but at present the Agency does not intend to utilize the proceeds of the
Series 52-C Bonds for such purpose, other than the Series 52 DPA Loans described below.



Purchase of Series 52 DPA Loans

The Agency anticipates using approximately $24.1 million of the proceeds of the Series 52 Bonds and
transfers from other funds available under the Trust Agreement to purchase Series 52 DPA Loans. The program
features associated with the Series 52 DPA Loans are being implemented in reliance upon the provisions of the
Trust Agreement, which permits the Agency, in its discretion, to reduce the amounts collected under any Program
Loan in order to comply with the requirements of the federal income tax laws applicable to the Series 52 Bonds.

Series 52 DPA Loans will be made to borrowers in connection with the making of a related Series 52
Securitized Mortgage Loan. Series 52 DPA Loans will be secured by the acquired real property by a mortgage
that is subordinate to the related Series 52 Securitized Mortgage Loan and may be subordinate to other mortgages
on the real property. Series 52 DPA Loans will be non-interest bearing loans and may be subject to automatic
reductions in principal upon the occurrence of certain specified events, as appropriate to carry out the Agency’s
programmatic objectives to be accomplished through the Series 52 DPA Loans. Series 52 DPA Loans are not
required to be insured or guaranteed pursuant to any federal or private mortgage insurance or guaranty program.

Initially, Series 52 DPA Loans will be expected to be made to each borrower in the amount of $15,000.
It is the intention of the Agency that no principal on the Series 52 DPA Loans will be due during the first fifteen
years of such loan unless (1) the property purchased with such loan is sold during such period, (2) the Series 52
Securitized Mortgage Loan related to the Series 52 DPA Loan is refinanced, or (3) there is a default under the
Series 52 Securitized Mortgage Loan related to the Series 52 DPA Loan. If the events described in the preceding
sentence do not occur as of the applicable date, 20% of the original principal of the Series 52 DPA Loans will be
reduced on each of the eleventh, twelfth, thirteenth, fourteenth and fifteenth anniversaries of the origination of the
Series 52 DPA Loan.

Until the principal of a Series 52 DPA Loan is completely forgiven, the Series 52 DPA Loan will be a
“Program Loan” for purposes of the Trust Agreement and will be subject to the pledge of the Program Loans to
secure payment of the Bonds issued under the Trust Agreement. Any payments on the Series 52 DPA Loans
(which would consist only of payments received if the principal of the Series 52 DPA Loan becomes due during
the first fifteen years because the acquired property is sold, the related Series 52 Securitized Mortgage Loan is
refinanced or there is a default and foreclosure on the Series 52 Securitized Mortgage Loan) will constitute
“Prepayments” and will be applied as provided below under “SECURITY FOR AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT
OF THE SERIES 52-C BONDS.”



DESIGNATION OF THE SERIES 52 BONDS AS SOCIAL BONDS

The Agency is designating the Series 52 Bonds as Social Bonds based on the intended use of proceeds of
the Series 52-C Bonds to (i) finance the purchase by the Agency of Ginnie Mae Certificates, Fannie Mae
Certificates and Freddie Mac Certificates securitizing new mortgage loans for home ownership made to persons
of low and moderate income in the State, and (ii) purchase Series 52 DPA Loans made to borrowers in connection
with the making of a related Series 52 Securitized Mortgage Loan. The Agency's Social Bonds designation reflects
the use of proceeds of the Series 52 Bonds in a manner that is consistent with the “Social Bond Principles” as
promulgated by the International Capital Markets Association (“ICMA”). By reference to the ICMA’s “Green
and Social Bonds: High-Level Mapping to the Sustainable Development Goals,” the Agency has determined that
the Agency's Social Bonds designation reflects the use of the proceeds of the Series 52 Bonds in a manner that is
consistent with the following United Nations 17 Sustainable Development Goals (“UNSDGs”):

UNSDG Goal UNSDG Target | ICMA Social Bond Principles Category
Goal 1: No Poverty 1.4 e Affordable Housing
e Socioeconomic Advancement and
Empowerment

e Access to Essential Services

Goal 8: Decent Work and 8.10 e Access to Essential Services
Economic Growth

Goal 10: Reduced Inequalities 10.2 e Socioeconomic Advancement and
Empowerment
e Access to Essential Services

Goal 11: Sustainable Cities and 11.1 e Affordable Housing
Communities e Affordable Basic Infrastructure

The UNSDGs were adopted by the United Nations General Assembly in September 2015 as part of its
2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. According to the United Nations, SDG 1 is focused on ending poverty
in all its forms everywhere, SDG 8§ is focused on sustainable and inclusive growth, SDG 10 is focused on the
needs of disadvantaged and marginalized populations, and SDG 11 is focused on making cities and communities
inclusive, safe, resilient and sustainable. The ICMA’s “Green and Social Bonds: High-Level Mapping to the
Sustainable Development Goals” maps SDG 1.4 to ICMA Social Bond Principles “Affordable Housing,”
“Socioeconomic Advancement and Empowerment,” and “Access to Essential Services”; maps SDG 8.10 to ICMA
Social Bond Principle “Access to Essential Services”; maps SDG 10.2 to ICMA Social Bond Principles
“Socioeconomic Advancement and Empowerment” and “Access to Essential Services”; and maps SDG 11.1 to
ICMA Social Bond Principles “Affordable Housing” and “Affordable Basic Infrastructure.”

The Agency was created for the purpose of providing financing for residential housing for low and
moderate income households in North Carolina. It provides mortgage loan products through the NC Home
Advantage Mortgage (“HomeAd”) program.

The HomeAd program provides multiple down payment assistance options to borrowers, across all loan
types (FHA, USDA, VA and conventional), including no down payment assistance, 3% down payment assistance,
or the NC 1* Home Advantage Down Payment Assistance which provides a fixed amount of down payment
assistance. The HomeAd loans with the NC 1* Home Advantage Down Payment Assistance are bond funded and
the amount of associated down payment assistance is $15,000. Series 52 Bond proceeds will also be used to
purchase Series 52 DPA Loans.



The following tables summarize data describing historical loan origination activity and historical
borrower profiles for Securitized Mortgage Loans financed by the Agency with Home Ownership Revenue Bonds
over the last two years (July 2021 - June 2023).

North Carolina Mortgage Program Highlights (July 2021 - June 2023)
For Securitized Mortgage Loans Financed with Home Ownership Revenue Bonds'"

Total Securitized Mortgage Loans Originated 4,118 loans totaling $742 million
Down Payment Assistance Program Loans 4,118 of total first loans or 100% totaling $36 million
Average Loan Amount $180,064
Average Purchase Price $187,586
Borrowers Average Annual Gross Income $52,906
Loans to Minority Borrowers ) 31% of total first loans
Loans to Women Head of Household 52% of total first loans

Securitized Mortgage Loans Originated by Borrower Income as a
Percentage of Area Median Income®
And Financed under the Home Ownership Bond Indenture
(July 2021 - June 2023)

AMI Band # of Loans $ of Loans ($000s) Cumulative % by $
80% and below 2,694 $449,684 61%
80.1%-100% 922 $186,700 86%
Greater Than 100% 502 $105,847 100%
Totals 4,118 $742,231

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]



To provide the most recent historical data, the following table provides the Average Median Income
information for Securitized Mortgage Loans purchased with proceeds of the Series 50 Bonds.

Securitized Mortgage Loans (Pooled into Mortgage-Backed Securities)
Purchased with Series 50 Bond Proceeds
as of June 30, 2023
by Borrower Income as a Percent of Area Median Income (AMI)?
AMI Band® # of Loans $ of Loans Cumulative % by $
($000s)
50% and below 54 $7,789 10%
50.1% - 60% 72 $13,062 26%
60.1% - 70% 81 $16,660 46%
70.1% - 80% 80 $16,422 66%
80.1% - 90% 48 $10,643 80%
90.1% - 100% 33 $7,258 89%
100.1% - 140% 42 $9,278 100%
Totals 410 $81,112

(" Securitized Mortgage Loans financed with proceeds of Home Ownership Revenue Bonds.

@ Borrowers’ incomes are based on the information provided to the Agency by the Borrower or the Lender.
® 10 of the Borrowers did not respond to this question and are not included in the calculation.

@ The Area Median Income table was provided by the Federal Housing Finance Agency (FHFA).

The Agency’s determination of the Social Bond designation for the Series 52 Bonds is based on the
following:

Use of Proceeds. The proceeds of the Series 52 Bonds are expected to finance Series 52 Securitized
Mortgage Loans and Series 52 DPA Loans generally made to first-time homebuyers of low and moderate income
throughout the State as described above and in “THE PROGRAM — Program Securities under the NC Home
Advantage Mortgage Program.”

Project Evaluation and Selection. Series 52 Securitized Mortgage Loans funded by the Series 52 Bond
proceeds will be originated by qualified Mortgage Lenders and will be consistent with the HomeAd products
described above and subject to the purchase price limitations, borrower income limitations, and first-time
homebuyer restrictions, as described in “FEDERAL TAX REQUIREMENTS — Eligibility Requirements.”

Post-Issuance Reporting. The Agency expects to provide annual updates, within 120 days of the end of
each fiscal year of the Agency, commencing with the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024, regarding the disbursement
of the proceeds of the Series 52 Bonds for the financing of Series 52 Securitized Mortgage Loans and Series 52
DPA Loans. The final update will be made within 120 days of the end of the fiscal year in which the Series 52
Bonds proceeds have been fully disbursed. This reporting is separate from the Agency’s obligations described in
“CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” in this Official Statement and will be provided on EMMA. Failure by the
Agency to provide such updates is not a default or an event of default under the undertaking by the Agency
described under “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE.” The Agency expects that such annual updates will consist of
the information outlined in “Appendix H -— Form of Social Bonds Reporting.” The specific form and content of
such updates are in the absolute discretion of the Agency. Once all proceeds of the Series 52 Bonds have been
disbursed, no further updates will be provided.

Designation Does Not Involve Provision of Additional Security or Assumption of Special Risk. The term
“Social Bonds” is neither defined in nor related to provisions in the Trust Agreement and the Fifty-Second
Supplemental Trust Agreement. The use of such term in this Official Statement is for identification purposes only
and is not intended to provide or imply that an owner of Bonds so designated, including the Series 52-C Bonds,
are entitled to any additional security beyond that provided therefor in the Trust Agreement and the Fifty-Second

7



Supplemental Trust Agreement. Holders of the Series 52-C Bonds do not assume any specific risk with respect
to any of the funded loans by reason of the Series 52-C Bonds being designated as Social Bonds, and such Series
52-C Bonds are secured on parity with all other Bonds issued and to be issued under the Trust Agreement.

The information set forth herein concerning the designation of the Series 52-C Bonds as “Social Bonds”
has been furnished by the Agency and by other sources that are believed to be reliable. It should be noted that
there is currently no clearly articulated definition of (legal, regulatory, or otherwise), nor market consensus as to
what constitutes a “social bond” or an equivalently labeled program. Nor is there an agreed upon standard as to
what precise attributes are required for a particular program to be defined as “social” or such other equivalent
label. No assurance can be given that a clear definition will develop over time, or that, if developed, will include
the program to be financed with the proceeds of the Series 52-C Bonds. Accordingly, no assurance is or can be
given to investors that any uses of the Series 52-C Bonds will meet investor expectations regarding “social” or
other equivalently labelled performance objectives.

SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS

The proceeds to be received from the sale of the Series 52-A Bonds, Series 52-B Bonds and Series 52-C
Bonds, together with other available moneys, shall be applied approximately as follows:

Sources of Funds:

Principal Amount of Series 52-A Bonds (sold separately) ..........cccecvevververvennnnns $235,000,000
Principal Amount of Series 52-B Bonds (sold separately) ..........cccoeceervrrireniennen. 75,000,000
Principal Amount of Series 52-C BONdS........ccceevieiiiieeieiieeieeeeriecre e 40,000,000
Net Original Issue Premium of Series 52 Bonds .........ccecvvevvevienieniinieniecieeenn 6,316,057
Transfer from Other Available Agency Funds..........cccoeiiiiiiiiniieiiiieieeee 9,776,511
TOEAL SOUICES ...ttt ettt e et et sa e e s eaeeeenaeesaeeans $366,092,568
Uses of Funds:
Series 52 Program ACCOUNL.........cccueeiciieeiieeiieeetreeereeereeesereesreeesereeseseesseeeneaeeens $366,092,568
TOAL USES ...ttt ettt ettt e e e et e et esaesaeeaeeee s $366,092,568

The Agency will pay the costs of issuing the Series 52-C Bonds from funds available to the Agency.

Of the Program Obligations purchased using proceeds of the Series 52-A Bonds and Series 52-C Bonds
and additional funds related thereto deposited in the Series 52 Program Account (the “Series 52-A/C Program
Obligations™), approximately $132.8 million is expected to be used to acquire approximately $131.9 million in
principal amount of Ginnie Mae Certificates at a weighted average purchase price equal to approximately 100.7%
of the principal amount thereof, and approximately $137.5 million is expected to be used to acquire approximately
$137.2 million in principal amount of Fannie Mae Certificates and Freddie Mac Certificates at a weighted average
purchase price equal to approximately 100.2% of the principal amount thereof, and approximately $17.8 million
is expected to be used to acquire approximately $17.8 million in principal amount of Series 52 DPA Loans at a
weighted average purchase price equal to approximately 100% of the principal amount thereof. Of the Program
Obligations purchased using amounts deposited in the Series 52-B Subaccount of the Series 52 Program Account
(the “Series 52-B Program Obligations”), approximately $35.2 million is expected to be used to acquire
approximately $34.9 million in principal amount of Ginnie Mae Certificates at a weighted average purchase price
equal to approximately 100.9% of the principal amount thereof, and approximately $36.5 million is expected to
be used to acquire approximately $36.3 million in principal amount of Fannie Mae Certificates and Freddie Mac
Certificates at a weighted average purchase price equal to approximately 100.4% of the principal amount thereof,
and approximately $6.3 million is expected to be used to acquire approximately $6.3 million in principal amount
of Series 52 DPA Loans at a weighted average purchase price equal to approximately 100% of the principal
amount thereof.



SECURITY FOR AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT OF
THE SERIES 52-C BONDS

Pledge Created Under the Trust Agreement

The Series 52-C Bonds are special obligations of the Agency payable from the following moneys and
assets of the Agency, which are pledged in the manner and to the extent provided under the Trust Agreement for
the payment of the Bonds:

1. All Program Obligations, Revenues, Program Obligation Accrued Interest, Financing Fees and
Prepayments (as such terms are defined in the Trust Agreement), and all moneys, securities and Funds and
Accounts held or set aside pursuant to the Trust Agreement; and

2. All money and securities held by or on behalf of the Trustee in all of the funds, accounts or
subaccounts established pursuant to the Trust Agreement, except those funds, accounts and subaccounts that are
expressly pledged in a Supplemental Trust Agreement as security only for a specified Series of Bonds and a
Special Debt Service Reserve Account (as defined in the Trust Agreement), and except money and securities held
by or on behalf of the Trustee in the Revenue Reserve Refunding Account of the Revenue Reserve Fund and the
TBA Loan Administration Fund as described below. For further information, see the subcaptions “Pledge” and
“Application of Revenues and Other Moneys” in Appendix C.

Application of Revenues and Certain Other Funds

Pursuant to the Trust Agreement, the Agency has created, among other things, the Revenue Fund and the
Bond Service Fund, and within the Bond Service Fund an “Interest Account” and a “Principal Account.” In
addition, pursuant to the Trust Agreement, a special account in the Bond Service Fund has been or will be created
for each Series of Bonds designated the “Principal/Special Redemption Account” for the Series. The Fifty-Second
Supplemental Trust Agreement creates the “Series 52 Principal/Special Redemption Account” for the Series 52
Bonds and within the Series 52 Principal/Special Redemption Account it creates the “Series 52-A/C Subaccount”
and the “Series 52-B Subaccount.”

The Agency has created in the Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement a special account of the
Program Fund designated the “Series 52 Program Account,” and within the Series 52 Program Account it created
three subaccounts designated the “Series 52 Initial Subaccount,” the “Series 52-A/C Subaccount” and the “Series
52-B Subaccount.” Upon the issuance of the Series 52 Bonds, all proceeds of the Series 52 Bonds and other funds
to be used to finance the purchase of Program Obligations will be deposited to the Series 52 Initial Subaccount of
the Series 52 Program Account. When all Program Obligations to be purchased in whole or in part from the
original proceeds of the Series 52 Bonds have been purchased, the Agency will transfer the Program Obligations
pro rata between the Series 52-A/C Subaccount and the Series 52-B Subaccount of the Series 52 Program Account,
based on the initial amounts of Series 52-A Bonds and Series 52-C Bonds on the one hand (which will be
transferred to the Series 52-A/C Subaccount) and the initial amount of the Series 52-B Bonds.

All payments of principal and interest on the Series 52 Program Obligations, other than Prepayments on
Series 52 DPA Loans, which shall be applied as provided below, shall be collected by or on behalf of the Agency
and deposited as received in the name of the Trustee. Upon receipt, the Trustee shall apply the amounts received
as follows:

(1) All amounts comprising the payment of interest on the Series 52 Program Obligations shall be
deposited to the credit of the Revenue Fund.

(2) All other amounts received shall be deposited to the credit of the Series 52 Principal/Special
Redemption Account.

Amounts deposited to the Revenue Fund shall be applied as provided in the Trust Agreement and
described in Appendix C under “Periodic Withdrawals from Revenue Fund.” The first use of such amounts is to
the payment of the next interest payment on the Bonds issued under the Trust Agreement.
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Amounts deposited to the Series 52 Principal/Special Redemption Account shall be applied as follows, in
the following order of priority:

(1) The amount, if any, needed to increase the amount in the Principal Account so that the amount in the
Principal Account funded from (i) transfers from the Series 52 Principal/Special Redemption Account
and (ii) Prepayments on Series 52 DPA Loans deposited directly to the Principal Account to be used
to pay principal on the Series 52 Bonds is the amount sufficient to pay the principal of all Series 52
Bonds maturing within the next six months shall be transferred to the Principal Account.

(2) The amount, if any, needed to increase the amount in the Principal Account so that the amount in the
Principal Account funded from (i) transfers from the Series 52 Principal/Special Redemption Account
and (ii) Prepayments on DPA Loans deposited directly to the Principal Account to be used to pay
principal on the Series 52-C Bonds is the amount sufficient to meet the Sinking Fund Requirements
of the Series 52 Bonds to be redeemed within the next six months shall be transferred to the Principal
Account.

(3) The amount, if any, needed to increase the amount in the Series 52 Bonds Principal/Special
Redemption Account so that the amount on deposit therein is sufficient to redeem Series 52-A Term
Bonds maturing January 1, 2055 (the “Series 52-A PAC Bonds”) up to the amounts set forth in the
Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement as set forth under “REDEMPTION OF SERIES 52-C
BONDS - Special Redemption” shall be used for that purpose.

(4) At the direction of the Agency, to (a) redeem additional Series 52-C Bonds; (b) redeem Bonds other
than Series 52-C Bonds, to the extent the Supplemental Trust Agreement authorizing the issuance of
such Bonds allows for such Bonds to be redeemed from such amounts; or (c) to purchase additional
Program Obligations that meet the requirements of the Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement.

Debt Service Reserve Fund

The Trust Agreement creates a Debt Service Reserve Fund for the additional security of the Bonds issued
thereunder. The Trust Agreement provides that each Supplemental Trust Agreement providing for the issuance
of Bonds shall specify whether the Bonds authorized thereby will be entitled to the benefit of the Debt Service
Reserve Fund and shall specify the portion of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement with respect to such Bonds.
The Debt Service Reserve Requirement under the Trust Agreement is the sum of amounts established by each
Supplemental Trust Agreement as the portion of the requirement with respect to the Bonds issued under that
Supplemental Trust Agreement. The Trust Agreement does not provide a minimum requirement for the portion
of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement in connection with a particular issue of Bonds. All Bonds secured by
the Debt Service Reserve Fund will be secured equally and ratably by the Debt Service Reserve Fund, regardless
of the amount of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement with respect to a particular Series of Bonds set forth in
the Supplemental Trust Agreement authorizing the issuance thereof. As of June 30, 2023, there was on deposit in
the Debt Service Reserve Fund $1,810,000.

Prior to the issuance of the Series 37 Bonds, each Supplemental Trust Agreement had provided that the
portion of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement related to the series of bonds authorized thereby be equal to two
percent (2%) of the outstanding principal amount of such authorized bonds. THE SUPPLEMENTAL TRUST
AGREEMENT FOR EACH SERIES OF BONDS COMMENCING WITH THE SERIES 37 BONDS,
INCLUDING THE FIFTY-SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL TRUST AGREEMENT, PROVIDES THAT
SUCH BONDS ARE SECURED BY THE DEBT SERVICE RESERVE FUND AND SUCH
SUPPLEMENTAL TRUST AGREEMENTS ALL FURTHER PROVIDE THAT THE DEBT SERVICE
RESERVE FUND SHALL NOT BE INCREASED ON ACCOUNT OF EACH SUCH SERIES OF BONDS
ISSUED COMMENCING WITH THE SERIES 37 BONDS.

The Debt Service Reserve Fund consists of four accounts: the Proceeds Reserve Account, which is funded

with the proceeds of Bonds, the Contribution Reserve Account, which is funded with the moneys attributable to
appropriations by the State of North Carolina to the Agency, the Equity Reserve Account, which is funded from
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funds of the Agency other than funds appropriated to the Agency by the State, and the 1974 Appropriation Reserve
Account, which is funded as provided below.

Under the Trust Agreement, moneys held in the Debt Service Reserve Fund may be used to pay when due
principal of and interest on the Bonds if, at any time, the moneys otherwise available for such payment or
retirement are insufficient for such purpose. Any deficiency in the Debt Service Reserve Fund may be made up
from Revenues in excess of Revenues necessary to pay debt service on the Bonds and any other moneys available
to the Agency for such purpose. Moneys in the Debt Service Reserve Fund in excess of the Debt Service Reserve
Requirement due to a decrease in the Debt Service Reserve Requirement shall either be retained in such Fund or,
except for amounts in the Contribution Reserve Account, transferred to the Optional Redemption Account or a
Special Redemption Account, as shall be determined in an Officer's Certificate.

The Trust Agreement also provides that all or any portion of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement may
be met by cash, Investment Obligations or a Reserve Alternative Instrument (See Appendix C —”Definitions™).

The Trust Agreement also provides that any Supplemental Trust Agreement may provide for the creation
thereunder of a Special Debt Service Reserve Account, which shall secure only the Bonds authorized by such
Supplemental Trust Agreement.

The Agency has also created an additional account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund designated the “1974
Appropriation Reserve Account.” $4,000,000 is on deposit in the 1974 Appropriation Reserve Account, which
represents certain funds appropriated to the Agency by the North Carolina General Assembly in 1974. Pursuant
to the terms of the Trust Agreement, the Agency may withdraw amounts in the 1974 Appropriation Reserve
Account for application for a number of purposes of the Agency, including the provision for reserves for Bonds
of the Agency other than Bonds issued under the Trust Agreement. However, while funds are on deposit in the
1974 Appropriation Reserve Fund, such amounts are available to make up deficiencies in the Bond Service Fund.
See “1974 Appropriation Reserve Account” in Appendix C.

Neither the Act nor any other statute provides for any appropriations or payments by the North Carolina
General Assembly to restore moneys withdrawn from the Debt Service Reserve Fund to pay principal of or interest
on the Bonds. The Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement provides that there shall not be any
additional requirement for the cumulative Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement on account of the
Series 52 Bonds.

Revenue Reserve Fund and Accounts

The Trust Agreement creates a special fund designated the “Revenue Reserve Fund,” and within the
Revenue Reserve Fund special accounts designated the “Revenue Funded Account,” the “Revenue Reserve Equity
Account,” and the “Revenue Reserve Refunding Account.”

To the extent that Revenues are not needed for debt service, to fund or make up a deficiency in the Debt
Service Reserve Fund or for the other purposes provided for by the Trust Agreement, they are required to be
deposited to the credit of the Revenue Funded Account of the Revenue Reserve Fund. As of June 30, 2023, there
was on deposit in the Revenue Funded Account of the Revenue Reserve Fund $13,517,000 in cash and investments
derived from revenues (such amount does not include amounts on deposit in the Revenue Reserve Equity Account
as described below).

Moneys held in the Revenue Funded Account of the Revenue Reserve Fund are pledged to secure the
payment of the Bonds and may be used to pay when due the principal of and interest on the Bonds if at any time
the moneys otherwise available for such payment or retirement, other than moneys held in the Debt Service
Reserve Fund, are insufficient for such purpose. Any moneys so used can only be restored from Revenues in
excess of Revenues necessary to pay debt service on the Bonds and not necessary to make up any deficiency in
the Debt Service Reserve Fund.

Under certain circumstances, moneys in the Revenue Funded Account of the Revenue Reserve Fund may
be (i) used to fund any required payments under an interest rate swap agreement, including termination payments,
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in the event that the Revenues are not sufficient for such purpose, (ii) used to make any payments required to be
made to comply with applicable covenants made by the Agency regarding the exclusion of interest on the Bonds
from federal income taxation, (iii) transferred, at the option of the Agency, to a Special Redemption Account,
(iv) used to pay Operating Expenses of the Program, (v) transferred to the Optional Redemption Account or any
Special Redemption Account created by a Supplemental Trust Agreement, (vi) used to pay costs of issuance of a
new series of bonds or to purchase additional Program Obligations, (vii) used for any other purpose authorized by
the Trust Agreement or (viii) transferred to the Agency's General Fund. See the subcaptions “Application of
Revenues and Other Moneys” and “Revenue Reserve Fund” in Appendix C.

In addition, the Trust Agreement provides that the Agency may from time to time deposit any money
available to the Agency to any Fund or Account created under the Trust Agreement. Pursuant to this provision,
the Agency has created a separate account of the Revenue Reserve Fund designated the “Revenue Reserve Equity
Account.” Amounts deposited to the Revenue Reserve Equity Account are derived from sources other than
Revenues. Amounts in the Revenue Reserve Equity Account are subject to all provisions of the Trust Agreement
regarding the Revenue Reserve Fund, including the application of moneys in the Revenue Reserve Fund (since
amounts deposited to the Revenue Reserve Equity Account are not derived from Revenues, such amounts may
not be used for a Special Redemption of Bonds from excess Revenues). As of June 30, 2023, $83,820,000 was
on deposit in cash and investments in the Revenue Reserve Equity Account.

In addition, the Agency has also deposited to the credit of the Revenue Refunding Account of the Revenue
Reserve Fund additional funds and assets made available to the Agency from the refunding of Bonds of the Agency
issued under other Resolutions or Trust Agreements, following the discharge of all obligations under such other
Resolutions or Trust Agreements. Such funds and other assets are not pledged to secure payment of any Bonds
issued under the Trust Agreement, the amounts received thereunder do not constitute Revenues under the Trust
Agreement and the Owners of the Bonds do not have any rights in respect thereto. While in the Revenue
Refunding Account of the Revenue Reserve Fund, however, such amounts may be used for any purpose described
in this section (including transfer to the Agency’s General Fund), other than for transfer to a Special Redemption
Account for the redemption of Bonds from surplus Revenues in the Revenue Reserve Fund

Insurance Reserve Fund

The Trust Agreement creates an Insurance Reserve Fund for the additional security of the Bonds issued
thereunder. The Trust Agreement provides that each Supplemental Trust Agreement providing for the issuance
of Bonds shall specify the Insurance Reserve Requirement with respect to such Bonds and the manner in which
such requirement is to be funded. The Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement provides that there shall
not be any Insurance Reserve Requirement with respect to the Series 52 Program Obligations and losses
with respect to any Series 52 Program Loans will not be funded from transfers from the Insurance Reserve
Fund.

As of June 30, 2023, there was on deposit in the Insurance Reserve Fund $5,806,000.
Additional Bonds

The Trust Agreement authorizes the issuance of additional Bonds by the Agency, under the circumstances
set forth in the Trust Agreement. Such additional Bonds may be issued to finance additional costs of the Program,
to refund outstanding bonds issued under the Trust Agreement or issued under other resolutions or indentures
other than the Trust Agreement, or for other purposes set forth in the Trust Agreement. In order to issue additional
Bonds under the Trust Agreement, the Agency must comply with the provisions of a Supplemental Trust
Agreement executed in connection with the additional Bonds, which Supplemental Trust Agreement must be
authorized by the Commission and must contain the terms and provisions of the additional Bonds. The additional
Bonds must not materially and adversely affect the ability of the Agency to pay the principal of, Sinking Fund
Requirements on account of, and interest on the Bonds then outstanding. Such additional Bonds, together with
the Bonds issued and outstanding under the Trust Agreement, including the Series 52-C Bonds, would be equally
and ratably secured by the moneys and assets which are pledged for the payment of all of the Bonds issued under
the Trust Agreement and would be entitled to the equal benefit and protection of the provisions, covenants and
agreements of the Trust Agreement.
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Investments

The Trust Agreement provides that funds held thereunder may be invested in investments permitted by
the Trust Agreement. For a complete description of investments that are permitted, see the definition of
“Investment Obligations” in Appendix C.

Funds held under the Trust Agreement are currently invested in other investments, principally consisting
of the North Carolina Capital Management Trust (“NCCMT”). NCCMT is an investment fund primarily investing
in short-term, high quality federal government securities.

Historically, the Agency utilized investment agreements and repurchase agreements for the investment of
a significant amount of Program Funds, Revenues and Prepayments and Reserve Funds under the Trust
Agreement. More recently, the Agency has been unable to enter into such agreements that provided for rates of
return and other provisions acceptable to the Agency. Should market conditions result in a return of investment
rates to more attractive levels, the Agency may return to a broader use of investment and repurchase agreements
permitted by the Trust Agreement.

TBA Loan Administration Fund

In addition, the Agency has established within the Revenue Reserve Fund a special account called the
“TBA Loan Administration Account” to which the Agency may deposit or withdraw from time to time cash or
investments of cash in connection with the administration by the Agency of the single family homeownership
program being carried out by the Agency utilizing mortgage-backed securities issued by Fannie Mae, Ginnie Mae
and Freddie Mac and sold in the secondary market. Cash or other assets held in the TBA Loan Administration
Account are not pledged to secure payment of any Bonds issued under the Trust Agreement and the amounts
received thereunder do not constitute Revenues under the Trust Agreement, and such cash and other assets do not
provide security for the Bonds and the Owners of the Bonds shall have no rights in respect thereto.

DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 52-C BONDS
General

The Series 52-C Bonds will be dated November 21, 2023. The Series 52-C Bonds will be issuable only
in book-entry form as fully registered bonds and will be subject to the provisions of the book-entry-only system
as described in Appendix D — “BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM.”

The Series 52-C Bonds

The Series 52-C Bonds are initially issuable as fully registered bonds in denominations of $100,000 or
any integral multiple of $5,000 in excess thereof. The Series 52-C Bonds initially delivered will be dated as of
the date of their authentication and delivery, will mature on July 1, 2049 and will bear interest from the date of
delivery. The Series 52-C Bonds subsequently issued in exchange for, or upon the registration or transfer of Series
52-C Bonds will be dated the date of authentication thereof, will mature on the same date or dates and will bear
interest from the interest payment date next preceding the date of the authentication thereof, unless the date of
such authentication is after a Record Date and on or prior to the next succeeding Interest Payment Date, in which
case they will bear interest from such Interest Payment Date; provided, however, that if interest on the Series 52-
C Bonds is in default, the Series 52-C Bonds issued in place of Series 52-C Bonds surrendered for transfer or
exchange will bear interest from the date to which interest has been paid in full on the Series 52-C Bonds, or made
available for payment in full on Series 52-C Bonds. The Record Date for Series 52-C Bonds will be the last
business day preceding each Interest Payment Date.

The Series 52-C Bonds will initially bear interest as described herein for the period from the date of
delivery at a rate determined daily (the “Daily Mode”). Except as otherwise provided herein, so long as the Series
52-C Bonds are in a Daily Mode, the owners of any Series 52-C Bonds are entitled to demand purchase of such
Series 52-C Bonds at a purchase price equal to the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest, if any, to the
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date of purchase (the “Purchase Price”), upon satisfaction of the terms and conditions described herein. The Series
52-C Bonds are also subject to mandatory tender for purchase under certain circumstances.

The Agency will provide the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility to be in to be in effect at all times the Series
52-C Bonds are Outstanding. Initially, the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility will be a Standby Bond Purchase
Agreement between the Agency and the Bank. The Series 52-C Liquidity Facility will be executed as of the date
of delivery of the Series 52-C Bonds and will provide for the purchase by the Bank, on the terms and conditions
specified therein of tendered Series 52-C Bonds which have not been remarketed. If the Series 52-C Liquidity
Facility is replaced according to its terms, the Series 52-C Bonds will be subject to mandatory tender.

Interest on the Series 52-C Bonds shall be payable on each January 1 and July 1, commencing January 1,
2024, or the next Business Day if January 1 or July 1 is not a Business Day, for the preceding semiannual period
beginning on January 1 and ending on June 30, or beginning on July 1 and ending on December 31, as the case
may be. Interest payable on January 1, 2024 will be payable from November 21, 2023. Interest shall also be
payable on the last day of any Daily Interest Rate Period or Weekly Interest Rate Period, as applicable. In any
event, interest on the Series 52-C Bonds shall be payable for the final Interest Rate Period to the date on which
the Series 52-C Bonds shall have been paid in full. Interest on the Series 52-C Bonds shall be computed on the
basis of a 365/366 day year for actual days elapsed.

In the manner hereinafter provided, the term of the Series 52-C Bonds shall be divided into separate
Interest Rate Periods during each of which the Series 52-C Bonds shall bear interest at a Daily Interest Rate or
Weekly Interest Rate (except for Bank Bonds which shall bear interest at the Bank Bond Interest Rate); provided,
however, that at any time, all Series 52-C Bonds (other than Bank Bonds) shall bear interest at a Daily Interest
Rate or Weekly Interest Rate, as applicable. The first Interest Rate Period for the Series 52-C Bonds shall
commence on the date of original issuance of the Series 52-C Bonds and shall be a Daily Interest Rate Period. On
or prior to such date of issuance, the initial Daily Interest Rate borne by the Series 52-C Bonds shall be determined
in the manner provided in this Section by the Remarketing Agent.

During each Daily Interest Rate Period, each Series 52-C Bond shall bear interest at a Daily Interest Rate,
which shall be determined by the Remarketing Agent by 9:30 a.m., New York City time, on each Business Day
during such Daily Interest Rate Period. The Daily Interest Rate shall be the rate of interest per annum determined
by the Remarketing Agent (based on the examination of tax-exempt obligations comparable to the Series 52-C
Bonds and known by the Remarketing Agent to have been priced or traded under then-prevailing market
conditions) to be the minimum interest rate which, if borne by the Series 52-C Bonds, would enable the
Remarketing Agent to sell such Series 52-C Bonds on such date of determination at a price (without regarding
accrued interest) equal to the principal amount thereof. In the event that the Remarketing Agent fails to establish
a Daily Interest Rate for such Series 52-C Bonds for any day during a Daily Interest Rate Period, then the Daily
Interest Rate for such Series 52-C Bonds for such day shall be the same as the Daily Interest Rate for the
immediately preceding Business Day if the Daily Interest Rate for such Series 52-C Bonds for such preceding
Business Day was determined by the Remarketing Agent. In the event that a Daily Interest Rate for such Series
52-C Bonds for the immediately preceding Business Day was not determined by the Remarketing Agent, or in the
event that the Daily Interest Rate for such Series 52-C Bonds determined by the Remarketing Agent shall be held
to be invalid or unenforceable by a court of law, then the interest rate for such Series 52-C Bonds for such day
shall be a rate per annum equal to the SIFMA Swap Index Rate on the day the Daily Interest Rate would otherwise
be determined as provided herein. The Remarketing Agent shall furnish to the Agency and the Trustee on the
date of determination the Daily Interest Rate for such Series 52-C Bonds so determined by telex, telephone or
telecopy, promptly confirmed in writing or shall make the Daily Interest Rate available to the Agency and the
Trustee by readily accessible electronic means.

In addition to the Daily Interest Rate, the Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement provides that the
Series 52-C Bonds may bear interest at a Weekly Interest Rate, under which the variable interest rate on the Series
52-C Bonds will be determined weekly. During each Weekly Interest Rate Period, each Series 52-C Bond shall
bear interest at a Weekly Interest Rate, which shall be determined by the Remarketing Agent on Wednesday of
each week during such Weekly Interest Rate Period, or if such day shall not be a Business Day, then on the next
succeeding Business Day. The first Weekly Interest Rate determined for each Weekly Interest Rate Period shall
be determined on or prior to the first day of such Weekly Interest Rate Period and shall apply to the period
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commencing on the first day of such Weekly Interest Rate Period and ending on the next succeeding Wednesday.
Thereafter, each Weekly Interest Rate shall apply to the period commencing on Thursday and ending on the next
succeeding Wednesday, unless such Weekly Interest Rate Period shall end on a day other than Thursday, in which
event the last Weekly Interest Rate for such Weekly Interest Rate Period shall apply to the period commencing on
the Thursday preceding the last day of such Weekly Interest Rate Period and ending on the last day of such Weekly
Interest Rate Period. The Weekly Interest Rate shall be the rate of interest per annum determined by the
Remarketing Agent (based on the examination of tax-exempt obligations comparable in the judgment of the
Remarketing Agent to such Series 52-C Bonds and known by the Remarketing Agent to have been priced or traded
under then-prevailing market conditions) to be the minimum interest rate which, if borne by the Series 52-C
Bonds, would enable the Remarketing Agent to sell such Series 52-C Bonds on such date of determination at a
price (without regarding accrued interest) equal to the principal amount thereof. In the event that the Remarketing
Agent fails to establish a Weekly Interest Rate for such Series 52-C Bonds for any week during a Weekly Interest
Rate Period, then the Weekly Interest Rate for such Series 52-C Bonds for such week shall be the same as the
Weekly Interest Rate for the immediately preceding week if the Weekly Interest Rate for such Series 52-C Bonds
for such preceding week was determined by the Remarketing Agent. In the event that a Weekly Interest Rate for
the Series 52-C Bonds for the immediately preceding week was not determined by the Remarketing Agent, or in
the event that the Weekly Interest Rate determined by the Remarketing Agent shall be held to be invalid or
unenforceable by a court of law, then the interest rate for such Series 52-C Bonds for such week shall be the
SIFMA Swap Index Rate on the day the Weekly Interest Rate would otherwise be determined as provided herein
for such Weekly Interest Rate Period. The Remarketing Agent shall furnish to the Agency and the Trustee on the
date of determination the Weekly Interest Rate for such Series 52-C Bonds so determined by telephone or e-mail,
promptly confirmed in writing or shall make the Weekly Interest Rate available to the Agency and the Trustee by
readily accessible electronic means.

The interest rate for the Series 52-C Bonds may be changed from the Daily Rate to the Weekly Rate at
the direction of the Agency. Such direction of the Agency shall specify (A) the effective date of such adjustment
to a Weekly Interest Rate for the Series 52-C Bonds, which shall be a Business Day not earlier than the 12 day
following the second Business Day after receipt by the Trustee of such direction; and (B) the date of delivery for
the Series 52-C Bonds to be purchased. In addition, the direction of the Agency shall be accompanied by a
Favorable Opinion of Bond Counsel. During each Weekly Interest Rate Period commencing on a date so specified
and ending on the day immediately preceding the effective date of the next succeeding Interest Rate Period, the
interest rate borne by the Series 52-C Bonds shall be a Weekly Interest Rate.

The determination of the Daily Interest Rate and Weekly Interest Rate by the Remarketing Agent for the
Series 52-C Bonds shall be conclusive and binding upon the Agency and the Remarketing Agent, the Trustee, the
Bank and the Owners of such Series 52-C Bonds.

Interest on the Series 52-C Bonds shall be payable on each Interest Payment Date for such Series 52-C
Bonds to the Owners of the Series 52-C Bonds at the close of business on the Record Date in respect of such
Interest Payment Date. For so long as the Securities Depository Nominee is the owner of the Series 52 Bonds,
procedures with respect to the payment of principal and interest on the Series 52-C Bonds shall be in accordance
with arrangements among the Trustee and the Securities Depository as provided by the Fifty-Second Supplemental
Trust Agreement.

Tender Provisions

THE TRUST AGREEMENT PROVIDES THAT SO LONG AS CEDE & CO. IS THE SOLE
REGISTERED OWNER OF THE SERIES 52-C BONDS, ALL TENDERS FOR PURCHASE AND
DELIVERIES OF SERIES 52-C BONDS TENDERED FOR PURCHASE OR SUBJECT TO MANDATORY
TENDER UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THE TRUST AGREEMENT SHALL BE MADE PURSUANT TO
DTC’S PROCEDURES AS IN EFFECT FROM TIME TO TIME, AND NEITHER THE AGENCY, THE
TRUSTEE NOR THE REMARKETING AGENT SHALL HAVE ANY RESPONSIBILITY FOR OR
LIABILITY WITH RESPECT TO THE IMPLEMENTATION OF SUCH PROCEDURES.

Any Series 52-C Bond (other than Bank Bonds) shall be purchased in whole (or in part if both the amount
purchased and the amount remaining unpurchased will consist of Authorized Denominations) from the Owner
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thereof at the option of such Owner on any Business Day at a purchase price equal to the principal amount thereof
plus accrued interest, if any, from and including the Interest Payment Date for such Series 52-C Bonds
immediately preceding the date of purchase through and including the day immediately preceding the date of
purchase, unless the date of purchase shall be an Interest Payment Date, in which case at a purchase price equal
to the principal amount thereof, payable in immediately available funds, upon delivery by such Owner to the
Trustee and the Remarketing Agent at their respective designated offices of an irrevocable written notice which
states the principal amount of such Series 52-C Bond and the date on which such Series 52-C Bond is to be
purchased.

During a Daily Rate Period, the date of purchase set forth in the irrevocable notice shall be a Business
Day not prior to the date of the delivery of such notice to the Trustee and Remarketing Agent. Any notice delivered
to the Trustee or the Remarketing Agent after 10:00 a.m., New York City time, shall be deemed to have been
received on the next succeeding Business Day.

During a Weekly Rate Period, the date of purchase set forth in the irrevocable notice shall be a Business
Day not prior to the seventh day next succeeding the date of the delivery of such notice to the Trustee and
Remarketing Agent and any notice delivered to the Trustee or the Remarketing Agent after 4:00 p.m., New York
City time, shall be deemed to have been received on the next succeeding Business Day.

Except as provided below, if at any time the Trustee gives notice in accordance with the Fifty-Second
Supplemental Trust Agreement that the Series 52-C Bonds will, on the date specified in such notice, cease to be
subject to purchase pursuant to the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility (other than because of an Immediate Liquidity
Termination as defined in “THE SERIES 52-C LIQUIDITY FACILITY AND THE BANK — Immediate
Termination by the Bank™), the Series 52-C Bonds will be subject to mandatory tender for purchase at a purchase
price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest, if any, to the date of purchase:

(a) on the day prior to the day (or if such date is not a Business Day, the preceding Business Day)
on which the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility is to be cancelled by the Agency in connection with its
replacement by a Substitute Series 52-C Liquidity Facility pursuant to the Fifty-Second Supplemental
Trust Agreement; or

(b) on the day prior to the day (or if such date is not a Business Day, the preceding Business Day)
(1) on which the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility is to be terminated by the Bank upon the occurrence of an
event of default under the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility, written notice of which has been delivered by
the Bank to the Agency, the Trustee and the Remarketing Agent, or an expiration of the Series 52-C
Liquidity Facility, except in the case of an Immediate Liquidity Termination.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if there would be a mandatory tender under the prior paragraph, the Series
52-C Bonds will not be subject to mandatory tender if (i) the Agency arranges for the delivery to the Trustee of a
Substitute Series 52-C Liquidity Facility to replace the current Series 52-C Liquidity Facility prior to its expiration,
cancelation or termination and (ii) prior to the time when notice of mandatory tender is given by the Trustee to
the Owners the Agency delivers to the Trustee and the Remarketing Agent, prior written evidence from each
Rating Agency then rating the Series 52-C Bonds to the effect that the arrangements for the Substitute Series 52-
C Liquidity Facility will not result in the withdrawal or reduction of any rating then applicable to the Series 52-C
Bonds.

The Series 52-C Bonds shall not be subject to mandatory tender as a result of the occurrence of an
Immediate Liquidity Termination. If the Trustee shall receive notice of the occurrence of an Immediate
Liquidity Termination, within one Business Day following its receipt of such notice, it shall notify the
Owners of Series 52-C Bonds that an Immediate Liquidity Termination has occurred.

The Series 52-C Bonds shall be subject to mandatory tender for purchase on the first day of each new
Interest Rate Period for the Series 52-C Bonds (i.e. a change from the Daily Interest Rate Mode to the Weekly
Interest Rate Mode, or vice versa) as provided in the Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement, at a purchase
price, payable in immediately available funds, equal to the principal amount of the Series 52-C Bonds (such date
also being an Interest Payment Date for the Series 52-C Bonds).
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The Series 52-C Bonds are subject to mandatory tender for purchase on any Business Day designated by
the Agency, at a purchase price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest, if any, to the date of
purchase, upon not less than 15 (fifteen) days’ notice nor more than 60 (sixty) days’ notice of the mandatory
tender, in connection with any amendment of the Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement to change the
interest rate provisions or tender provisions of the Series 52-C Bonds.

In connection with any mandatory tender for purchase of Series 52-C Bonds in accordance with the Fifty-
Second Supplemental Trust Agreement, the Trustee shall give notice of a mandatory tender for purchase. Such
notice shall state (A) that the Series 52-C Bonds are subject to mandatory tender for purchase and the date the
Series 52-C Bonds are to be delivered for purchase; (B) that the purchase price of any Series 52-C Bond so subject
to mandatory purchase shall be payable only upon surrender of such Series 52-C Bond to the Trustee at its
designated office, accompanied by an instrument of transfer thereof, in form satisfactory to the Trustee, executed
in blank by the Owner thereof or his duly-authorized attorney, with such signature guaranteed by an institution
which is a participant in the Securities Transfer Agent Medallion Program (STAMP) or similar program; (C) that
all Series 52-C Bonds of such Series so subject to mandatory tender for purchase shall be purchased on the
mandatory purchase date, and that if the Owner of a Series 52-C Bond shall not surrender such Series 52-C Bond
to the Trustee for purchase on such mandatory purchase date, then such Series 52-C Bond shall be an Undelivered
Bond, and that no interest shall accrue thereon on and after such mandatory purchase date and that the Owner
thereof shall have no rights under the Trust Agreement or Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement other than
to receive payment of the purchase price thereof. Any notice to the Owners of such Series 52-C Bonds mailed as
provided in this subsection shall be conclusively presumed to have been given, whether or not the Owners receive
such notice.

For payment of the purchase price of any Series 52-C Bond required to be purchased in accordance with
the optional or mandatory tender provisions described above, such Series 52-C Bond must be delivered at or prior
to 12:00 noon, New York City time, on the date specified in the notice relating to such purchase, to the Trustee at
its designated office, accompanied by an instrument of transfer thereof, in form satisfactory to the Trustee,
executed in blank by the Owner thereof or his duly authorized attorney, with such signature guaranteed by an
institution which is a participant in the Securities Transfer Agent Medallion Program (STAMP) or similar
program. In the event any such Series 52-C Bond is delivered after 12:00 noon on such specified date, payment
of the purchase price need not be made until the Business Day following the date of delivery of such Series 52-C
Bond, but such Series 52-C Bond will nonetheless be deemed to have been purchased on the date specified in such
notice, and no interest will accrue thereon after such date.

The giving of notice by an Owner of any Series 52-C Bond as provided in the Fifty-Second Supplemental
Trust Agreement shall constitute the irrevocable tender for purchase of such Series 52-C Bond with respect to
which such notice shall have been given, regardless of whether such Series 52-C Bond is delivered to the Trustee
for purchase on the relevant purchase date.

The Trustee, on each day on which Series 52-C Bonds are required to be purchased pursuant to the Fifty-
Second Supplemental Trust Agreement, is directed to make a request for payment by the Bank under the Series
52-C Liquidity Facility by such times and in such manner as shall be required in order for it to receive immediately
available funds on such date to pay the purchase price plus accrued interest, if any, of Series 52-C Bonds then
payable from the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility tendered for purchase or required to be purchased. The Series 52-
C Liquidity Facility for the Series 52-C Bonds provides only for payment of the purchase price with respect to
such Series 52-C Bonds, and no other Bonds shall have any rights under such Series 52-C Liquidity Facility.

Notices in respect of tenders for purchase at the election of Owners during a Daily Interest Rate Period or
a Weekly Interest Rate Period and Series 52-C Bonds subject to mandatory purchase as described above must be
delivered to the Trustee. The initial address of the Trustee to which such notices and Series 52-C Bonds should
be delivered is The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., 4655 Salisbury Road, Suite 300,
Jacksonville, Florida 32256 Attention: Corporate Trust Administration.

The Trustee may refuse to accept delivery of a Series 52-C Bond for which a proper instrument of transfer
has not been provided; such refusal, however, shall not affect the validity of the purchase of such Series 52-C
Bond as herein described. If any Owner of a Series 52-C Bond who shall have given notice of tender of purchase
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pursuant to the Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement shall fail to deliver such Series 52-C Bond to the
Trustee at the place and on the applicable date and at the time specified, or shall fail to deliver such Series 52-C
Bond properly endorsed, such Series 52-C Bond shall constitute an Undelivered Bond. If funds in the amount of
the purchase price of the Undelivered Bonds (including the Undelivered Bonds referred to in the Fifty-Second
Supplemental Trust Agreement) are available for payment to the Owner thereof on the date and at the time
specified, from and after the date and time of that required delivery, (A) each Undelivered Bond shall be deemed
to be purchased and shall no longer be deemed to be outstanding under the Trust Agreement or the Fifty-Second
Supplemental Trust Agreement; (B) interest shall no longer accrue thereon; and (C) funds in the amount of the
purchase price of each such Undelivered Bond shall be held by the Trustee for the benefit of the Owner thereof
(provided that the Owner shall have no right to any investment proceeds derived from such funds), to be paid on
delivery (and proper endorsement) of such Undelivered Bond to the Trustee at its designated office for delivery
of Series 52-C Bonds. Any funds held by the Trustee as described above shall be held uninvested and not
commingled.

If payment of the purchase price of any Series 52-C Bond shall not be made to any Owner thereof on any
purchase date (a “Failed Purchase Date”), such Series 52-C Bond shall be returned by the Trustee to the Owner
thereof. Thereafter, commencing on the Failed Purchase Date and ending on the date that the Agency in its
discretion purchases or causes the purchase of all Series 52-C Bonds, the Series 52-C Bonds shall bear interest at
a variable rate per annum equal to the SIFMA Swap Index +4%. In the event that the Agency purchases or causes
the purchase of the Series 52-C Bonds and a Series 52-C Liquidity Facility is in effect, such Series 52-C Bonds
shall thereafter bear interest at a Daily Interest Rate or a Weekly Interest Rate as determined by the Agency.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, so long as a Securities Depository Nominee is the sole registered
owner of the Series 52-C Bonds, all tenders for purchase and deliveries of Series 52-C Bonds tendered for
purchase or subject to mandatory tender under the provisions of the Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust
Agreement shall be made pursuant to the Securities Depository's procedures as in effect from time to time,
and neither the Agency, the Trustee nor the Remarketing Agent shall have any responsibility for or liability
with respect to the implementation of such procedures.

Remarketing Agent and Trustee

On each date on which Series 52-C Bonds are required to be purchased, the Remarketing Agent will use
its best efforts as described herein to sell the Series 52-C Bonds at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount
thereof plus accrued interest. In the event the Remarketing Agent is unable to remarket the Series 52-C Bonds so
tendered while the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility is in effect, the Bank will purchase the Series 52-C Bonds in
accordance with the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility. The Remarketing Agent is not required to attempt to remarket
Series 52-C Bonds under certain circumstances. If the Remarketing Agent resigns or is removed from its duties,
the Agency will appoint a new Remarketing Agent meeting the requirements of the Fifty-Second Supplemental
Trust Agreement.

Upon the successful remarketing of the Series 52-C Bonds required to be purchased and the collection of
the remarketing proceeds, the Remarketing Agent will deliver the remarketing proceeds to the Trustee, who will
use the remarketing proceeds to pay the purchase price of the Series 52-C Bonds to be purchased. If the purchase
price is not received by the Trustee prior to the time that drawings are to be submitted to the Bank under the Series
52-C Liquidity Facility for payment on the same day as the drawing request, the Trustee is instructed to draw on
the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility and apply the proceeds of the drawing to the payment of the purchase price, and
the delivered Series 52-C Bonds will be held for the benefit of the Bank as Bank Bonds. In the event that
remarketing proceeds are received following receipt of the proceeds of the drawing, the remarketing proceeds will
be delivered by the Trustee to the Bank to reimburse the drawing under the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility and the
Bank Bonds will be delivered to the purchaser of the Series 52-C Bonds in the remarketing transaction.

So long as it is the Trustee under the Trust Agreement, the Trustee shall perform the duties described in
this Official Statement regarding accepting tenders of Series 52-C Bonds and making drawings under the Series
52-C Liquidity Facility unless the Agency agrees to a different arrangement. If the Trustee is removed or resigns
from its office as Trustee under the Trust Agreement, the successor Trustee will assume the duties imposed by the
Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement in accepting the office of successor Trustee. If the Trustee will no
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longer perform the duties in accepting tenders of Series 52-C Bonds and making drawings under the Series 52-C
Liquidity Facility, the Agency will appoint a financial institution meeting the requirements of the Fifty-Second
Supplemental Trust Agreement to act as the tender agent for the Series 52-C Bonds.

THE SERIES 52-C LIQUIDITY FACILITY AND THE BANK
General

As described under “DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 52-C BONDS” herein, under certain
circumstances, the Owners of the Series 52-C Bonds may elect or be required to tender their Series 52-C Bonds
for purchase. The Agency has arranged for the delivery of the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility by the Bank upon
the issuance of the Series 52-C Bonds to ensure timely payment of the purchase price of the Series 52-C Bonds
so tendered for purchase. Pursuant to the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility, the Bank agrees, subject to the terms and
conditions stated therein, to purchase Series 52-C Bonds (excluding any Series 52-C Bonds registered in the name
of, or beneficially owned by, the Agency) tendered or deemed tendered for purchase from time to time on the
purchase date and at the purchase price specified in the Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement in the event
remarketing proceeds are not available therefore.

The Agency is required by the Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement to maintain in effect a
liquidity facility for the Series 52-C Bonds that produces the highest short-term rating on the Series 52-C Bonds
available from Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. and S&P Global Ratings. In accordance with its terms, the
liquidity facility for the Series 52-C Bonds may be terminated pursuant to the Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust
Agreement. The Series 52-C Liquidity Facility and any Substitute Series 52-C Liquidity Facility for the Series
52-C Bonds shall be an obligation of the Bank to pay to the Trustee, subject to the conditions set forth in said
Series 52-C Liquidity Facility, upon request made by the Trustee and in accordance with the terms thereof.

The Bank's Principal Commitment initially is $40,000,000 (the “Principal Commitment”) which will be
adjusted from time to time (a) downward by the principal amount of any Series 52-C Bonds redeemed or paid in
full by the Agency; (b) downward by the principal amount of any Series 52-C Bonds purchased by the Bank; and
(c) upward by the principal amount of any Series 52-C Bonds purchased by the Bank which are repurchased by
the Trustee or the Agency or retained by the Bank in lieu of a remarketing thereof pursuant to the Series 52-C
Liquidity Facility.

The Bank's Interest Commitment initially is $2,485,479.45 (the “Interest Commitment” and with the
Principal Commitment, the “Commitment”) computed as the interest on the initial Principal Commitment for a
period of 189 days in a year of 365 days and calculated at the rate of 12% per annum which Interest Commitment
will be adjusted from time to time (a) downward by an amount that bears the same proportion to such initial
Interest Commitment as the amount of any reduction in the Principal Commitment bears to the initial Principal
Commitment as of the date of such reduction and (b) upward by an amount that bears the same proportion to such
initial Interest Commitment as the amount of any increase in the Principal Commitment bears to the initial
Principal Commitment as of the date of such increase.

Subject to the terms of the Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement, the Agency may deliver to the
Trustee a Substitute Series 52-C Liquidity Facility to replace the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility issued by the
Bank. In connection with any such substitution, the Series 52-C Bonds will be subject to mandatory tender prior
to the termination of the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility issued by the Bank.

The initial Series 52-C Liquidity Facility has a term of five (5) years. The Series 52-C Liquidity Facility
may be extended thereafter by mutual agreement of the Bank and the Agency.

If a Series 52-C Liquidity Facility is in effect with respect to the Series 52-C Bonds, the Trustee shall
present all drafts, demands and other documents required by the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility (in the manner
therein permitted and by the time required thereby) for the payment of funds thereunder (after taking into account
funds from remarketing as herein provided then held by the Trustee) sufficient to pay, on each purchase date, the
purchase price for the Series 52-C Bonds tendered.

19



If payment of the purchase price of any Series 52-C Bond shall not be made to the Owner thereof on any
purchase date (a “Failed Purchase Date”), such Series 52-C Bond shall be returned by the Trustee to the Owner
thereof. Thereafter, commencing on the Failed Purchase Date and ending on the date that the Agency, in its
discretion, purchases or causes the purchase of all Series 52-C Bonds, the Series 52-C Bonds shall bear interest at
a variable rate per annum equal to the SIFMA Swap Index plus 4%. In the event that the Agency purchases or
causes the purchase of the Series 52-C Bonds, and a Series 52-C Liquidity Facility is in effect, such Series 52-C
Bonds shall thereafter bear interest at a Daily Interest Rate or a Weekly Interest Rate as determined by the Agency.

The Series 52-C Liquidity Facility secures only payment of the purchase price of Series 52-C Bonds
tendered for purchase as described above, and does not otherwise secure payment of the principal of,
premium, if any, or interest on the Series 52-C Bonds. The Series 52-C Liquidity Facility is subject to
termination at the option of the Bank as described below.

Immediate Termination by the Bank

The Bank’s Commitment and obligation to purchase the Series 52-C Bonds is subject to immediate
termination by the Bank upon the occurrence of any of the following “Events of Default” under the Series 52-C
Liquidity Facility, each of which is an “Immediate Termination Event”:

(a) the Agency fails to pay when due principal of or interest on any Series 52-C Bond or any other Bond
issued pursuant to the Trust Agreement (other than with respect to Bank Bonds, accelerated under the Series 52-C
Liquidity Facility); or

(b) the Agency files any petition or action for relief under any bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency or
moratorium law, or any other law or laws in relief of or relating to debtors or any such petition or action shall be
filed against the Agency and, in the case of any such petition or action filed against the Agency, such petition or
action (i) results in the entry of an order for relief or (ii) continues undismissed, or pending and unstayed for any
period of 90 consecutive days; or

(c) the “rating” assigned to the Series 52-C Bonds is withdrawn or reduced below “Baa3” by Moody’s
or below “BBB” by S&P.

(d) Entry or filing of any final, non-appealable judgment, or of any similar process in an amount in excess
of $15,000,000 against the Agency, or against any property of the Agency and failure of the Agency to vacate,
bond, stay or contest in good faith such judgment, writ, warrant of attachment or other process for a period of
sixty (60) days or failure to pay or satisfy such judgment within sixty (60) days or as otherwise required by such
judgment, writ or warrant of attachment; or

(e) Any material provision of the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility, the Series 52-C Bonds, the Trust
Agreement or any Bonds shall be declared, by a final and nonappealable order of a court of competent jurisdiction,
to be not binding on the Agency or otherwise invalid relating to the obligation of the Agency to make payments
of principal, interest or premium, if any, with respect to the Bonds (including any Bank Bonds), or any Bonds or
the security pledged therefor, or the State or any Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over the Agency
shall have taken or permitted to be taken any official action, or has duly enacted any statute, which would
materially adversely affect the enforceability of any material provision of the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility, the
Series 52-C Bonds, the Trust Agreement or any Bonds relating to the obligation of the Agency to make payments
of principal, interest or premium, if any, with respect to the Bonds (including any Bank Bonds), or any Bonds or
the security pledged therefor; or

(f) The Agency makes a claim in a judicial or administrative proceeding that the Agency has no further
liability or obligation under the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility, or under or with respect to the Series 52-C Bonds
or any Bonds or contests in a judicial or administrative proceeding the validity or enforceability of any material
provision of the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility, the Series 52-C Bonds, the Trust Agreement or any Bonds relating
to or otherwise affecting the Agency’s obligation to pay the principal or interest with respect to any Series 52-C
Bonds or any Bonds; or
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Upon the occurrence of an Immediate Termination Event as specified above, the Bank’s Commitment
and the obligation of the Bank to purchase Series 52-C Bonds shall immediately terminate without prior notice or
demand, and thereafter the Bank shall be under no obligation to purchase Series 52-C Bonds pursuant to the Series
52-C Liquidity Facility. Promptly after the Bank receives notice of the occurrence of an Immediate Termination
Event, the Bank shall give written notice of the same to the Trustee, the Agency, and the Remarketing Agent,
provided that the Bank shall incur no liability or responsibility whatsoever by reason of its failure to receive or
give such notice and such failure shall in no way affect the termination of the Bank’s Commitment and of its
obligation to purchase Series 52-C Bonds pursuant to the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility.

In the event of such an Immediate Termination Event, the Bank will not be obligated to purchase the
Series 52-C Bonds on any optional or mandatory purchase date, and, under the Fifty-Second Supplement Trust
Agreement, funds to purchase the Series 52-C Bonds on any purchase date will be available only from the proceeds
of the remarketing of the Series 52-C Bonds (which remarketing proceeds will not be available unless the Agency
obtains a Substitute Series 52-C Liquidity Facility) or from other funds made available to the Trustee by the
Agency; provided, however, that the Agency will not be obligated to pay such purchase price. See
“DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 52-C BONDS — Tender Provisions — Insufficient Funds for Purchase of
Series 52-C Bonds.”

Notice Termination by the Bank

The Bank's Commitment and obligation to purchase the Series 52-C Bonds is subject to termination by
the Bank upon 30 (thirty) days' notice to the Agency, the Trustee, and the Remarketing Agent following the
occurrence and continuation of any of the following “Events of Default” under the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility,
each of which is a Notice Termination Event:

(aa) the Agency fails to perform in all material respects any of the terms, conditions, covenants or
agreements required to be performed by the Agency pursuant to the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility, or a material
default occurs under any of the Related Documents as it exists on the date thereof, and in either such case such
failure or default continues uncured for a period of 30 (thirty) days after the Agency has been given notice thereof
by the Bank; or

(bb) the Agency fails to pay when due any amount payable under the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility (other
than payments on Bank Bonds) and, such failure shall continue unremedied for five (5) days after notice thereof
has been given to the Agency; or

(cc) the rating assigned to the Series 52-C Bonds is reduced below “A3” by Moody’s or “A-" by S&P.

(dd) There shall occur any event of default under the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility other than an event
of default described in “Immediate Termination Event” above, or after any applicable grace or cure periods
therein; or

(ee) any representation or warranty made or deemed made by the Agency in the Series 52-C Liquidity
Facility or in the Series 52-C Bonds, the Bond Purchase Agreement for the Series 52-C Bonds dated November 9,
2023 among TD Securities (USA) LLC as Underwriter, the Commission and the Agency (the “Bond Purchase
Agreement”), the Trust Agreement, the Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement and the Remarketing
Agreement (collectively, the “Related Documents™) to which it is a party or representation or warranty made or
deemed made by the Agency in any other document, certificate or instrument delivered pursuant to the Series 52-
C Liquidity Facility proves to have been untrue or incomplete in any material respect when made or deemed made.

In the case of an Event of Default specified in the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility as an Immediate
Termination Event, the Commitment and the obligation of the Bank to purchase Series 52-C Bonds shall
immediately terminate without prior notice or demand, and thereafter the Bank shall be under no obligation to
purchase Series 52-C Bonds pursuant to the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility.
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In the case of any Event of Default specified in the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility as a Notice Termination
Event, the Bank may terminate the Commitment only by giving written notice (a “Notice of Termination”) to the
Agency and the Trustee, specifying the date on which the Commitment shall terminate.

In addition to the rights and remedies set forth in the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility, upon the occurrence
of any Event of Default of the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility in the case of an Immediate Termination Event, the
Bank may accelerate all amounts due or to become due under the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility and the Bank
Bonds, and in the case of a Notice Termination Event, upon the expiration of the thirty (30) day notice period, the
Bank may accelerate all amounts due or to become due under the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility (including
Accrued Interest and Differential Interest Amounts with respect to Bank Bonds but not including principal thereof
and interest thereon), and in such event all amounts shall upon notice to the Agency become immediately due and
payable without further presentment, demand, protest or further notice of any kind, all of which are hereby
expressly waived by the Agency; the Bank Bonds shall bear interest at the Default Rate; and/or the Bank may
exercise all the rights and remedies available to it under the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility, the Related Documents,
or otherwise pursuant to law or equity. Bank Bonds which have been accelerated pursuant to this clause shall be
subject to mandatory redemption under the Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement without further notice to
the Agency.

Any Substitute Series 52-C Liquidity Facility for the Series 52-C Bonds (except liquidity support being
provided by the Agency) shall be a purchase agreement, letter of credit or other liquidity facility, or any
combination thereof having a stated expiration date of at least 364 days following the effective date thereof issued
by one or more commercial banks or savings and loan associations, or other financial institutions located within
or without the State of North Carolina. The Substitute Series 52-C Liquidity Facility must provide for the purchase
from the Bank providing the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility being replaced of any Bank Bonds held by or on behalf
of such Bank.

In connection with the termination, expiration, cancellation or substitution of the Series 52-C Liquidity
Facility for the Series 52-C Bonds requiring mandatory purchase of the Series 52-C Bonds, the Trustee will give
the notice of mandatory tender for purchase of the Series 52-C Bonds.

The Trustee for the Series 52-C Bonds shall give notice by mail to the Owners of Series 52-C Bonds then
subject to purchase from the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility on or before the 25th day preceding the expiration of
the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility in accordance with its terms, or any cancellation, termination or substitution of
the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility which will cause the Series 52-C Bonds to cease to be subject to purchase from
the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility (except upon the occurrence of an Immediate Liquidity Termination, in which
case notice will be given as described in the Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement), which notice shall, to
the extent applicable, (i) describe generally the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility in effect prior to such cancellation,
termination or expiration and the Substitute Series 52-C Liquidity Facility in effect or to be in effect upon such
cancellation, termination or expiration, (ii) state the date of such cancellation, termination, expiration or proposed
substitution of the Substitute Series 52-C Liquidity Facility, (iii) describe any termination of the Series 52-C
Liquidity Facility and the effective date thereof, (iv) specify the rating, if any, to be applicable to the Series 52-C
Bonds after such cancellation, termination, expiration or substitution of the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility or state
that no ratings have been obtained with respect to the Series 52-C Bonds for the period subsequent to such
cancellation, termination, expiration or substitution of the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility, and (v) unless the Series
52-C Liquidity Facility has been substituted with a Substitute Series 52-C Liquidity Facility, state (A) that the
Series 52-C Bonds will be purchased pursuant to the Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement and (B) the
date of such purchase, which date shall be a Business Day that is not less than ten (10) days after the giving of
such notice and at least five (5) days prior to such cancellation, expiration or termination.

The Agency may, with the prior written consent of the Local Government Commission, provide its own
liquidity support for the Series 52-C Bonds.

The Bank

TD Bank, N.A. (the “Bank”) is a national banking association organized under the laws of the United
States, with its main office located in Wilmington, Delaware. The Bank is an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary
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of The Toronto-Dominion Bank (“TD”) and offers a full range of banking services and products to individuals,
businesses and governments throughout its market areas, including commercial, consumer and trust services and
indirect automobile dealer financing. The Bank operates banking offices in Connecticut, Delaware, the District
of Columbia, Florida, Maine, Maryland, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, New Jersey, North Carolina, New York,
Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, South Carolina, Vermont and Virginia. As of June 30, 2023, the Bank had
consolidated assets of $374.2 billion, consolidated deposits of $303.9 billion and stockholder's equity of $44.7
billion, based on regulatory accounting principles.

Additional information regarding the foregoing, and the Bank and TD, is available from the filings made
by TD with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), which filings can be inspected and copied
at the public reference facilities maintained by the SEC at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549, at
prescribed rates. In addition, the SEC maintains a website at http://www.sec.gov, which contains reports, proxy
statements and other information regarding registrants that file such information electronically with the SEC.

The information concerning TD and the Bank contained herein is furnished solely to provide limited
introductory information and does not purport to be comprehensive. Such information is qualified in its entirety
by the detailed information appearing in the documents and financial statements referenced herein.

The Bank will provide copies of the publicly available portions of the most recent quarterly Call Report
of the Bank delivered to the Comptroller of the Currency, without charge, to each person to whom this document
is delivered, on the written request of such person. Written requests should be directed to:

TD Bank, N.A.

1701 Route 70 East

Cherry Hill, New Jersey 08034
Attn: Corporate and Public Affairs

Information regarding the financial condition and results of operations of the Bank is contained in the
quarterly Call Reports of the Bank delivered to the Comptroller of the Currency and available online at
https://cdr.ffiec.gov/public. General information regarding the Bank may be found in periodic filings made by
TD with the SEC. TD is a foreign issuer that is permitted, under a multijurisdictional disclosure system adopted
by the United States, to prepare certain filings with the SEC in accordance with the disclosure requirements of
Canada, its home country. Canadian disclosure requirements are different from those of the United States. TD’s
financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and may be
subject to Canadian auditing and auditor independence standards, and thus may not be comparable to financial
statements of United States companies prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting
principles.

The delivery hereof shall not create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of TD or
the Bank since the date hereof, or that the information contained or referred to in this Appendix A is correct as of
any time subsequent to its date.

PAYMENTS OF THE PURCHASE PRICE OF THE SERIES 52-C BONDS WILL BE MADE FROM
DRAWINGS ON THE SERIES 52-C LIQUIDITY FACILITY IF REMARKETING PROCEEDS ARE NOT
AVAILABLE THEREFOR. ALTHOUGH THE SERIES 52-C LIQUIDITY FACILITY IS A BINDING
OBLIGATION OF THE BANK, THE SERIES 52-C BONDS ARE NOT DEPOSITS OR OBLIGATIONS OF
THE BANK OR ANY OF ITS AFFILIATED BANKS AND ARE NOT GUARANTEED BY ANY OF THESE
ENTITIES. THE SERIES 52-C BONDS ARE NOT INSURED BY THE FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE
CORPORATION OR ANY OTHER GOVERNMENTAL AGENCY AND ARE SUBJECT TO CERTAIN
INVESTMENT RISKS, INCLUDING POSSIBLE LOSS OF THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT INVESTED.

The Bank is responsible only for the information contained in this section of the Official Statement and
did not participate in the preparation of, or in any way verify the information contained in, any other part of the
Official Statement. Accordingly, the Bank assumes no responsibility for and makes no representation or warranty
as to the accuracy or completeness of information contained in any other part of the Official Statement.
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REDEMPTION OF SERIES 52-C BONDS

The Series 52-C Bonds shall not be subject to prior redemption except as provided in the Fifty-Second
Supplemental Trust Agreement and the Trust Agreement.

Optional Redemption of Series 52-C Bonds

The Series 52-C Bonds will be subject to optional redemption by the Agency, in whole or in part on any
Business Day, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Series 52-C Bonds to be
redeemed, plus accrued interest, if any, to the redemption date.

Any such optional redemption shall be from any moneys on hand held for the credit of the Optional
Redemption Account on or before the date fixed for redemption, including, without limitation, the proceeds of
any refunding Bonds issued pursuant to the Trust Agreement, upon receipt of an Officer’s Certificate, in such
manner as the Agency in its discretion may determine, and upon notice as provided in the Trust Agreement at a
Redemption Price equal to the principal amount of the Series 52-C Bonds to be redeemed, plus accrued interest
to the redemption date.

Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption of Series 52-C Bonds

The Series 52-C Bonds maturing on July 1, 2049, are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption by
lot on July 1, 2046 and on each January 1 and July 1 thereafter in the principal amounts set forth below from
moneys deposited to the Series 52 Principal/Special Redemption Account at a Redemption Price equal to 100%
of the principal amount of the Series 52-C Bonds to be redeemed, plus accrued interest to the redemption date:

Date Amount
July 1, 2046 $4,655,000
January 1, 2047 6,135,000
July 1, 2047 6,295,000
January 1, 2048 6,455,000
July 1, 2048 6,620,000
January 1, 2049 6,790,000
July 1, 2049%* 3,050,000
*Maturity
Special Redemption

General. Except as hereinafter provided, the Series 52 Bonds may be redeemed pursuant to an Officer’s
Certificate in whole or in part on any date from (i) unexpended proceeds of the Series 52 Bonds, (ii) amounts
deposited in the Series 52 Principal/Special Redemption Account as provided in the Trust Agreements, (iii) excess
Revenues transferred from the Revenue Funded Account of the Revenue Reserve Fund pursuant to the Trust
Agreement, (iv) moneys withdrawn from the Proceeds Reserve Account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund in
connection with an excess over the Debt Service Reserve Requirement and (v) Non-Series 52 Principal Reduction
Payments. Any such redemption shall be at a price of 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest
to the date of redemption.

Unexpended Proceeds. Unexpended proceeds of the Series 52-A Bonds and Series 52-C Bonds may be
transferred, pursuant to the Trust Agreement, from the Series 52 Initial Subaccount of the Series 52 Program
Account to the Series 52 Principal/Special Redemption Account and applied by the Trustee to the special
redemption of Series 52-A Bonds or Series 52-C Bonds on any date directed by the Agency. In such event, the
Series 52 Bonds of a Series to be so redeemed shall be selected pro rata by maturity in proportion to the principal
amount of each maturity outstanding, unless the Agency files with the Trustee prior to the date of redemption, a
notice of intent to redeem such Series 52 Bonds on other than a pro rata basis. In the event that any Series 52
PAC Bonds are redeemed from unexpended proceeds pursuant to the Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust
Agreement, such special redemption shall be at a redemption price of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued
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interest, plus the unamortized premium thereon as determined by the Agency by an effective interest rate
amortization of the original issue premium on the Series 52 PAC Bonds being redeemed between the date of issue
and the date of redemption.

Ten Year Rule. As discussed under the heading “FEDERAL TAX REQUIREMENTS — Other
Requirements,” the Agency is required to apply certain repayments and prepayments on Program Obligations
funded with proceeds of the Series 52-A Bonds and the Series 52-C Bonds to the payment of principal on the
Series (sometimes referred to as the “Ten Year Rule”). To comply with the Ten Year Rule, the following
percentages (rounded up to the nearest tenth) of prepayments and repayments of principal on Program Obligations
allocable to the Series received on or after the following dates are required to be applied no later than the end of
the first semiannual period beginning after the date of receipt to the payment of principal on the Series:

Date Percent
November 21, 2023 -
November 17, 2026 1%
June 7, 2027 4
June 13, 2028 5
November 14, 2028 6
April 10, 2029 8
September 18, 2029 10
January 16, 2030 12
May 20, 2030 13
October 14, 2030 16
April 22, 2031 18
September 22, 2031 20
April 28,2032 21
December 13, 2032 22
November 21, 2033 100%

The above amounts set forth the minimum amount of principal of the Series 52-A Bonds and the Series
52-C Bonds the Agency will be required to retire from prepayments and repayments following the respective dates
to comply with the Ten Year Rule. The Agency may retire more principal than the minimum amount, whether at
maturity or redemption, in accordance with the maturities of the Series 52-A Bonds and the Series 52-C Bonds
and in accordance with the special redemption provisions of the Series 52-A Bonds and the Series 52-C Bonds
described above.

Officer’s Certificate Required. All actions to be taken pursuant to the Redemption Article of the Fifty-
Second Supplemental Trust Agreement shall be performed at the direction of the Agency as set forth in an
Officer’s Certificate filed with the Trustee.

Redemption Notice for the Series 52 Bonds. At least thirty (30) days but not more than sixty (60) days
before the redemption date of any Series 52-A Bond or Series 52-B Bond and at least fifteen (15) days but not
more than sixty (60) days before the redemption date of any Series 52-C Bond, whether such redemption shall be
in whole or in part, the Trustee shall cause a notice of any such redemption to be provided to The Depository Trust
Company (“DTC”), New York, New York as the Owner of the Series 52 Bonds in accordance with the procedures
of DTC for notices of redemption. Ifthere is no securities depository, then notice shall be mailed, postage prepaid,
to all Owners of Series 52 Bonds to be redeemed at their addresses as they appear on the registration books
maintained by the Trustee, but failure to mail any such notice to one or more Owners or any defect in such notice
shall not affect the validity of the proceedings for such redemption with respect to any other Owner. Each such
notice shall set forth the CUSIP numbers of the Series 52 Bonds to be redeemed, the interest rate of the Series 52
Bonds to be redeemed, the dated date of the Series 52 Bonds to be redeemed, the date fixed for redemption, the
Redemption Price to be paid, the maturities of the Series 52 Bonds to be redeemed, in the case of Series 52 Bonds
of any maturity to be redeemed in part only, the portion of the principal amount thereof to be redeemed, the address
and phone number of the Trustee, the date of the redemption notice, that on the redemption date the Series 52
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Bonds called for redemption will be payable at the principal corporate trust office of the Trustee and that from the
redemption date interest will cease to accrue and be payable.

Any notice of redemption, except a notice of mandatory sinking fund redemption, at the option of the
Agency may state that the redemption to be effected is conditioned upon the receipt by the Trustee on or prior to
the redemption date of moneys sufficient to pay the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on the Series
52 Bonds to be redeemed and that if such moneys are not so received such notice shall be of no force or effect and
such Series 52 Bond shall not be required to be redeemed. In the event that such notice contains such a condition
and moneys sufficient to pay the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on such Series 52 Bonds are not
received by the Trustee on or prior to the redemption date, the redemption shall not be made and the Trustee shall
within a reasonable time thereafter give notice, in the manner in which the notice of redemption was given, that
such moneys were not so received.

So long as DTC or its nominee is the owner of the Series 52 Bonds, the Agency and the Trustee will
recognize DTC or its nominee as the registered owner of the Series 52 Bonds for all purposes, including notices
and voting. Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Participants and by Participants to
beneficial owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory and regulatory
requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Any failure on the part of DTC or failure on the part of a
nominee of a beneficial owner (having received notice from a Participant or otherwise) to notify the beneficial
owner so affected shall not affect the validity of the redemption.

General Provisions as to Purchase or Redemption of Series 52-C Bonds

Any Series 52-C Bonds or portions of Series 52-C Bonds to be purchased or redeemed other than by
operation of the Sinking Fund Account shall be purchased or redeemed by the Trustee only upon receipt by the
Trustee of an Officer's Certificate determining the following: (a) the Series from which the Series 52-C Bonds are
to be purchased or redeemed; (b) the maturities within such Series from which the Series 52-C Bonds are to be
purchased or redeemed; (c) the principal amount of Series 52-C Bonds or portion of Series 52-C Bonds within
such maturities to be purchased or redeemed; and (d) if any of the Series 52-C Bonds to be purchased or redeemed
are Term Bonds, the years in which Sinking Fund Requirements are to be reduced and the amount by which such
Sinking Fund Requirements are to be reduced. Pursuant to the Trust Agreement, the Agency shall not cause Series
52-C Bonds to be purchased or redeemed unless, after such purchase or redemption, there shall be no material
adverse effect on the ability of the Agency to pay when due the principal of and interest on the Series 52-C Bonds
then Outstanding. If less than all the Series 52-C Bonds of a single maturity shall be redeemed, the Series 52-C
Bonds shall be redeemed by lot.

So long as DTC or its nominee is the owner of the Series 52-C Bonds, if less than all of the Series 52-C
Bonds of any one maturity shall be called for redemption, the particular Series 52-C Bonds or portions of Series
52-C Bonds of such maturity to be redeemed shall be selected by DTC and its Participants in such manner as DTC
and its Participants may determine. If a Series 52-C Bond is of a denomination in excess of $100,000, portions
of the principal amount in the amount of $100,000 or any whole multiple thereof may be redeemed.

THE AGENCY
Organization and Purposes

The Agency was created in 1973 by the Act as a body politic and corporate and as an instrumentality of
the State. It is positioned within the Office of State Budget and Management for financial reporting and budgetary
purposes, and it is managed solely by its Board of Directors (the “Board”). The Executive Director is appointed
by the Board subject to the approval of the Governor. The Executive Director appoints all other employees subject
to an organization chart which is approved by the Board. All employees of the Agency are exempt from the State
Personnel Act, but they are considered State employees for certain purposes. They receive the State employee
benefits package and participate in the Teachers' and State Employees' Retirement System of North Carolina.
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The Agency, like all other State agencies, is required to submit its operating budget to the Office of State
Budget and Management. Appropriations, if any, from the North Carolina General Assembly to the Agency are
credited to the Agency by the Office of State Budget and Management.

The Agency makes available annual audited financial statements to the Governor, the State Treasurer, the
State Auditor, the Finance Committee of the Senate, the Finance Committee of the House of Representatives, the
Commission, the Advisory Budget Commission, and the Office of State Budget and Management.

Board of Directors

The Board is constituted with thirteen members. The General Assembly appoints eight directors, four
upon the recommendation of the Speaker of the House of Representatives (at least one of whom has had experience
with a mortgage-servicing institution and one of whom is experienced as a licensed real estate broker), and four
upon the recommendation of the President Pro Tempore of the Senate (at least one of whom is experienced with
a savings and loan institution and one of whom is experienced in home building). The Governor appoints four of
the directors of the Agency (one of such appointees is required to be experienced in community planning, one in
subsidized housing management, one in public housing policy, and one in the manufactured housing industry).
The twelve members so selected elect a thirteenth member. The Governor designates a chairman from among the
members of the Board. Members of the Board and officers of the Agency continue in office until their successors
are appointed.

The current members of the Agency's Board are the following:

Name and Position Term Expires Occupation

J. Adam Abram, Chair 6/30/2025 CEOQ, James River Group Holdings Ltd, Chapel
Hill

Patricia G. Garrett, Vice Chair 6/30/2026 Retired Businesswoman, Surf City

Leigh T. Brown 6/30/2025 Realtor, Broker/Owner, RE/MAX Executive
Realty, Concord

Ralphine Caldwell 5/18/2025 Executive Director, Local Initiative Support
Corporation (LISC), Charlotte

Lavonda R. Daniels 6/30/2025 Consulting Service, Beaufort

Marc Isaacson 6/30/2026 Partner, Isaacson Isaacson Sheridan Fountain &

Leftwich, LLP, Greensboro

Paul S. Jaber 6/30/2025 Retired businessman, Rocky Mount

James C. Kearney, Sr. 6/30/2025 Retired Businessman, Mortgage Servicing
Representative, Rocky Mount

Paul L. Kennedy 6/30/2025 Retired Sr. Vice President, Carolina Bank,
Shallotte

M. Charles Mullen 6/30/2025 President, Mullen & Company, Inc., Rocky
Mount

Christopher C. Parrish 6/30/2025 Co-Owner, Parrish Manor, Inc., Raleigh
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Name and Position

Term Expires

Occupation

Tom E. Smith 6/30/2025 Berkshire Hathaway Homeservices York Simpson
Underwood Realty, Raleigh
Jason Triplett 6/30/2025 Market President, First Horizon, Northwest
Agency Staff

The Agency currently employs approximately 132 persons. The following persons have been appointed

as the principal staff of the Agency:

Name and Position

Experience

Scott Farmer
Executive Director

Executive Director, North Carolina Housing Finance Agency,
2017 to present, Director of Rental Investment, 2005 to
2016, Manager of Rental Development, 2001-2005, Debt
Restructuring Specialist, 1999-2001; REO/Commercial Asset
Supervisor, CDSI Mortgage Services, 1998-1999, Commercial
Asset Manager, 1996-1998; Problem Loan Specialist, Wendover
Funding, 1993-1996; Legal Assistant, W.A. Bason, Attorney at
Law, 1990-1993.

Brett Warner
Chief Financial Officer

Chief Financial Officer, North Carolina Housing Finance
Agency, 2021 to present, Controller, 2019-2021; Privately Held
Real Estate Company Controller, 2015-2019; Vice President,
Credit Suisse, 2010-2015; Audit Senior, PwC, 2005-2010.

Sonia Joyner
Director of Home Ownership Programs

Director of Home Ownership Programs, North Carolina Housing
Finance Agency, 2018 to present, Manager of Strategic
Investment Services, 2015-2018, Team Leader of Strategic
Investment Services 2010-2015, Senior Housing Production
Officer, 1999-2010, Loan Underwriter 1997-1999.

Ariana Kudlats
Manager of Finance & Strategic Projects

Manager of Finance & Strategic Projects, North Carolina
Housing Finance Agency, 2021 to present, Assistant Conroller,
2020-2021, Senior Accountant, 2014-2020; Tax Supervisor,
Warren Averett, LLC, 2012-2014; Audit Associate, BDO USA,
LLP, 2011-2012; Tax Associate, Cornick, Garber & Sandler,
LLP, 2007-2010.

Jennifer Percy
General Counsel

General Counsel, North Carolina Housing Finance Agency, 2012
to present; Counsel and Manager of Legal Services, North
Carolina Housing Finance Agency 2006-2012; Associate, Nelson
Mullins Riley & Scarborough, 2006; Attorney, North Carolina
Housing Finance Agency 2003-2005.

Tim Carroll
Chief Information Officer

Chief Information Officer, North Carolina Housing Finance
Agency, 2014 to present, Manager of Information Technology,
2011-2014, Senior Systems Analyst, 2006-2011; Senior
Consultant, Keane, Inc., Durham, NC 1999-2006.
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The Agency is located at 3508 Bush Street, Raleigh, North Carolina 27609, and its telephone number is
(919) 877-5700. The Agency's web site is www.nchfa.com. Brett Warner is the contact person at the Agency for
questions regarding the Agency’s bond programs. His telephone number is (919) 981-2519 and his e-mail address
is bawarner@nchfa.com.

THE PROGRAM
General

Under the Trust Agreement, the type of low and moderate income housing financing that will be provided,
and the security for the Program Obligations to be financed by a given Series of Bonds is determined and set forth
in the Supplemental Trust Agreement authorizing that Series of Bonds entered into by the Agency at the time such
Bonds are issued. Program Obligations may involve financing for purposes of, among others, home ownership,
home improvement and residential rental housing.

Program Loans under the FirstHome Mortgage Program

Historically, proceeds of Bonds have been used by the Agency to purchase Program Loans originated by
Lenders specifically for sale to the Agency for the purpose of providing financing for residential housing for low
and moderate income households in North Carolina. The mortgage program financed with the sale of the tax-
exempt bond proceeds for the purchase of Program Loans to date is called the FirstHome Mortgage program
(“FirstHome”). In addition to Program Loans purchased under FirstHome, Program Loans also include mortgage
loans purchased with proceeds of Bonds of the Agency issued under financing documents other than the Trust
Agreement that were refunded by Bonds issued under the Trust Agreement. Under this program, the mortgage
loans were purchased as Program Loans and are reflected on the Statement of Net Position as mortgage loans.

The Agency has entered into various arrangements with financial institutions for mortgage servicing
services in connection with these Program Loans. Such services include collecting mortgage loan payments and
transferring principal and interest payments to the Trustee, property tax payments to the taxing jurisdictions and
property and casualty insurance payments to the property insurer, confirming that the Program Loan is in
compliance with the applicable mortgage insurer or guarantor and other traditional servicing activities. Currently,
the institutions servicing the Program Loans held under the Trust Agreement are SN Servicing Corporation; PNC
Bank, National Association; Truist Bank; Bank of America, N.A.; and US Bank Home Mortgage. The Agency
monitors the services provided by such financial institutions and has the contractual right to remove any servicer
that is not providing acceptable services.

Program Securities under the NC Home Advantage Mortgage Program

In 2013, the Agency created a new mortgage loan product called NC Home Advantage Mortgage
(“HomeAd”). The mortgage loans are pooled into Ginnie Mae, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac mortgage-backed
securities by the Agency’s master servicer, which is currently ServiSolutions. HomeAd production is funded
using two sources of funds: (1) through the issuance of tax-exempt and taxable mortgage revenue bonds, and (2)
through the sale of MBS to a third party. The bond-funded MBS are reflected on the Agency’s Statement of Net
Position as investments.

The HomeAd program provides multiple down payment assistance options to borrowers, across all loan
types (FHA, USDA, VA and conventional), including no down payment assistance, 3% down payment assistance,
or the NC 1* Home Advantage Down Payment Assistance which provides a fixed amount of down payment
assistance. The HomeAd loans with the NC 1% Home Advantage Down Payment Assistance are bond funded and
the amount of associated down payment assistance is $15,000. Series 52 proceeds will be used to purchase Series
52 DPA Loans.

On June 3, 2019, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac began issuing new, common, single mortgage-backed
securities, formally known as the Uniform Mortgage-Backed Security (“UMBS”). The UMBS finance the same
types of fixed-rate mortgages that back Fannie Mae Certificates and Freddie Mac Certificates and are guaranteed
by either Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac depending upon which issues the UMBS. The UMBS have characteristics
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similar to Fannie Mae Certificates and Freddie Mac will offer investors the opportunity to exchange existing
Freddie Mac Securities for “mirror” UMBS backed by the same loans as the existing securities. Proceeds of the
Series 52-C Bonds are expected to be used to purchase the Mortgage-Backed Securities, which include
UMBS. (For purposes of this Official Statement and the Series 52 Certificates the term “Mortgage-Backed
Securities” includes UMBS.)

The proceeds of the Series 52-C Bonds and other funds deposited to the Series 52 Program Account will
provide the funds for the purchase of Series 52 Program Securities. The interest rates, origination fees and terms
of the Series 52 Securitized Mortgage Loans underlying the MBS may vary. The Agency anticipates (a) Series
52 Securitized Mortgage Loans consisting of FHA/VA/USDA insured mortgage loans will be financed through
the purchase of Ginnie Mae Certificates by the Trustee, (b) Series 52 Securitized Mortgage Loans consisting of
conventional loans will be financed through the purchase of Fannie Mae Certificates by the Trustee and (c) Series
52 Securitized Mortgage Loans consisting of conventional loans may also be financed through the purchase of
Freddie Mac Certificates by the Trustee. The term of the Series 52 Securitized Mortgage Loans will be 30 (thirty)
years. The Agency expects to evaluate and change interest rates as appropriate in light of rates in the residential
mortgage market generally, economic conditions and financial considerations of the Agency, all within the
limitations established by federal tax laws and regulations. See “TAX TREATMENT.” The Agency has entered
into (and anticipates entering into additional) mortgage origination agreements (“Origination Agreements”) with
qualified mortgage lending institutions (the “Lenders”), pursuant to which the Lenders may originate Series 52
Securitized Mortgage Loans under the Program. Upon closing of the Series 52 Securitized Mortgage Loans, the
Lenders will sell approved Ginnie Mae Loans, the Fannie Mae Loans and Freddie Mac Loans to ServiSolutions,
which ServiSolutions will pool into fully modified Ginnie Mae Certificates, Fannie Mae Certificates and Freddie
Mac Certificates (Program Securities).

In connection with the origination of Series 52 Securitized Mortgage Loans, the Trustee, on behalf of the
Agency, will purchase from ServiSolutions, (i) fully modified Ginnie Mae Certificates (as defined herein) backed
by Series 52 Securitized Mortgage Loans and guaranteed as to timely payment of principal and interest by Ginnie
Mae, (ii) Fannie Mae Certificates (as defined herein) backed by Series 52 Securitized Mortgage Loans and
guaranteed as to timely payment of principal and interest by Fannie Mae, and/or (iii) Freddie Mac Certificates (as
defined herein) backed by Series 52 Securitized Mortgage Loans and guaranteed as to timely payment of principal
and interest by Freddie Mac. The obligations of Ginnie Mae are considered general obligations of the United
States backed by its full faith and credit. The obligations of Fannie Mae under its guarantees of the Fannie Mae
Loans are obligations of Fannie Mae only. The obligations of Freddie Mac under its guarantees of the Freddie
Mac Loans are obligations of Freddie Mac only. The Fannie Mae Loans and the Freddie Mac Loans, including
the interest thereon, are not guaranteed by the United States and do not constitute debts or obligations of the United
States or any agency or instrumentality of the United States, other than Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac respectively,
and Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac respectively are not entitled to the full faith and credit of the United States. See
“Appendix E: SUMMARY OF GINNIE MAE CERTIFICATE, FANNIE MAE CERTIFICATE AND FREDDIE
MAC CERTIFICATE PROGRAM.”

Series 52 DPA Loans are not required to be insured or guaranteed pursuant to any federal or private
mortgage insurance or guaranty program. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Trust Agreement or the
Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement, a Series 52 DPA Loan may be secured by a mortgage that is
subordinate to the first mortgage on the financed property made in connection with the origination of the related
Series 52 Securitized Mortgage Loan, and the mortgage may be further subordinated to other mortgages and liens
on the financed property as may be approved by the Agency. Initially, it is the intention of the Agency that no
principal on the Series 52 DPA Loans will be due on Series 52 DPA Loans during the first fifteen years of such
loan unless (i) the property purchased with such loan is sold during such period, (2) the Series 52 Securitized
Mortgage Loan related to the Series 52 DPA Loan is refinanced, or (3) there is a default under the first mortgage
loan related to the Series 52 DPA Loan. If the events described in the preceding sentence do not occur as of the
applicable date, 20% of the original principal of the Series 52 DPA Loans will be reduced on each of the eleventh,
twelfth, thirteenth, fourteenth and fifteenth anniversaries of the origination of the Series 52 DPA Loan.

In addition to the reduction in the principal amount of any Series 52 DPA Loan permitted by the terms
thereof, in the event that there is a default under a Series 52 DPA Loan and a subsequent foreclosure under the
mortgage securing such Series 52 DPA Loan, and upon such foreclosure the amount received for payment of the
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Series 52 DPA Loan is less than the principal amount of the Series 52 DPA Loan, the principal amount of the
Series 52 DPA Loan shall be further reduced by the deficiency between the principal amount of the Series 52
DPA Loan and the amount available for payment (and no transfer from the Revenue Reserve Fund to the Series
52 Principal/Special Redemption Account pursuant to the Trust Agreement shall be necessary). The Agency may
also elect to reduce the principal amount of any Series 52 DPA Loan at any time in connection with the sale of
the property securing the Series 52 DPA Loan in the event that the proceeds of the sale are not sufficient to prepay
the entire principal amount of the Series 52 DPA Loan following the application of the proceeds of the sale to the
payment of any mortgage loan that is senior to the Series 52 DPA Loan and to other costs related to the sale of

the property.

The Agency may also waive the requirement that the principal of a Series 52 DPA Loan be paid in
connection with the refinancing of the related Series 52 Securitized Mortgage Loan if the Agency concludes that
the refinancing will carry out certain of its programmatic objectives. Upon such a waiver, the Series 52 DPA
Loan will be made subordinate to the new mortgage loan providing for the refinancing.

In addition, the Agency may waive the requirement that the principal of a Series 52 DPA Loan be paid
for any other reason if such waiver of payment is consistent with the program objectives of the Agency.

The Series 52 DPA Loans purchased with the proceeds of the Series 52-C Bonds are Program Loans, and
therefore Program Obligations, under the Trust Agreement and, as such, are subject to the pledge of the Program
Obligations to secure the payment of the Bonds as provided in the Trust Agreement. Any payments on Series 52
DPA Loans (which at present are expected to be derived only from Prepayments of Series 52 DPA Loans as
described above) shall be deposited to the Principal Account or Sinking Fund Account to be used to pay the next
principal payment on the Series 52-C Bonds. In addition, Series 52 Program Securities purchased with amounts
not derived from proceeds of the Series 52-C Bonds are Program Securities, and therefore Program Obligations,
under the Trust Agreement and, as such, are subject to the pledge of the Program Obligations to secure the payment
of the Bonds as provided in the Trust Agreement.

ServiSolutions

ServiSolutions is the Master Servicer for the purchase of Series 52 Securitized Mortgage Loans from
Mortgage Lenders, the issuance of Ginnie Mae Certificates, Fannie Mae Certificates and Freddie Mac Certificates
backed by such Series 52 Securitized Mortgage Loans, and, with respect to the Ginnie Mae Certificates, Fannie
Mae Certificates and Freddie Mac Certificates that will be acquired with Series 52 Bond proceeds, to sell the
Ginnie Mae Certificates, Fannie Mae Certificates and Freddie Mac Certificates to the Trustee. Once the Ginnie
Mae Certificates, Fannie Mae Certificates and Freddie Mac Certificates have been issued to the Trustee,
ServiSolutions' primary duties involve the collection and distribution to the Trustee of payments received on
account of the underlying Series 52 Securitized Mortgage Loans. This includes payments received from Ginnie
Mae, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac with respect to defaulted Series 52 Securitized Mortgage Loans.
ServiSolutions' ability to purchase and pool Series 52 Securitized Mortgage Loans, and to issue and deliver Ginnie
Mae Certificates, Fannie Mae Certificates and Freddie Mac Certificates, underlies the Trustee's ability to spend
Series 52 Bond proceeds in a timely manner. ServiSolutions and the Agency entered into a contract in August
2017, which limits the purchase of mortgage loans between the date of purchase from the lender to the date of
settlement of the security. The contract limits ServiSolutions to $60 million of purchases but allows the Agency
to purchase up to $60 million of mortgage loans for a maximum of $120 million at any given time. This amount
may be increased pursuant to a mutual agreement between the parties. The mortgage loans temporarily owned by
the Agency earn interest for the Agency equal to the mortgage interest rate minus the servicing fee, and these
loans are reflected as “Mortgage loans held for resale” on the financial statements.

The Agency is responsible under the Servicing Agreement for reviewing each Series 52 Securitized
Mortgage Loan originated by the Mortgage Lenders to determine compliance with the Agency's program
requirements. ServiSolutions reviews the Series 52 Securitized Mortgage Loans to determine compliance with
Ginnie Mae, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac loan documentation. Upon completion of such review, ServiSolutions
is required to acquire approved Series 52 Securitized Mortgage Loans on behalf of the Agency, and complete all
required documents and forms incidental to the inclusion of such Series 52 Securitized Mortgage Loans in Ginnie
Mae, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac pools.
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Experience to Date Under The Program

The Agency has issued over $4.4 billion of Bonds under the Trust Agreement (excluding Refunding
Bonds) for the purposes of the Program. All of the Bonds issued up until the Series 37 Bonds funded a program
in which the Agency purchased Program Loans and not Program Securities. A total of fifty Series of Bonds have
been issued under the Trust Agreement. In addition to Bonds paid at maturity or redeemed from available funds
of the Agency, Series 1 through Series 26 and Series 28 through Series 31 were refunded by the Series 32 through
Series 39 Bonds. The Series 32 Bonds were refunded by Series 46. Upon such refunding, the Program Loans
financed by the Bonds that were refunded were transferred to the Program Account for the respective Series of
Refunding Bonds.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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The following table summarizes as of June 30, 2023 the outstanding Bonds under the Trust Agreement

by Series of Bonds:
Bonds Payable (000's)
Outstanding Principal Amounts by Interest Rate
Fixed
Dated Amount Amount Call Priority >1.00% & >2.00% & =>3.00%& >4.00%& >5.00% &

Bond Issue Date Issued  Outstanding PAC Bonds  <1.00% <2.00% <3.00% <4.00% <5.00% <6.00%
Tax Exempt
Series 37-A 11/17/16 $96,745 $13,440 $13,440 - - - - - -
Series 37-B 11/17/16 95,255 21,990 - - $955 $5,955 $15,080 - -
Series 38-B 6/7/17 237,835 103,880 31,165 - - 17,515 55,200 - -
Series 39-A 6/13/18 13,085 925 - - - 925 - - -
Series 39-B 6/13/18 136,915 47,430 23,760 - - 4,650 19,020 - -
Series 40 11/14/18 97,975 20,310 19,890 - - 80 340 - -
Series 41 4/10/19 146,700 89,190 27,195 - 1,535 12,280 48,180 - -
Series 42 9/18/19 150,000 102,820 34,260 - 18,220 50,340 - - -
Series 43 1/16/20 150,000 108,755 36,580 - 16,145 56,030 - - -
Series 44 5/20/20 120,000 99,965 30,360 - 10,860 40,730 18,015 - -
Series 45 10/14/20 200,000 165,815 56,435 $19,205 41,530 48,645 - - -
Series 46-A 4/22/21 150,000 136,280 51,480 10,835 31,420 42,545 - - -
Series 47 9/22/21 162,000 157,405 52,795 18,105 26,430 60,075 - - -
Series 48 4/28/22 200,000 199,705 65,155 - 6,640 11,915 93,825 - $22,170
Series 49 12/13/22 180,000 180,000 59,610 - - - 22,355 $59,610 38,425
Series 50 5/4/2023 180,000 180,000 73,730 - - 12,970 43,605 49,695 -

Sub-Total $2,316,510  $1,627,910 $575,855  $48,145 $153,735 $364,655 $315,620 $109,305 $60,595
Federally Taxable
Series 34 11/21/13 $66,150 2,620 2,620 - - - - - -
Series 35 5/6/14 54,335 3,925 3,925 - - - - - -
Series 36 10/27/15 66,000 4,635 320 - - - 4,315 - -
Series 46-B 4/22/21 17,865 11,625 - 5,025 6,600 - - - -

Sub-Total $204,350 $22,805 $6,865 $5,025 $6,600 - $4,315 - -

Total $2,520,860  $1,650,715 $582,720  $53,170 $160,335 $364,655 $319,935 $109,305 $60,595

Through the issuance of the Series 36 Bonds, the Agency purchased Program Loans with bond proceeds.
As described above, when a bond issue has been refunded, the Program Loans that were purchased with the
Refunding Bonds were transferred to the Program Account created for the Refunding Bonds (although the
Program Loans secure all Bonds on a parity basis). Beginning with the Series 37 Bonds, bond proceeds (other
than refunding proceeds) were used to purchase new Program Securities representing new securitized mortgage
loans for home ownership. The following table summarizes as of June 30, 2023 the Program Loans and Program
Securities, which equal total Program Obligations held under the Trust Agreement and the Series of Bonds with

which they are associated:
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Program Obligations (000's)

Principal Balance Principal Balance Total Weighted Average
Series Program Loans' Program Securities Program Obligations Interest Rate
34 $15,420 - $15,420 5.27%
35 14,053 - 14,053 5.32
36 17,999 - 17,999 5.60
37 38,033 $49,215 87,248 4.80
38 6,229 100,888 107,117 491
39 7,934 60,955 68,889 5.35
40 - 54,438 54,438 5.40
41 - 79,666 79,666 4.81
42 - 95,844 95,844 4.24
43 - 101,802 101,802 4.03
44 - 90,844 90,844 3.52
45 46,024 121,610 167,634 3.23
46 21,874 135,517 157,391 3.77
47 - 153,258 153,258 3.80
48 - 196,346 196,346 5.24
49 - 181,291 181,291 6.11
50 - 100,057 100,057 6.38
Unallocated 28.991 - 28.991 6.07
Total $196,557 $1,521,731 $1,718.,288 4.69%

! Does not include DPA/Second loans.

2 The Series 50 Bonds were issued on May 4, 2023. The Agency expects to utilize all of these proceeds on or
before November 30, 2023.
Note — The Agency issued the tax-exempt Series 51 Bonds in the amount of $199,000,000 on August 9, 2023.
The Agency expects to utilize all of these proceeds on or before February 29, 2024.

The Series 52 Program Account and Program Securities

Program Obligations to be Purchased. Except as hereinafter provided, cash amounts deposited in the
Series 52 Program Account pursuant to the Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement (whether derived from
proceeds of the Series 52-C Bonds, the transfer from other available funds or earnings from the investment of the
Series 52 Program Account) shall be applied by the Agency solely to the purchase of Series 52 Program Securities
or Series 52 DPA Loans and lender compensation associated with the Series 52 Securitized Mortgage Loans
associated with the Program Securities. All Series 52 Program Securities purchased shall comply with the
requirements for Ginnie Mae Certificates, Fannie Mae Certificates or Freddie Mac Certificates, as the case may
be, as set forth in the Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement. The Agency shall take such action as shall be
necessary to assure that the Agency and its servicers comply with the requirements for Ginnie Mae Certificates,
Fannie Mae Certificates or Freddie Mac Certificates. The Agency shall identify Series 52 Program Obligations
purchased with the proceeds of the Series 52-C Bonds separate from Series 52 Program Obligations purchased
from other amounts deposited to the Series 52 Program Account and trace the repayments and prepayments of
each to the original source of funding.
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Purchase of Program Loans. The Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement provides that the Agency may use
the proceeds of the Series 52-C Bonds to purchase Program Loans meeting the requirements of the Trust
Agreement and the Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement, but at present the Agency does not intend to
utilize the proceeds of the Series 52-C Bonds for such purpose. No amounts deposited to the Series 52 Program
Account shall be applied to purchase new Program Loans except Series 52 DPA Loans unless the Agency files
with the Trustee a certificate indicating that arrangements are in place for the servicing of the Program Loans so
purchased in accordance with the requirements of the Trust Agreement.

The Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement provides that amounts deposited to the Series 52
Principal/Special Redemption Account that are not required to be applied to pay principal or mandatory sinking
fund redemption of Series 52 Bonds and are not required to be applied to the special redemption of the Series 52
PAC Bonds, may be applied for a number of purposes, including to purchase additional Program Obligations. The
requirements of the Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement for the purchase of Program Securities and
Program Loans with the proceeds of the Series 52 Bonds also apply to the purchase of any additional Program
Securities and Program Loans from these “recycled” principal payments.

Requirements for Program Securities and Program Loans. Appendix F hereto sets forth a discussion of
the additional requirements of the Trust Agreement and the Supplemental Trust Agreements thereunder for
Program Securities and also sets forth a discussion of the requirements of the Trust Agreement and Supplemental
Trust Agreements thereunder for the Program Loans now held under the Trust Agreement and Program Securities
purchased with the proceeds of the Series 52-C Bonds (other than Series 52 DPA Loans, which are not required
to be insured or guaranteed pursuant to any federal or private mortgage insurance or guaranty program). Appendix
F also includes a summary of the major provisions of the insurance or guaranty programs providing additional
security for the payment of Program Loans.

AMENDMENT OF THE TRUST AGREEMENT

In connection with the issuance of the Series 52 Bonds, the Agency and the Trustee will enter into a First
Amendment to the Trust Agreement to amend its provisions to clarify that scheduled payments to the counterparty
under an interest rate swap agreement entered to hedge the interest rate on variable interest rate bonds to a fixed
rate (or to synthetically convert fixed rate bonds to a variable interest rate) are payable from Revenues on the same
basis as the payment of interest on Bonds. Such amendment is being entered into without bondholder consent as
being deemed to not have an adverse effect on the interests of the Owners of Bonds issued under the Trust
Agreement.

FEDERAL TAX REQUIREMENTS
General

The Series 52-A Bonds and the Series 52-C Bonds are subject to the requirements of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code™) and the regulations thereunder (the “Federal Tax Requirements”).
Pursuant to the Federal Tax Requirements, interest on “qualified mortgage bonds” is not includable in gross
income for federal income tax purposes. Bonds are “qualified mortgage bonds” if all of the following requirements
are met: (i) all proceeds of the issue exclusive of issuance costs and a reasonably required reserve fund are to be
used to finance owner- occupied residences, (ii) the mortgages financed with the issue meet certain eligibility
requirements, (iii) the yield that is earned by the issuer of the bonds from such mortgages does not exceed specified
limitations and certain investment earnings derived from non-mortgage investments are paid to the United States,
(iv) certain proceeds of the issue are available for financing housing located in “targeted areas” and (v) the use of
proceeds of the bonds does not meet the private business tests of Sections 141(b)(1) and 141(b)(2) of the Code.
In addition to the foregoing requirements, qualified mortgage bonds must meet certain other requirements relating
to the issue itself.

Failure to meet the above requirements at any time during the term of the Series 52-A Bonds and the

Series 52-C Bonds could result in interest on the Series 52-A Bonds and the Series 52-C Bonds being subject to
federal income taxation as of the date of issuance. The Agency, however, has covenanted to comply with all such
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requirements. In addition, the Federal Tax Requirements provide that certain requirements will be deemed to
have been satisfied if certain steps are taken (see “Good Faith Effort” below).

Eligibility Requirements

The new mortgage loans to be financed with the proceeds of the Series 52 Bonds (whether Program Loans,
Securitized Mortgage Loans or the DPA Loans) must meet the following eligibility requirements:

Residence Requirements. All residences for which owner financing is provided with the proceeds of the
Series 52 Bonds must be single family residences located within the State, each of which can reasonably be
expected to become the principal residence of the mortgagor within 60 days after the financing is provided. Each
borrower is required to certify at the closing of the home mortgage loan that he or she intends to make the financed
residence his principal residence within 60 days.

Absence of Prior Home Ownership. Except as described below, at least 95% of the proceeds of an issue,
exclusive of a reasonably required reserve fund (“net proceeds”), must be used to finance residences of borrowers
who have not had a present ownership interest in a principal residence at any time during the three-year period
prior to the date on which the mortgage is executed. The Agency requires the borrower to provide his or her federal
income tax returns for the preceding three years for review for evidence of prior ownership of a principal residence
or to certify that he or she was not required to file federal income tax returns for the preceding three years, and to
certify at the closing of the home mortgage loan that he or she has not had a present ownership interest in a
principal residence at any time within the preceding three years. The Code creates an exception from this
requirement for mortgage loans for residences located in targeted areas as described below and for mortgage loans
and home ownership by veterans (who have not previously received the benefit of mortgage loans as described in
this sentence).

Purchase Price Limitations. The Code requires that the “acquisition cost” of each residence being financed
may not exceed 90% (or 110% in the case of “targeted areas” as discussed below) of the “average area purchase
price” applicable to such residence. The term “acquisition cost” is defined to mean the cost of acquiring a residence
as a completed residential unit but does not include (i) usual and reasonable settlement or financing costs, (ii) the
value of services performed by the mortgagor or members of his or her family in completing the residence, and
(iii) the cost of land which has been owned by the mortgagor for at least two years before the date on which
construction of a residence begins. For the purpose of this limitation, the term “average area purchase price”
means, with respect to any residence, the average purchase price of single family residences in the Metropolitan
Statistical Area (“MSA”) or non-MSA county in which the residence is located which were purchased during the
most recent twelve-month period for which sufficient statistical information is available. The determination as to
whether a residence meets the purchase price requirements must be made as of the date on which the Lender
commits to make the Program Loan or, if earlier, the date of purchase of the residence.

First-time homebuyers may purchase new or existing homes at a current sale price limit of $480,000 and
still qualify for the Agency’s low-interest rate mortgage program. The current sales price limit is subject to
change.

Income Restrictions. The Code requires that all financing provided by an issue of qualified mortgage
bonds be provided to mortgagors whose family income is 115% or less of the applicable median family income.
With respect to any financing provided for “targeted area” residences, as described below, one third of the amount
of such financing may be made to mortgagors who do not satisfy this requirement if the remaining two-thirds of
such “targeted area” financing is made to mortgagors whose family income is 140% or less of the applicable
median family income. Under the Code, the above percentages for households consisting of less than three persons
are reduced to 100% for “non-targeted areas” and 120% for “targeted areas,” respectively. For purposes of this
income restriction, applicable median family income is the greater of the area median gross income for the area
where the residence is located or the statewide median gross income. Each mortgagor is required to provide an
affidavit that his or her family income does not exceed the applicable income limit. The applicable income
restriction shall be the low or moderate income restriction of the Agency or the applicable median family income
restriction of the Federal Tax Requirements, whichever is less.
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New Program Loan Requirement. In order to comply with the Federal Tax Requirements, none of the
proceeds of a bond issue may be used to acquire or replace existing mortgages (except for construction period
loans and temporary financings with a term not to exceed 24 months). The Agency’s review procedures are
designed to meet these restrictions.

Program Loan Assumption Limitation. To meet the Federal Tax Requirements, each mortgage financed
with the proceeds of a bond issue may be assumed only if the residence requirements, absence of prior home
ownership, purchase price limitations and the income restrictions are met with respect to the mortgage assumption.
The determinations as to compliance with these requirements are to be made as of the date on which the mortgage
is being assumed. Accordingly, the Agency must make the required statistical study or otherwise determine (e.g.,
by reliance on “safe harbor” statistics published by the U.S. Treasury) the relevant average area purchase prices
for each statistical area within the State on an annual basis, and must assure compliance with the other applicable
Federal Tax Requirements as long as any Series 52 Bonds are outstanding.

The combination of the interest rate or rates and discount points of Series 52 Program Loans and Series
52 Program Securities shall be determined from time to time by the Agency and communicated to the Lenders.
In establishing the interest rate or rates, the Agency shall assure that the “effective rate of interest” on the
applicable Series 52 Program Obligations and Series 52 DPA Loans financed by the Series 52-A Bonds and Series
52-C Bonds is not a rate that would cause interest on the Series 52-A Bonds and Series 52-C Bonds to be includable
in the gross income of the owners thereof for purposes of federal income taxation. In addition to the use of the
Series 52 DPA Loans, the Chief Financial Officer is hereby authorized to institute such procedures as may be
necessary, including mortgage forgiveness, adjustments to mortgage interest rates and the payment to the federal
government of yield reduction payments, to assure that the effective rate of interest on the applicable Series 52
Program Obligations and the Series 52 DPA Loans is in compliance with the Code. No part of the original
proceeds of the Series 52-A Bonds and Series 52-C Bonds deposited in the Series 52 Program Account shall be
used to acquire or replace existing Program Loans within the meaning of the Code. As necessary or convenient
to obtain compliance with the requirements of the federal tax laws regarding the effective rate of interest on the
Program Loans purchased with the proceeds of the Series 52-A Bonds and Series 52-C Bonds, the Chief Financial
Officer is authorized to combine the proceeds of the Series 52-A Bonds and Series 52-C Bonds with the proceeds
of other Series of Bonds issued by the Agency under the Trust Agreement and to direct the purchase of Program
Loans meeting the requirements of the Trust Agreement from such combined sources of funds

Requirements Related to Arbitrage

In addition to the arbitrage requirements that apply to all tax-exempt bonds under Section 148 of the Code,
the Agency must satisfy two additional arbitrage requirements. First, certain limitations are imposed upon the
yield the Agency may receive from the Program Obligations. The Code and the Treasury regulations thereunder
require that all fees, charges and other amounts borne by the mortgagor be taken into account in determining the
yield on the Program Obligations. Accordingly, in computing the yield on the Program Obligations, the Agency
takes into account all discount points paid by the seller and origination fees paid by the mortgagor. Since the
Lenders are prohibited from charging any other fees and charges in excess of those which would be charged when
owner financing is not provided through the use of tax-exempt bonds, the Agency does not have to take such other
charges into account in such computation. In addition, the Agency has reserved the right to adjust the yield on the
Program Loans should circumstances indicate that such an adjustment is necessary in order to comply with the
arbitrage requirements. In addition, the Agency may make a “yield reduction payment” to the federal government
that will reduce the yield on the portfolio of Program Obligations allocated to the Series 52 Bonds.

The second principal arbitrage requirement obligates the Agency to pay to the United States government
amounts earned on non-mortgage investments in excess of the amounts which would have been earned on such

investments if invested at a yield equivalent to the yield on the Series 52 Bonds, plus the earnings on such excess.

Other Requirements

Application of Certain Payments. The Federal Tax Requirements provide that prepayments and
repayments of principal on financing provided by an issue of “qualified mortgage bonds” such as the Series 52
Bonds must be used not later than the close of the first semiannual period beginning after the payment is received
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to redeem the bonds of that issue, provided that this requirement does not apply to amounts received within ten
years after the date of the issue, or in the case of a refunding bond, the date of issuance of the original bond
(sometimes referred to as the “Ten-Year Rule™).

Targeted Area Requirement. In order to comply with the Federal Tax Requirements, the Agency will, for
at least one year after owner financing is first made available with respect to new mortgage loans financed with
proceeds of the Series 52-A Bonds and the Series 52-C Bonds, make available for mortgage loans in Targeted
Areas within the State an amount equal to 20% of the proceeds of the Series 52-A Bonds and the Series 52-C
Bonds deposited in the Program Account. The Agency’s efforts to place mortgage financing in Targeted Areas
will include the Agency’s general advertising that mortgage funds are available for such areas.

Information Reporting Requirement. In addition to the information reporting requirement applicable to
all tax-exempt obligations, issuers of qualified mortgage bonds must compile and submit to the Internal Revenue
Service (the “Service”) for each year in which proceeds of a qualified mortgage bond issue are used to provide
mortgages, a report containing information on each mortgagor, including information with respect to the eligibility
requirements and other data pertaining to a mortgagor’s income.

Recapture of Portion of Federal Subsidy. The Code imposes a recapture provision (the “Recapture
Provision”), which requires a payment to the United States from certain mortgagors of an amount determined to
be the subsidy provided by a qualified mortgage upon disposition of the residence financed by the Program Loan.
The Agency has established procedures to comply with the requirements imposed on it by the Recapture Provision.
The Agency has also created a Recapture Tax Reimbursement Program for borrowers who receive first mortgage
loans derived from mortgage revenue bond financing. Eligible borrowers will be reimbursed by the Agency for
any Recapture Provision payment that they pay to the federal government after they have sold their home. The
Agency estimates that its liability will be minimal.

Good Faith Effort

An issue of qualified mortgage bonds that fails to meet the Eligibility Requirements will be treated as
meeting all such requirements if:

(1) the issuer in good faith attempted to meet such requirements before the mortgages were
executed;
(i1) 95% of the net proceeds devoted to owner-financing were devoted to residences with

respect to which (at the time the mortgages were executed or assumed) all such
requirements were met; and

(iii) any failure to meet such requirements is corrected within a reasonable period after such
failure is first discovered.

Failure to meet one or more of the Eligibility Requirements can be corrected by either calling the non-
qualifying mortgage or replacing it with a qualifying mortgage.

In determining whether the 95% requirement referred to in clause (ii) above is satisfied, the Treasury
regulations provide that the Agency may rely on affidavits evidencing compliance from the mortgagors and sellers
of residences and upon the examination by the Agency or its agents of the income tax returns filed by the
mortgagors with the Internal Revenue Service for the preceding three years which indicate no prior home
ownership during such period (or statements in the mortgagors affidavits that one or more of such returns were
not required to have been filed).

The failure to meet the arbitrage and targeted area requirements will not affect the tax-exempt status of a
qualified mortgage bond if:

(1) the issuer in good faith attempted to meet all such requirements; and
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(i1) any failure to meet such requirements is due to inadvertent error after taking reasonable
steps to comply with such requirements.

Agency Procedures

In order to comply with the Federal Tax Requirements, the Agency has established procedures that include
an approval process that must be completed before the Agency enters into a conditional commitment to purchase
a Program Loan or a Program Security securitizing a mortgage loan, including the examination of affidavits to
determine applicant eligibility and Lender compliance, and guidance and assistance to the Lenders.

The Agency will not purchase any Program Loan or a Program Security securitizing a mortgage loan until
it has reviewed the documentation to verify compliance with the Federal Tax Requirements. As described above
under “THE PROGRAM,” the Agency begins its review of the mortgage loan application after the Lender has
processed and approved the loan application in accordance with applicable loan underwriting procedures. Once
the Lender has completed its processing and has approved the mortgage loan, a submission package, which
includes the loan application and the affidavits, is forwarded to the Agency.

The Agency will require that each submission package contain an affidavit from each mortgagor which
represents and warrants, among other things (i) that he or she has not had a previous ownership interest in a
principal residence within the preceding three years (the Code creates an exception from this requirement for
mortgage loans in targeted areas and for mortgage loans and home ownership by veterans who have not previously
benefitted by such mortgage loans); (ii) that he or she will occupy the premises as his or her principal residence
within 60 days after the mortgage loan is made; (iii) that the residence is a completed residential unit which needs
no alteration for normal occupancy; (iv) that no more than 15% of the property will be used for business purposes;
and (v) that the statement of family income set forth in the application is true and complete. The Agency will also
require each mortgagor to submit for inspection such mortgagor’s federal income tax returns for each of the three
years preceding the origination of the mortgage loan or a certificate that the mortgagor was not required to file a
federal income tax return during such period to verify the absence of prior home ownership during such period.
The Agency will also require that each loan package contain an affidavit from the seller of the residence which
evidences compliance with the purchase price limitations.

The Agency has published a Program Guide describing the compliance process each Lender must perform
with respect to the Federal Tax Requirements. The Agency regularly holds training classes and has held
conversations with mortgage lenders to explain the procedures designed to assure compliance.

Lenders will be required to make representations and warranties that certain Federal Tax Requirements
have been met and to repurchase mortgage loans if misstatements or misrepresentations by any party in connection
therewith adversely affect the loan’s eligibility for purchase under the Federal Tax Requirements.

OTHER AGENCY PROGRAMS AND INFORMATION REGARDING THE AGENCY
Single Family Programs

All Agency Programs involving the issuance of bonds to provide financing of home ownership are now
carried out under the Trust Agreement.

Multifamily Programs

In addition to its home ownership programs, the Agency has several programs to provide financing for
residential rental housing for low and moderate income households. As of June 30, 2023, the Agency had
$292,000 in multifamily mortgage loans in the Trust Agreement. These multifamily loans were not financed by
Bonds issued under the Trust Agreement, but were deposited to the Trust Agreement following the final payment
of the Agency’s bonds that financed the purchase of such mortgage loans. The Agency also provides “conduit”
financing of residential rental developments from time to time as described below under “Other Activities.”
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The Agency also administers the federal tax credit program along with other sources of state funds for
qualifying rental production. These funds are available to developers, on a competitive basis, for the development
of affordable rental housing in the State. The Agency’s goals include supporting the best developments possible
given the limited resources available. Therefore, the Agency selects developments serving low-income residents
for the longest period of time, at appropriate locations, with strong market demand, with the healthiest financial
structures, the best architectural design and the best quality of building materials and workmanship. The Agency
has administered this program since its inception in 1987 and has helped create over 2,500 projects comprising
over 111,500 rental units, allocating approximately $864.5 million of tax credits.

Other Activities

The Agency established a mortgage credit certificate (“MCC”) program in July 1987. An MCC permits
first-time homebuyers who meet federal limits for family income and acquisition costs to take a federal income
tax credit of up to 30% of annual mortgage interest for existing construction homes and up to 50% for newly-
constructed homes, up to a maximum credit of $2,000 per year. As of June 30, 2023, the Agency had issued over
41,300 certificates under the MCC program totaling over $4.4 billion in mortgages.

Since 1987 the General Assembly of North Carolina has provided appropriations for the North Carolina
Housing Trust Fund to produce housing for low-income households by leveraging private, local government, and
federal resources. The Agency manages the Trust Fund and pays its operating costs so that all appropriated funds
go directly into housing construction and rehabilitation. The annual appropriation for the Trust Fund has varied
over its history, from the initial appropriation of $21 million in 1987 to zero. Appropriations have remained steady
in recent years at $7.66 million per fiscal year. The Agency has also received special allocations for certain
disaster recovery efforts. The annual appropriation for the Trust Fund does not affect the Agency’s operating
budget.

The Agency provides additional financing assistance for some residential rental housing through the
issuance of bonds of the Agency, the proceeds of which are loaned to residential rental housing developers to
acquire or construct and equip and furnish residential rental housing facilities. These bond issues are “conduit”
financings in which the Agency’s obligation for payment thereof is limited to the payment received from the third-
party borrowers and the properties, revenues and the other security pledged to the payment of the bonds. The
bonds are not secured by any funds or other assets that secure the payment of the Bonds issued under the Trust
Agreement. As of June 30, 2023, the Agency had $22,454,000 of conduit financing bonds outstanding.

The Agency may issue additional series of bonds under any of its programs, including the Program, and
may adopt other programs under which bonds could be issued. The Agency’s ability to issue additional bonds to
finance its programs is restricted by federal tax law.

COVID-19 Pandemic

The 2020 global outbreak of the COVID-19 (the “Pandemic”) caused a significant disruption to the
national and world economy. Throughout the Pandemic, the Agency was able to continue day-to-day operations
without significant disruption.

For the Agency’s home ownership programs, federal and State authorities imposed limits on creditors’
ability to foreclose on defaulted mortgage loans and required the implementation of forbearance programs
permitting borrowers to defer payments of their mortgage loans. Under the underlying programs for mortgage-
backed securities of Ginnie Mae, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, if the payments on the mortgage loans securitized
into a mortgage-backed security are less than what is due, the master servicer is obligated to advance its own funds
to ensure timely payment of all amounts coming due on the mortgage-backed securities. Since most
(approximately 89% as of June 30, 2023) of the Program Securities held under the Trust Agreement are such
mortgage-backed securities, the foreclosure moratorium and forbearance programs did not have a material adverse
impact on the cash flow or portfolio balances of the Program Securities held under the Trust Agreement. In
addition, only a small amount of the borrowers under the mortgage loans securitized by the mortgage-backed
securities utilized the forbearance programs. In addition to the Program Securities, a small portion of the Program
Obligations consist of Program Loans (whole loans) that were derived from the Agency’s FirstHome program
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(and similar programs), which are no longer active. As of June 30, 2023, the Program Loans represent
approximately 11% of the Program Obligations held under the Trust Agreement. Less than 1% of the Program
Loans are currently covered in a forbearance or payment deferral plan. While a forbearance plan suspends a
failure to pay the current payment on a Program Loan, the mortgage payment remains due and the mortgage loan
continues to be entitled to the security of the mortgage and the benefit of any insurance or guaranty program
insuring or guaranteeing such payment.

Cybersecurity

As increased threats persist to the cybersecurity of private companies and State and local governments
and their Agencies nationwide, the Agency monitors Agency systems for any incidents or attempts to access
protected systems and information. The Agency also has extensive information and system security policies to
promote protection against cybersecurity threats. All employees are required to take cybersecurity training and
the Agency has engaged outside consultants to test Agency systems and procedures for weaknesses against such
threats. Policies and training material are reviewed at least annually by the Agency and revised if appropriate.

TAX TREATMENT
Series 52-C Bonds

Opinion of Bond Counsel. Certain federal tax requirements must be met subsequent to the initial issuance
and delivery of the Series 52-C Bonds in order that interest on such Bonds be excluded, on and after the date of
such issuance and delivery, from the gross income of the owners thereof for federal income tax purposes under
the Code. The Agency has established procedures in its Program Documents and the Fifty-Second Supplemental
Trust Agreement to meet the Federal Tax Requirements. The Agency has also covenanted in the Fifty-Second
Supplemental Trust Agreement to comply with the requirements of Sections 143 and 148 of the Code. Bond
Counsel is of the opinion that the procedures established as of the date hereof in the Agency’s Program Documents
and the Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement are sufficient, if followed, to comply with the Federal Tax
Requirements. The Agency has also covenanted, in the Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement, to comply
with the regulations promulgated with respect to the rebate and other arbitrage requirements under Sections 143
and 148 of the Code. Failure to comply with such aforementioned covenants or to carry out the procedures set
forth in the Program Documents may cause interest on the Series 52-C Bonds to become included in gross income
for federal income tax purposes retroactive from their date of issue.

In the opinion of Womble Bond Dickinson (US) LLP, Raleigh, North Carolina, as Bond Counsel,
assuming that the Agency will carry out the aforementioned procedures set forth in the Program Documents and
comply with the aforementioned covenants contained in the Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement, interest
on the Series 52-C Bonds is not includable in the gross income of the owners of the Series 52-C Bonds for purposes
of federal income taxation. Bond Counsel is of the opinion that interest on the Series 52-C Bonds will not be
treated as a preference item for purposes of computing the alternative minimum tax imposed by the Code on
certain taxpayers; however, for tax years beginning after December 2022, interest on the Series 52-C Bonds held
by certain corporations is included in the computation of “adjusted financial statement income” for purposes of
computing the federal alternative minimum tax on such corporations.

Bond Counsel is further of the opinion that interest on the Series 52-C Bonds is exempt from all income
taxes of the State.

Other Tax Consequences. Ownership or transfer of, or the accrual or receipt of interest on, the Series 52-
C Bonds may result in collateral federal, State of North Carolina, other state or local tax consequences to certain
taxpayers, including, without limitation, financial institutions, property and casualty insurance companies, certain
foreign corporations doing business in the United States, certain S corporations with excess passive income,
individual recipients of Social Security or Railroad Retirement benefits, taxpayers who may be deemed to have
incurred or continued indebtedness to purchase or carry tax-exempt obligations, taxpayers who may be eligible
for the federal earned income tax credit, and taxpayers subject to franchise, estate, inheritance, gift or capital gains
taxes. Prospective purchasers of the Series 52-C Bonds should consult their tax advisors as to any such possible
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collateral tax consequences. Except to the extent covered in their legal opinion, Bond Counsel expresses no
opinion regarding any such collateral tax consequences.

The Internal Revenue Service has an ongoing program of auditing tax-exempt obligations to determine
whether, in the view of the Service, interest on such tax-exempt obligations is includable in the gross income of
the owners thereof for federal income tax purposes. No assurances can be given as to whether or not the Service
will commence an audit of the Series 52-C Bonds.

Interest paid on tax-exempt obligations, such as the Series 52-C Bonds, will be subject to information
reporting in a manner similar to interest paid on taxable obligations. Although such reporting requirement does
not, in and of itself, affect the excludability of interest with respect to the Series 52-C Bonds from gross income
for federal income tax purposes, such reporting requirement causes the payment of interest with respect to the
Series 52-C Bonds to be subject to backup withholding if such interest is paid to beneficial owners who (a) are
not “exempt recipients” and (b) either fail to provide certain identifying information (such as the beneficial
owner’s taxpayer identification number) in the required manner or have been identified by the Service as having
failed to report all interest and dividends required to be shown on their income tax returns. Generally, individuals
are not exempt recipients, whereas corporations and certain other entities generally are exempt recipients.
Amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules from a payment to a beneficial owner would be allowed as
a refund or credit against such beneficial owner’s federal income tax liability provided the required information
is furnished to the Service.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements of the Agency as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, included in this Official
Statement as Appendix A have been audited by BDO USA, LLP, independent auditors, as stated in their report
appearing herein.

RATINGS

Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. (“Moody’s””) and S&P Global Ratings (“S&P”’) have assigned ratings of
“Aal/VMIG 1”7 and “AA+/A-1+" respectively, to the Series 52-C Bonds. Such ratings are not a recommendation
to buy, sell or hold securities. Any desired explanation of the significance of such ratings should be obtained from
Moody’s and S&P, respectively. There is no assurance that a particular rating will remain in effect for any given
period of time or that it will not be lowered, suspended or withdrawn entirely if, in the judgment of the rating
agency furnishing such rating, circumstances so warrant. Any suspension, downward revision or withdrawal of
one or both of such ratings could have an adverse effect on the marketability or the market price of the Series
52-C Bonds. The Agency assumes no responsibility to take any actions with regard to possible rating changes.

LITIGATION

At the time of the delivery of and payment for the Series 52-C Bonds, the Agency will certify that, to the
best of its knowledge, there is no controversy or litigation of any nature at such time pending or threatened to
restrain or enjoin the issuance, sale, execution or delivery of the Series 52-C Bonds, or in any way contesting or
affecting the validity of the Series 52-C Bonds or any proceedings of the Agency taken with respect to the issuance
or sale thereof or the pledge or application of any moneys or security provided for the payment of the Series 52-C
Bonds or the existence or powers of the Agency.

CERTAIN LEGAL MATTERS

Legal matters incident to the authorization, issuance and sale of the Series 52-C Bonds are subject to the
approving opinion of Womble Bond Dickinson (US) LLP, Raleigh, North Carolina, Bond Counsel to the Agency.
Copies of the approving opinion of said law firm in substantially the form included herein as Appendix B will be
available at the time of delivery of the Series 52-C Bonds. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the
Agency by the General Counsel for the Agency and for the Underwriter by their counsel, Bode, PLLC, Raleigh,
North Carolina.

42



LEGAL INVESTMENT

The Act provides that the Series 52-C Bonds shall be securities in which all public officers and public
bodies of the State and its political subdivisions, and all North Carolina insurance companies, trust companies,
banking associations, investment companies, executors, administrators, trustees and other fiduciaries may
properly and legally invest funds, including capital in their control or belonging to them.

UNDERWRITING

TD Securities (USA) LLC (the “Underwriter”), has agreed, subject to certain conditions, to purchase all
of the Series 52-C Bonds at a price equal to the aggregate principal amount of the Series 52-C Bonds of
$40,000,000. The Underwriter will receive from the Agency a fee of approximately $32,400. The initial public
offering prices of the Series 52-C Bonds may be changed from time to time by the Underwriter.

TD Securities (USA) LLC, the Underwriter and Remarketing Agent for the Series 52-C Bonds, and TD
Bank, N.A., the issuer of the Series 52-C Liquidity Facility, are both wholly-owned subsidiaries of The Toronto-
Dominion Bank and part of TD Bank Group. TD Securities (USA) LLC is not a bank and is a distinct legal entity
from TD Bank, N.A. TD Bank, N.A. may have other banking and financial relationships with any other party that
may be involved in this transaction.

The Underwriter and its respective affiliates are full service financial institutions engaged in various
activities, which may include sales and trading, commercial and investment banking, advisory, investment
management, investment research, principal investment, hedging, market making, brokerage and other financial
and non-financial activities and services. In the various course of their various business activities, the underwriters
and their respective affiliates, officers, directors and employees may purchase, sell or hold a broad array of
investments and actively trade securities, derivatives, loans, commodities, currencies, credit default swaps and
other financial instruments for their own account and for the accounts of their customers, and such investment and
trading activities may involve or relate to assets, securities and/or instruments of the Agency (directly, as collateral
securing other obligations or otherwise) and/or persons and entities with relationships with the Agency. The
underwriters and their respective affiliates may also communicate independent investment recommendations,
market color or trading ideas and/or publish or express independent research views in respect of such assets,
securities or instruments and may at any time hold, or recommend to clients that they should acquire, long and/or
short positions in such assets, securities and instruments.

FINANCIAL ADVISOR

Caine Mitter & Associates Incorporated has served as financial advisor (the “Financial Advisor”) to the
Agency with respect to the Series 52-C Bonds and, in such capacity, has provided the Agency with cash flow
projections and other quantitative analyses reflecting the structure of the Series 52-C Bonds.

The Financial Advisor will not engage in any underwriting activities with regard to the issuance and sale
of the Series 52-C Bonds. The Financial Advisor is not obligated to undertake and has not undertaken to make an
independent verification or to assume responsibility for the accuracy, completeness or fairness of the information
contained in this Official Statement and is not obligated to review or ensure compliance with continuing disclosure
undertakings. Caine Mitter & Associates Incorporated has registered with the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board as a Municipal Advisor.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

Pursuant to the Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement, the Agency hereby undertakes, for the
benefit of the beneficial owners of the Series 52-C Bonds, to provide to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking
Board (“MSRB”):

(a) by not later than seven months from the end of each fiscal year of the Agency, audited financial

statements of the Agency prepared in accordance with Section 159-34 of the General Statutes of
North Carolina, as it may be amended from time to time, or any successor statute, or, if such
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(b)

(c)

audited financial statements of the Agency are not available by seven months from the end of
such fiscal year, unaudited financial statements of the Agency to be replaced subsequently by
audited financial statements of the Agency to be delivered within fifteen (15) days after such
audited financial statements become available for distribution;

concurrently with the delivery of the audited financial statements referred to in (a) above, the
most recent financial and statistical data available to the Agency as of a date not earlier than the
end of the preceding fiscal year, for the type of information included in the tables labeled “Bonds
Payable” and “Program Obligations” under the heading “THE PROGRAM—Experience to Date
Under the Program” in this Official Statement;

in a timely manner not in excess of ten business days after the occurrence of the event, notice of
any of the following events with respect to the Series 52-C Bonds:

(D) principal and interest payment delinquencies;

2) non-payment related defaults, if material;

3) unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;

4) unscheduled draws on any credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;

(5) substitution of any credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;

(6) Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final

determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other
material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the security, or other
material events affecting the tax status of the security;

(7 modification to the rights of the beneficial owners of the Series 52-C Bonds;

() bond calls, other than calls for mandatory sinking fund redemption, if material, and tender
offers;

©)] defeasance of any of the Series 52-C Bonds;

(10)  release, substitution or sale of any property securing repayment of the Series 52-C Bonds,
if material;

(11)  rating changes;
(12)  bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the Agency;

(13)  the consummation of a merger, consolidation or acquisition involving the Agency or the
sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Agency, other than in the ordinary course
of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such an action or the
termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than pursuant to
its terms, if material;

(14)  appointment of a trustee or a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a
trustee, if material;

(15)  incurrence of a financial obligation (as defined below) of the Agency, if material, or
agreement to covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights or other similar terms
of a financial obligation of the Agency, any of which affect beneficial owners of the
Series 52-C Bonds, if material; and
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(16)  default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or other similar
events under the terms of a financial obligation of the Agency, any of which reflect
financial difficulties; and

(d) in a timely manner, notice of a failure of the Agency to provide required annual financial
information described in (a) or (b) above on or before the date specified.

The Agency shall provide the documents referred to above to the MSRB in an electronic format as
prescribed by the MSRB and accompanied by identifying information as prescribed by the MSRB.

For the purposes of this Section, “financial obligation” means (a) a debt obligation, (b) a derivative
instrument entered into in connection with, or pledged as security or a source of payment for, an existing or
planned debt obligation, or (c) a guarantee of either clause (a) or (b). The term “financial obligation” shall not
include municipal securities as to which a final official statement has been provided to the MSRB consistent with
Rule 15¢2-12 issued under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Rule 15¢2-12”).

The Agency may discharge its undertaking described above by transmitting the documents referred to
above to any entity and by any method authorized by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

The Agency reserves the right to modify from time to time the information to be provided to the extent
necessary or appropriate in the judgment of the Agency, provided that:

(a) any such modification may only be made in connection with a change in circumstances that arises
from a change in legal requirements, change in law, or change in the identity, nature, or status of
the Agency;

(b) the information to be provided, as modified, would have complied with the requirements of Rule

15c2-12 as of the date of the Official Statement, after taking into account any amendments or
interpretations of Rule 15¢2-12, as well as any changes in circumstances; and

(©) any such modification does not materially impair the interests of the beneficial owners of the
Series 52-C Bonds, as determined by the Trustee or bond counsel to the Agency, or by approving
vote of the Owners of a majority in principal amount of the Series 52-C Bonds pursuant to the
terms of the Trust Agreement at the time of the amendment.

In the event that the Agency makes such a modification, the annual financial information containing the
modified operating data or financial information shall explain, in narrative form, the reasons for the modification
and the impact of the change in the type of operating data or financial information being provided.

The continuing disclosure provisions of the Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement shall terminate
upon payment, or provision having been made for payment in a manner consistent with Rule 15¢2-12, in full of
the principal and interest with respect to all of the Series 52-C Bonds.

In the event of a failure of the Agency to comply with any provision of the covenant set forth above, the
Trustee may (and, at the request of the owners of at least 25% aggregate principal amount of Outstanding Series
52-C Bonds, shall), or any beneficial owner of the Series 52-C Bonds may, take such actions as may be necessary
and appropriate, including seeking mandamus or specific performance by court order, to cause the Agency to
comply with the continuing disclosure provisions of the Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement. However,
a default with respect to the continuing disclosure provisions of the Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust Agreement
shall not be deemed an Event of Default under the Trust Agreement, and the remedy in the event of any failure of
the Agency to comply with the continuing disclosure provisions of the Fifty-Second Supplemental Trust
Agreement shall be the actions referred to above.

The Agency has not failed in any material respect to file any information required to be provided by any
undertaking previously made by the Agency pursuant to the requirements of Rule 15¢2-12 in the last five years.
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MISCELLANEOUS

Any statements in this Official Statement involving matters of opinion, whether or not expressly so stated,
are intended as such and not as representations of fact. This Official Statement is not to be construed as a contract
or agreement between the Agency and the purchasers or holders of any of the Series 52-C Bonds.

NORTH CAROLINA HOUSING FINANCE AGENCY

By: /s/ Brett Warner
Chief Financial Officer

The interest rates, maturities, sale price and manner of sale of the Series 52-C Bonds have been
determined, with the approval of the North Carolina Housing Finance Agency and the Local Government
Commission of the State of North Carolina.

By: /s/ Sharon G. Edmundson
Secretary of the Local Government Commission
of North Carolina

Dated: November 9, 2023
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited)
June 30, 2023

The management’s discussion and analysis of the North Carolina Housing Finance Agency’s financial
performance provides an overview of its financial activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023. The financial
statements, accompanying notes, and supplementary information should be read in conjunction with the
following discussion.

Overview

The North Carolina Housing Finance Agency (Agency) was created in 1973 to provide financing for
residential housing, both ownership and rental, to North Carolina households with low and moderate incomes.
The Agency issues bonds and sells mortgage-backed securities (MBS) on the secondary market to finance
housing throughout the State of North Carolina (State). In addition, the Agency administers the funding for the
Section 8 program, the HOME Investment Partnerships Program (HOME), the Low-Income Housing Tax Credits
(LIHTC), the NC Homeowner Assistance Fund (HAF), the North Carolina Housing Trust Fund (HTF), the
Workforce Housing Loan Program (WHLP), the National Housing Trust Fund (NHTF) and other federal and state
programs. The Agency uses these funds to provide different types of assistance such as down payment
assistance, low-interest mortgage loans, foreclosure prevention counseling, rent subsidies, and various types
of rehabilitation of both single and multifamily properties.

Financial Highlights

The following information is an analysis of the Agency’s performance for the year ended June 30, 2023,
compared to the prior fiscal year’s results and activities:

e Total Assets increased $385,074,000, or 16.2%

e Deferred Outflows of Resources increased $1,172,000, or 14.6%
e Total Liabilities increased $230,382,000, or 14.5%

e Deferred Inflows of Resources decreased $1,855,000, or 24.5%
e Total Net Position increased $157,719,000, or 20.2%

The Agency issued bonds in fiscal year 2023 to finance a portion of its NC Home Advantage Mortgage
(HomeAd) loans, which were securitized into MBS. These transactions caused an increase in Investments,
Bonds payable, net as well as other related accounts. These transactions are primarily responsible for the
increases and decreases in the accounts below:

e Investments increased $259,879,000, or 21.9%

e Bonds payable, net increased $197,950,000, or 13.2%

e Interest on bonds increased $5,938,000, or 16.1%

e Nonfederal program expense increased $7,329,000, or 27.0%

e Net decrease in fair value of investments decreased $57,674,000, or 51.4%

In 2013, the Agency shifted from offering mortgages under the FirstHome program, in which the Agency
owns the mortgage loan, to utilizing the HomeAd program, in which mortgage loans are pooled into MBS. As a
result, the portfolio of mortgage loans in the FirstHome program continues to decline from prepayments, resulting
in decreases in Mortgage loans receivable, net, Program income/fees, and related accounts as listed below:

e Mortgage loans receivable, net decreased $33,612,000 or 9.7%
e Accrued interest receivable on mortgage loans decreased $636,000, or 30.2%
e Program income/fees decreased $21,299,000, or 20.1%



e Interest on mortgage loans decreased $1,774,000, or 11.2%
e Mortgage servicing expense decreased $124,000, or 13.9%

The US Department of the Treasury (Treasury) approved North Carolina’s plan for the HAF program,
which launched statewide on January 31, 2022. The majority of HAF funds were received in fiscal year 2023,
and, of the funds received, all but $15,195,000 were disbursed, resulting in increases in Other assets, Unearned
revenues, Federal program expense, Federal program awards received, and General and administrative
expense as listed below:

e Other assets increased $8,951,000, or 53.9%

e Unearned revenues increased $11,380,000, or 29.3%

e Federal program expense increased $99,020,000, or 35.5%

e Federal program awards received increased $167,163,000, or 79.9%
e General and administrative expense increased $15,982,000, or 60.5%

State appropriations received increased $200,000,000, or 1,876.2% in fiscal year 2023, because the
Agency received non-recurring appropriations from the North Carolina General Assembly for WHLP and HTF of
$190,000,000 and $10,000,000, respectively. This additional inflow and subsequent disbursement of funds,
combined with rising interest rates resulted in increases in Interest on investments, Accrued interest receivable
on investments, and State program expense as listed below:

e Interest on investments increased $34,311,000, or 83.0%
e Accrued interest receivable on investments increased $3,119,000, or 81.2%
e State program expense increased $34,259,000, or 54.0%

The Agency is required to reflect its proportionate share of the State’s pension liability and
postemployment benefits, which are based on actuarial assumptions. The effect of these transactions is listed
below:

e Deferred outflows for pensions increased $2,466,000, or 75.4%

e Deferred outflows for other postemployment benefits decreased $538,000, or 13.5%
e Pension liability increased $5,832,000, or 213.6%

e Other postemployment benefits decreased $3,495,000, or 22.2%

e Deferred inflows for pensions decreased $3,327,000, or 96.6%

e Deferred inflows for other postemployment benefits increased $1,472,000, or 35.7%

The net effect of the transactions detailed above, along with regular operations of the Agency, resulted
in an increase in Total Net Position of $157,719,000, or 20.2%. The primary driver of the change in net position
is the State appropriation for WHLP. The Agency continues to proactively manage its programs to further its
mission of creating affordable housing for North Carolinians with low and moderate incomes.



Financial Analysis

The following tables summarize the changes in net position between June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022

(in thousands):

Condensed Statements of Net Position
Assets*
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Accrued interest receivable on investments
Mortgage loans receivable, net
Mortgage loans held for resale
Accrued interest receivable on mortgage loans
State receivables
Other assets, net
Capital assets, net
Total Assets

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred outflows for pensions
Deferred outflows for other postemployment benefits
Accumulated decrease in fair value of hedging derivative
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources

Liabilities*
Bonds payable, net
Accrued interest payable
Accounts payable
Derivative instrument — interest rate swap
Unearned revenues
Pension liability
Other postemployment benefits
Other liabilities
Lease liability

Total Liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Deferred inflows for pensions

Deferred inflows for other postemployment benefits
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted net position
Unrestricted net position

Total Net Position

2023 2022 Change

$ 938,040 $ 811,458 126,582
1,445,769 1,185,890 259,879
6,958 3,839 3,119
313,158 346,770 (33,612)
22,717 - 22,717
1,467 2,103 (636)

4 552 (548)

25,547 16,596 8,951
3,261 4,639 (1,378)
$2,756,921  $2,371,847 385,074
$ 5737 § 3,271 2,466
3,455 3,993 (538)

- 756 (756)

$ 9,192 § 8,020 1,172
$ 1,700,399 §$ 1,502,449 197,950
24,970 18,628 6,342
17,732 4,676 13,056

- 756 (756)

50,285 38,905 11,380
8,562 2,730 5,832
12,237 15,732 (3,495)
6,996 6,349 647
2,038 2,612 (574)

$ 1,823,219 § 1,592,837 230,382
$ 17  § 3,444 (3,327)
5,600 4,128 1,472

$ 5717  § 7,572 (1,855)
$ 3,261 § 4,639 (1,378)
799,651 672,729 126,922
134,265 102,090 32,175

$ 937,177 § 779,458 157,719

%

15.6
21.9
81.2
(9.7)

100.0

(30.2)

(99.3)
53.9

(29.7)
16.2

75.4
(13.5)
(100.0)
14.6

13.2
34.0
279.2
(100.0)
29.3
213.6
(22.2)
10.2
(22.0)
145

(96.6)
35.7
(24.5)

(29.7)
18.9
315
20.2

*For information on current and noncurrent statement of net position items, please see the audited
Statement of Net Position in the accompanying financial statements.



Condensed Statements of Revenues, Expenses

and Changes in Net Position 2023 2022 Change %
Operating Revenues
Interest on investments $ 75651 $ 41340 $ 34,311 83.0
Net decrease in fair value of investments (54,549) (112,223) 57,674 51.4
Interest on mortgage loans 14,074 15,848 (1,774) (11.2)
Federal program awards received 376,313 209,150 167,163 79.9
Program income/fees 84,918 106,217 (21,299) (20.1)
Other revenues 359 65 294 452.3
Total Operating Revenues $ 496,766 $ 260,397 $ 236,369 90.8
Operating Expenses
Interest on bonds $ 42709 $ 36,771 $ 5,938 16.1
Lease interest expense 32 20 12 60.0
Mortgage servicing expense 770 894 (124) (13.9)
Federal program expense 378,299 279,279 99,020 355
Nonfederal program expense 34,476 27,147 7,329 27.0
General and administrative expense 42,404 26,422 15,982 60.5
Other expenses 176 408 (232) (56.9)
Total Operating Expenses $ 498,866 $ 370,941 $ 127,925 34.5
Operating Loss $ (2,000 $(110,544) $ 108,444 98.1
Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses)
State appropriations received $ 210660 $ 10660 $ 200,000 1,876.2
State grants received 46,736 45,408 1,328 29
Noncapital contributions 93 95 (2) (2.1)
State program expense (97,670) (63,411) (34,259) 54.0
Total Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses) $ 159819 $§ (7,248) $ 167,067 2,305.0
Change in Net Position $ 157,719 $(117,792) §$ 275,511 233.9
Total Net Position - Beginning $§ 779458 $ 897,250 $ (117,792) (13.1)
Total Net Position - Ending $ 937177 $ 779,458 $§ 157,719 20.2

New Business

In September 2021, the US Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) announced the
award of $65.6 million to the Agency for the HOME Investment Partnerships Program and Section 3205 of the
American Rescue Plan (HOME-ARP). HOME-ARP is a new federal program to assist in the reduction of
homelessness and increase housing stability. Program funds are available for obligation by HUD through September
2025 and available for Participating Jurisdiction expenditure through September 2030. The Agency has begun
incurring start-up costs for this program as of June 30, 2023. Program awards and disbursements are expected
to occur over the next 24 months.

The fiscal year 2023 State budget was approved on July 11, 2022 and included recurring appropriations
for the Agency of $7.66 million for HTF and $3 million for HOME Match, along with non-recurring appropriations
of $190 million for WHLP and an additional $10 million for HTF.

On April 1, 2023, the Agency increased the amount of NC 1st Home Advantage Down Payment
Assistance associated with its bond funded loans from $8,000 to $15,000. This increase resulted in the highest
quarter of reservation volume in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2023 since the HomeAd program'’s inception in
2013.



Debt Administration

The Agency issued tax-exempt bonds in fiscal year 2023 to finance a portion of its HomeAd production.
The Series 49 tax-exempt bond issuance closed in December 2022 for a total of $180,000,000 par plus a
premium of $4,660,000. The Series 50 tax-exempt bond issuance closed in May 2023 for a total of $180,000,000
par plus a premium of $7,754,000. Proceeds have been used to finance production of both the Agency'’s first
mortgage purchases and the NC 1st Home Advantage Down Payment Assistance.

In fiscal year 2023, the Agency had monthly bond calls and biannual debt service payments totaling
$168,730,000. In conjunction with the October 2022 bond call, the Agency redeemed its remaining variable rate
debt totaling $12,670,000, and terminated its remaining interest rate swaps.

The Agency issued conduit multifamily mortgage revenue bonds of $6,000,000 in fiscal year 2021 for
the construction of a multifamily development for seniors, which was a disaster recovery project. In August
2022, an additional $2,981,000 of bonds were issued for the same project due to increased material and labor
costs. Additionally, in August 2022, a conduit mortgage revenue bond was issued as a “draw down” bond for
up to $37,515,000 for the acquisition and construction of a multifamily development for persons of low and
moderate income. These bonds are limited obligations of the Agency, secured solely by the revenues and other
assets pledged for their payment.

Programs and Activities

The Agency’s mission is to provide safe, affordable housing opportunities to enhance the quality of life of
North Carolinians. The Agency focuses its efforts on providing assistance to borrowers purchasing a home,
financing affordable rental housing, and helping homeowners who are facing foreclosure or living in substandard
housing.

For the year ended June 30, 2023, the Agency recorded expenditures of $415,360,000 in federal funds
for the following programs:

e Community Partners Loan Pool (CPLP)

o Essential Single-Family Rehabilitation Loan Pool (ESFRLP)

e Integrated Supportive Housing Program (ISHP)

e NC Homeowner Assistance Fund (HAF)

e Housing Stability Counseling Program (HSCP)

¢ Rental Production Program (RPP)

¢ Rental Production Program — Disaster Recovery (RPP-DR)

e Section 8 Project-Based Contract Administration (Section 8 PBCA)
e Self-Help Loan Pool (SHLP)

For the year ended June 30, 2023, the Agency recorded expenditures of $97,804,000 in State funds for
the following programs:

e Back@Home (BH)

o Displacement Prevention Partnership (DPP)

e Essential Single-Family Rehabilitation Loan Pool — Disaster Recovery (ESFRLP-DR)
e Housing Counseling Capacity Building Program (HCCBP)

e Housing Services (HS)

e Integrated Supportive Housing Program (ISHP)

o Key Rental Assistance (Key)

¢ Rental Production Program (RPP)

¢ Rental Production Program — Disaster Recovery (RPP-DR)

e Supportive Housing Development Program (SHDP)



e Transitions to Community Living Voucher (TCLV)
e Urgent Repair Program (URP)
e Workforce Housing Loan Program (WHLP)

For the year ended June 30, 2023, the Agency recorded expenditures of $469,892,000 from other
funding sources for the following programs:

e Carryover Loan Program (COLP)

e Community Partners Loan Pool (CPLP)

e Construction Training Partnership (CTP)

o Essential Single-Family Rehabilitation Loan Pool (ESFRLP)

e NC Home Advantage Mortgage (HomeAd)

e NC 1st Home Advantage Down Payment Assistance (1st Home DPA)
e State Home Foreclosure Prevention Project (SHFPP)

e Urgent Repair Program (URP)

For the year ended June 30, 2023, the Agency made awards of $267,393,000 for the following programs:

e Low-Income Housing Tax Credit (LIHTC)
e NC Home Advantage Tax Credit (MCC)
e NC Home Advantage Mortgage (HomeAd)

All major programs for which the Agency recorded expenditures or made awards in the year ended June
30, 2023 are described in the section below:

Home Ownership Programs The Agency offers low-cost mortgages, down payment assistance and
mortgage credit certificates (MCCs) for qualified buyers through the following programs:

e NC Home Advantage Mortgage provides affordable mortgage options and forgivable down payment
assistance to first-time or move-up homebuyers. Borrowers are offered 30-year fixed rate mortgages
and 15-year deferred, forgivable second mortgages of 3% of the first mortgage amount.

¢ NC 1stHome Advantage Down Payment Assistance program provides another down payment assistance
option for qualifying veterans and first-time homebuyers. This comes in the form of a $15,000 deferred
forgivable 15-year second mortgage.

e NC Home Advantage Tax Credit helps qualifying veterans and first-time homebuyers increase their
mortgage affordability by providing MCCs. MCCs are federal tax credits that reduce tax liability annually
by up to 30% of mortgage interest for existing homes or up to 50% for new construction, each with a
maximum credit of $2,000 annually.

e Self-Help Loan Pool provides affordable mortgage assistance to qualified homebuyers purchasing
homes through nonprofit Self-Help Housing loan pool members. Homebuyers are offered interest-free
amortizing loans in combination with SHLP nonprofit member financing.

e Community Partners Loan Pool provides down payment assistance to qualifying homebuyers purchasing
a home through local governments and nonprofits. Homebuyers are offered interest-free, deferred
second mortgages up to 25% of the purchase price when combined with a HomeAd mortgage or up to
10% when combined with a USDA Section 502 loan.



Housing Preservation Programs The Agency partners with local governments, nonprofits and regional

councils to finance the rehabilitation of substandard owner-occupied homes to prevent displacement through
the following programs:

Essential Single-Family Rehabilitation Loan Pool provides essential and critical home rehabilitation for
qualifying homeowners. Funds are provided to partners in the form of interest-free, deferred, forgiven
loans. The program benefits homeowners earning up to 80% of area median income with full-time
household members who are elderly, disabled, qualified veterans and/or children under the age of six
years old frequently present in a home with lead hazards.

Essential Single-Family Rehabilitation Loan Pool — Disaster Recovery program provides interest-free,
deferred, forgiven loans to eligible homeowners to provide essential rehabilitations in response to
damage from Hurricane Matthew and Tropical Storms Julia and Hermine. Homeowners earning up to
100% of area median income whose homes were affected by these storms in the counties listed in the
Disaster Recovery Act of 2016 are eligible for loans for rehabilitation.

Urgent Repair Program provides interest-free, deferred, forgiven loans to assist qualifying homeowners
with emergency repairs and modifications that address imminent threats to health or safety.
Homeowners who are elderly, special needs, veterans or disabled earning up to 50% of area median
income are eligible.

Displacement Prevention Partnership offers interest-free, deferred, forgiven loans through the North
Carolina Division of Vocational Rehabilitation and Independent Living Offices to repair or improve home
accessibility for qualifying homeowners with mobility issues. Homeowners who are disabled earning up
to 50% of area median income are eligible for these loans.

Foreclosure Prevention Programs The Agency provides foreclosure prevention services in partnership

with housing counseling organizations approved by HUD through various programs, including the following:

NC Homeowner Assistance Fund provides mortgage payment assistance, mortgage reinstatement and
housing related cost assistance, which may include insurance, homeowner fees and liens, and
delinquent property taxes to eligible homeowners, to prevent homeowner delinquencies, defaults,
foreclosures and homeowner displacement associated with housing-related hardships due to the
COVID-19 pandemic.

Housing Stability Counseling Program provides free counseling services from HUD-approved certified
housing counselors to renters and homeowners facing housing instability.

State Home Foreclosure Prevention Project provides free housing counseling and legal assistance to
homeowners facing foreclosure. These services are funded through foreclosure filing fees, which are
paid by servicers of North Carolina home loans.

Rental Development Programs The Agency finances affordable homes and apartments developed by

local governments, nonprofits and private developers through various programs, including the following:

Low-Income Housing Tax Credit provides eligible rental developers with financing necessary to develop
and substantially rehabilitate affordable rental housing in the State. The tax credit reduces the investors’
federal tax liability by up to 9% of the eligible project cost each year for 10 years, and participation in
the program ensures the creation and/or preservation of affordable rental housing for households
earning up to 80% of the area median income.

Workforce Housing Loan Program provides long-term financing for tax credit developments. Assistance
is available in the form of 30-year balloon loans for a percentage of development costs based on income
designations for each county.

Rental Production Program provides long-term financing for tax credit developments. Amortizing or
deferred loans are available up to 20 years.



e Rental Production Program — Disaster Recovery provides loans to fund construction of affordable rental
developments in counties with a federally-declared disaster designation due to Hurricane Florence in
2018 and Hurricane Matthew in 2016.

e Carryover Loan Program provides financing for the acquisition of land for 9% new construction tax credit
properties.

e Integrated Supportive Housing Program provides long-term financing for developments that set aside
up to 20% of units for people with disabilities. The Agency partners with the NC Department of Health
and Human Services (DHHS) in administering this program.

Rental Assistance Programs The Agency administers rent assistance contracts for privately owned
apartments or intermediaries through the following programs:

e Section 8 Project-Based Contract Administration (PBCA) rental assistance projects are administered by
the Agency for certain project-based Section 8 Housing Assistance Payment contracts on behalf of HUD.
The Agency partners with NC Quadel Consulting Corporation to manage the contract administration
duties.

o Key Rental Assistance provides rental assistance for low-income persons with disabilities, including
those experiencing homelessness. The Agency is responsible for executing agreements with property
owners, reviewing income eligibility documentation at move-in and recertification periods, making rental
assistance payments to owners and projecting costs of the program. The Agency partners with DHHS
in administering this program.

e Transition to Community Living Voucher was established in 2016 to create an efficient and effective
state housing administration system to allow people with certain disabilities to successfully live in the
communities of their choice. The Agency supports Local Management Entities/Managed Care
Organizations in administering vouchers through the development and maintenance of a secure
electronic funds management and document collection system, reviewing payment requests for
compliance and disbursing funds accordingly. The Agency partners with DHHS in administering this
program.

e Back@Home supports homelessness prevention and rapid rehousing services needed as a result of the
COVID-19 pandemic. The Agency reviews and reimburses expenditures incurred and submitted by
designated rehousing agencies per contract with DHHS.

Supportive Housing Programs The Agency finances the development of supportive housing for North
Carolinians through its partners across the State:

e The Supportive Housing Development Program provides amortizing or deferred loans to local
governments, nonprofits and regional councils to finance the production of emergency and permanent
supportive housing. This program benefits people earning up to 50% of the area median income who
have supportive housing needs or are experiencing homelessness.

Additional Information

This discussion and analysis is intended to provide additional information regarding the activities of the
North Carolina Housing Finance Agency. If you have questions about the report or need additional financial
information, contact Brett Warner, Chief Financial Officer, North Carolina Housing Finance Agency, P.O. Box
28066, Raleigh, North Carolina 27611-8066, (919) 981-2519, bawarner@nchfa.com, or visit the Agency’s
website at www.nchfa.com.

10



Tel: 919-754-9370 421 Fayetteville Street, Suite 300
BDO Fax: 919-754-9369 Raleigh, NC 27601
® www.bdo.com

Independent Auditor’s Report

The Board of Directors
North Carolina Housing Finance Agency

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinions

We have audited the financial statements of the business-type activities and programs of the North
Carolina Housing Finance Agency (the “Agency”), a public agency and component unit of the State
of North Carolina, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial
statements, which collectively comprise the Agency’s basic financial statements as listed in the
table of contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the respective financial position of the business-type activities and programs of
the Agency, as of June 30, 2023, and the respective changes in financial position and, where
applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America (“GAAS”) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the
Agency and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical
requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Agency’s
ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date,
including any currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not
absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
GAAS and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if
there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the
judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we:

e Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

¢ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Agency’s internal control. Accordingly, no such
opinion is expressed.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

e Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Agency’s ability to continue as a going
concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal
control-related matters that we identified during the audit.

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
management discussion and analysis be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.
Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the
required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during
our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance
on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to
express an opinion or provide any assurance.
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Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated
September 22, 2023 on our consideration of the Agency’s internal control over financial reporting
and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant
agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our
testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing,
and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Agency’s internal control over financial
reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the Agency’s internal control over financial reporting
and compliance.

ITO VA, P.C.
September 22, 2023
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NORTH CAROLINA HOUSING FINANCE AGENCY

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
AS OF JUNE 30, 2023

(in thousands)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 142,568
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 795,472
Restricted investments 4,954
Accrued interest receivable on investments 6,958
Mortgage loans receivable 53,502
Mortgage loans held for resale 22,717
Accrued interest receivable on mortgage loans 1,467
State receivables 4
Other assets 25,547
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS $ 1,053,189
Noncurrent assets:
Restricted investments $ 1,440,815
Mortgage loans receivable, net 259,656
Capital assets, net 3,261
TOTAL NONCURRENT ASSETS $ 1,703,732
TOTAL ASSETS $ 2,756,921
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows for pensions $ 5,737
Deferred outflows for other postemployment benefits 3,455
TOTAL DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES $ 9,192
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Bonds payable $ 38,885
Accrued interest payable 24,970
Accounts payable 17,732
Unearned revenues 28,657
Other liabilities 1,242
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES $ 111,486
Noncurrent liabilities:
Bonds payable, net $ 1,661,514
Unearned revenues 21,628
Pension liability 8,562
Other postemployment benefits 12,237
Other liabilities 5,754
Lease liability 2,038
TOTAL NONCURRENT LIABILITIES $ 1,711,733
TOTAL LIABILITIES $ 1,823,219
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows for pensions $ 117
Deferred inflows for other postemployment benefits 5,600
TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES $ 5,717
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets $ 3,261
Restricted net position 799,651
Unrestricted net position 134,265
TOTAL NET POSITION $ 937,177

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NORTH CAROLINA HOUSING FINANCE AGENCY

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

(in thousands)

OPERATING REVENUES

Interest on investments $ 75,651
Net decrease in fair value of investments (54,549)
Interest on mortgage loans 14,074
Federal program awards received 376,313
Program income/fees 84,918
Other revenues 359
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES $ 496,766

OPERATING EXPENSES

Interest on bonds $ 42,709
Lease interest expense 32
Mortgage servicing expense 770
Federal program expense 378,299
Nonfederal program expense 34,476
General and administrative expense 42,404
Other expenses 176

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES $ 498,866

OPERATING LOSS $ (2,100)

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)

State appropriations received $ 210,660
State grants received 46,736
Noncapital contributions 93
State program expense (97,670)
TOTAL NON-OPERATING REVENUES $ 159,819
CHANGE IN NET POSITION $ 157,719
TOTAL NET POSITION - BEGINNING $ 779,458
TOTAL NET POSITION - ENDING $ 937,177

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NORTH CAROLINA HOUSING FINANCE AGENCY

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023
(in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:

Interest on mortgage loans $ 14,562
Principal payments on mortgage loans 50,520
Purchase of mortgage loans (16,407)
Purchase of mortgage loans held for resale (22,717)
Federal program awards received 378,249
Federal program expense (363,730)
Nonfederal program expense (34,476)
Federal grant administration income 26,804
Program income/fees 58,353
Other expenses (44,450)
Other revenues 278
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 46,986

Cash flows from non-capital financing activities:

Issuance of bonds $ 360,000
Principal repayments on bonds (168,730)
Interest paid (26,812)
Bond issuance costs paid (2,875)
State tax credits 90
State appropriations received 210,660
State grants received 46,736
State program expense (97,670)
Noncapital contributions 93
Net cash provided by non-capital financing activities $ 321,492

Cash flows from investing activities:

Proceeds from sales or maturities of investments $ 111,299
Purchase of investments (426,050)
Earnings on investments 72,855
Net cash used in investing activities $  (241,896)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents, unrestricted and restricted $ 126,582
Cash and cash equivalents, unrestricted and restricted, at beginning of year 811,458
Cash and cash equivalents, unrestricted and restricted, at end of year $ 938,040

Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash provided by operating activities:
Operating loss $ (2,100)
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash provided by operating activities:

Interest on investments (75,651)
Decrease in fair value of investments 54,549
Interest on bonds 42,709
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease in mortgage loans receivable 33,612
Decrease in accrued interest receivable on mortgage loans 636
Increase in mortgage loans held for resale (22,717)
Increase in other assets (7,545)
Increase in deferred outflows of resources (1,928)
Increase in accounts payable and other liabilities 15,896
Decrease in deferred inflows of resources (1,855)
Increase in unearned revenues 11,380
Total adjustments $ 49,086
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 46,986

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year Ended June 30, 2023

A.

AUTHORIZING LEGISLATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Authorizing Legislation The North Carolina Housing Finance Agency (Agency) is a public
agency and component unit of the State of North Carolina (State). The accompanying financial
statements represent the financial position of the Agency only. The Agency was created to provide
financing for housing to residents of the State with low and moderate incomes. Pursuant to its enabling
legislation, the Agency is authorized to issue bonds and other obligations to fulfill its corporate purpose
up to a total outstanding amount of $3 billion. The debt obligations of the Agency do not constitute a
debt, grant or line of credit of the State, and the State is not liable for the repayment of such obligations.

Basis of Presentation The accompanying financial statements of the Agency have been
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (GAAP) as
applicable to governments. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) establishes
standards of financial accounting and reporting for state and local government entities.

Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting The accompanying financial statements are
reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.
Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred,
regardless of the timing of related cash flows.

Programs The Agency’s accounts are organized on the basis of programs. Each program
represents a separate accounting entity. Agency resources are allocated to these programs based on
legal responsibility, fiscal accountability, and management designation. The Agency’s primary programs
are summarized below:

Agency Programs Direct administrative and operational activities, including operating expenses
of various programs, are recorded in Agency Programs. Among the most active programs are the federal
Low-Income Housing Tax Credit (LIHTC) program and the State Home Foreclosure Prevention Project
(SHFPP). The Agency administers LIHTC for the State, evaluating applications for the tax credits and
monitoring the rental properties for the compliance period to ensure that they meet federal program
requirements, among other responsibilities. The Agency earns fees related to the applications and
monitoring of LIHTC properties.

In 2008, the State authorized the formation of SHFPP in response to the foreclosure crisis. State
statute requires that all parties who wish to initiate a foreclosure against a home in North Carolina remit
a $75 fee to the Agency. The fees collected are used to counsel and/or provide legal assistance to
homeowners at risk of foreclosure. Any excess funds are allocated to the North Carolina Housing Trust
Fund (HTF) annually.

Housing Trust Fund Programs The North Carolina Housing Trust and Oil Overcharge Act
created the HTF and the North Carolina Housing Partnership (Housing Partnership). The purpose of
the HTF is to increase the supply of decent, affordable, and energy-efficient housing for residents of the
State with low and moderate incomes. The Housing Partnership is responsible for developing policy for
the operation of several programs within the HTF. The Agency staff provides services to the Housing
Partnership and administers the HTF programs. State appropriations are reported in Non-Operating
Revenues (Expenses) in the accompanying financial statements, and include a recurring appropriation
that is used to make loans and grants under the HTF programs and nonrecurring appropriations for the
Workforce Housing Loan Program (WHLP).
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The Agency receives funds from the North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services
(DHHS) for the Community Living Housing Fund. In October 2022, Session Law 2022-180 established
a $3.8 million recurring appropriation which is reported in State grants received. Any funds received in
addition to this appropriation are reported in Deferred state grants until appropriated by the North
Carolina General Assembly (General Assembly), when they are moved to State grants received.

Federal and State Programs The Agency administers several federal programs including the
NC Homeowner Assistance Fund (HAF), Section 8, the combined HOME Investment Partnerships
Program (HOME) and the HOME Investment Partnerships American Rescue Plan Program (HOME-
ARP), and National Housing Trust Fund (NHTF), which represent 46%, 45%, 6%, and 3% of federal
expenditures, respectively. The Agency receives a fee for administering these programs. The HOME
program is matched with State funds of up to $3 million annually as appropriated by the General
Assembly.

The Agency receives funds from DHHS for the Transitions to Community Living Voucher
program (TCLV), the Key Rental Assistance (Key) program and other housing programs. TCLV is a
tenant-based, rental assistance program, which also provides assistance with security deposits, holding
fees and risk mitigation claims. The Key program provides assistance and services to low-income
individuals with disabilities and those who are homeless. These funds are reported in State grants
received.

Home Ownership Bond Programs The Home Ownership Bond Programs were created through
a single-family trust agreement and are restricted as to their use. The proceeds of individual bond issues
are used to purchase qualifying mortgage loans for single-family residential units.

The Agency’s former FirstHome program was funded with tax-exempt mortgage revenue bonds,
and the mortgage loans are reported in Mortgage loans receivable and Mortgage loans receivable, net
in the 1998 Home Ownership Bond Program. Mortgage loan interest income related to the Home
Ownership Bond Programs is reported in Interest on mortgage loans.

The operations for the NC Home Advantage Mortgage (HomeAd) program are financed through
the issuance of tax-exempt mortgage revenue bonds as well as the sale of mortgage-backed securities
(MBS). The production related to the HomeAd program is reported in the 1998 Home Ownership Bond
Program. In contrast to the FirstHome program, in which the Agency owns the mortgage loans, all
HomeAd production is pooled into MBS, regardless of the method of financing. For HomeAd loans
funded through the sale of MBS, the related program income is recorded in Program income/fees. The
MBS funded with bond proceeds are reported in Investments, which also include US Agency securities
held by the Agency, as described in Note B, “Cash, Cash Equivalents, Investments, Fair Value
Measurements and Securities Lending Transactions.” The corresponding earnings from the bond-
funded MBS are reported in Interest on investments. The down payment assistance loans and lender
compensation incurred by the HomeAd program are reported in Nonfederal program expense,
regardless of the method of financing.

Significant Accounting Policies Below is a summary of the Agency’s significant accounting
policies:

Cash and Cash Equivalents Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of cash on hand,
amounts on deposit with financial institutions which are insured or collateralized under provisions of
State laws and regulations, amounts in pooled cash accounts managed by in the North Carolina State
Treasurer (State Treasurer), and highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or
less. Funds deposited in an investment pool of the State Treasurer are invested in a variety of
instruments as authorized by State law. The majority of Cash and cash equivalents classified as
restricted on the accompanying Statement of Net Position are for the Agency’s debt service payments,
bond calls, and for funding home ownership under the Agency’s different programs.
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Investments Investments are reported at fair value in accordance with GASB Codification
Section 150, Investments.

Mortgage Loans Receivable, Net Mortgage loans receivable, net are carried at cost less a loan
loss reserve. lItis the Agency’s policy to provide for potential mortgage loan losses based on a periodic
evaluation of the loan portfolios.

Mortgage Loans Held For Resale Periodically, the Agency purchases a portion of HomeAd
mortgage loans from its originating lenders to hold from the time of loan purchase to the subsequent
securitization of the loan. When these loans are purchased, they are included in Mortgage loans held
for resale. The interest income and servicing fees associated with these loans are included in Interest
on mortgage loans and Mortgage servicing expense, respectively.

Other Assets Other assets for Federal and State Programs includes receivables related to the
HOME, Section 8, HAF, and NHTF programs. Other assets reflected in the Home Ownership Bond
Programs include mortgage payments collected by servicers that will be remitted to the Agency in the
upcoming fiscal year.

Capital Assets, Net Fixed assets, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization, are
included in Capital assets, net in the accompanying financial statements. Fixed assets of $5,000 or
greater, intangible assets of $100,000 or greater, and internally developed software with development
costs of $1 million or greater are capitalized and depreciated over a five-year economic useful life using
the straight-line method. Right-to-use (RTU) buildings and RTU machinery and equipment, net of
accumulated amortization, are also included in Capital assets, net. RTU assets with a lease term of
greater than 12 months are capitalized and amortized over the lesser of the lease term or the useful life
of the asset, using the straight-line method.

Bond Premium and Discount Bond premium and discount represents the difference in the
amount received upon the sale of bonds and the par value and is included as a component of Bonds
payable, net in the accompanying financial statements. The bond premium and discount are amortized
using the effective interest rate method over the life of the related bonds and are adjusted accordingly
for any bond calls that occur during the year. The amortization of the bond premium and discount is
included as a component of Interest on bonds in the accompanying financial statements.

Unearned Revenues Unearned revenues includes monitoring fees received upon the completion
of LIHTC projects. Since the Agency’s monitoring of LIHTC projects occurs over time, these fees are
amortized on a straight-line basis over the life of the tax credit or over the life of the loan. Also included
in Unearned revenues is funding from the US Department of the Treasury (Treasury) for HAF, and from
NeighborWorks America for the Housing Stability Counseling Program (HSCP). As these funds are
disbursed, unearned revenue is reduced and revenue is recognized as Federal program awards
received.

Interprogram Receivable (Payable) During the normal course of operations, the Agency has
numerous transactions among programs to provide services. If certain transactions among programs
have not been settled as of June 30, 2023, these balances are recorded as Interprogram receivable
(payable) and eliminated in the accompanying financial statements.

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources In addition to Assets, the Statement of Net Position
includes a separate section for Deferred Outflows of Resources. This section of the financial statements
represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period and will not be recognized as an
expense or expenditure until then. The Agency has two items that meet the criterion: contributions to
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the pension plan and contributions to other postemployment benefits (OPEB). In addition to Liabilities,
the Statement of Net Position includes a separate section for Deferred Inflows of Resources. This
section of the financial statements represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period
and will not be recognized as revenue until then. The Agency has two items that meets the criterion:
deferred inflows related to the pension plan and deferred inflows related to OPEB.

Net Position Net Position is reported as restricted when constraints placed on it are externally
imposed by creditors, grantors, laws or regulations, or by law through constitutional provisions.

The Agency’s Board of Directors approves an operating budget annually that is funded with
revenues generated by administrative fees earned on programs, interest income earned on investments,
repayment of program funds, and earnings and reserves from trust agreements. These revenue sources
are used to cover operating expenses. The decision to use restricted or unrestricted receipts to fund a
payment is considered at the transaction level depending on the nature of the payment.

Net position of the Home Ownership Bond Programs is restricted pursuant to the Agency’s
agreements with its bondholders as determined in its trust agreement. The Agency has restricted these
funds in amounts sufficient to meet required debt service and operating expenses as defined by the trust
agreement.

Net position of the HTF Programs is restricted in accordance with the policies of the Housing
Partnership. The Agency and Federal and State Programs’ net positions are restricted in accordance
with each program’s requirements.

Operating Revenues and Expenses As one of its primary funding sources, the Agency has the
authority to issue bonds to the investing public to create inflows of private capital. These funds are used
to finance mortgage loans for qualified borrowers. A significant amount of operating revenues is derived
from federal programs, interest earned on mortgage loans and MBS that are financed with bonds, offset
by GASB Statement No. 31 fair market value adjustments associated with the investments resulting from
market fluctuations. Additional operating income is earned from the sale of MBS associated with the
HomeAd program.

Accordingly, the primary operating expenses of the Agency are those related to federal programs
and the interest expense on bonds outstanding. Other significant operating expenses include down
payment assistance and lender compensation, which are reported in Nonfederal program expense, and
Agency operations, which are reported in General and administrative expense.

Non-Operating Revenues and Expenses State appropriations received and State grants
received are classified as Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses). The related expenses are classified
as State program expense.

General and Administrative Expense General and administrative expense is classified by the
related program. To the extent allowed by federal and state programs and trust agreements, transfers
are made from proceeds of federal and state programs or bond issuances to the Agency to reimburse
allowable general and administrative expenses. Certain indirect costs are allocated to federal and state
programs based on an independently prepared cost allocation plan.

Use of Estimates The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the contingent and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, deferred inflows and outflows of resources at the date of the financial statements, and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period (e.g., loan loss reserve).
Actual results could differ from estimates.
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CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, INVESTMENTS, FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS AND SECURITIES
LENDING TRANSACTIONS

Cash and Cash Equivalents As of June 30, 2023, the Agency had deposits with a carrying
value of $61,618,000 and a bank balance of $62,085,000 in its primary operating account. Of this
amount, $59,110,000 was classified as restricted funds.

The Agency had deposits in pooled investment accounts of the State Treasurer with a carrying
value of $11,099,000 and a bank balance of $6,691,000. Of this balance, $6,837,000 was classified as
restricted funds. The State Treasurer investment account has the characteristics of a demand deposit
account in that the Agency may deposit and withdraw cash at any time without prior notice or penalty.
Included in the investment accounts of the State Treasurer was $3,754,000 of escrow and replacement
reserves maintained on behalf of multifamily and single-family mortgagors; accordingly, a corresponding
liability of the same amount is also included on the Statement of Net Position.

The Agency had deposits with a carrying value of $865,320,000 and a bank balance
$867,076,000 on deposit with the Agency’s fiduciary agents. Of this balance, $729,523,000 was
classified as restricted funds. Such deposits are held in accordance with State Statute 159-31(b) by a
third-party custodian. The Agency also had deposits held in other financial institutions with a carrying
value of $3,000 and a bank balance of $2,000. Of this balance, $2,000 was classified as restricted
funds.

Deposits - Custodial Credit Risk Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure,
the Agency’s deposits may not be returned. At June 30, 2023, the Agency was not exposed to any
material custodial credit risk.

Deposits - Foreign Currency Risk Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in foreign
exchange rates will adversely affect the fair value of a deposit. The Agency does not have exposure to
foreign currency risk.

Investments The Agency’s restricted investments include US Agency securities and MBS
insured by the Federal National Mortgage Association (FNMA), the Government National Mortgage
Association (GNMA), and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (FHLMC).

The Agency funds a portion of its HomeAd production with tax-exempt bonds. In the HomeAd
program, mortgages are made by lenders, purchased by the Agency’s master servicer and securitized
into MBS. For MBS that are financed with tax-exempt bonds, the MBS are reflected in Investments on
the Statement of Net Position.
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At June 30, 2023, the Agency held the following investments with the listed maturities at annual
rates ranging from 1.675% to 6.90%. Ratings are displayed with the Moody’s Investors Service
(Moody’s) rating listed first and the Standard & Poor’s (S&P) rating listed second (in thousands):

Investment Maturities (/In Years)

Carrying Less Than More Than
Investments Amount 1 1-5 6-10 10
GNMA MBS
Rated Aaa/AA+ $ 732,087 $ 2 $ - $ - $ 732,085
FNMA MBS
Rated Aaa/AA+ 615,324 - - - 615,324
FHLMC MBS
Rated Aaa/AA+ 91,137 - - - 91,137
US Agency Securities
Rated Aaa/AA+ 7,221 4,952 2,269 - -
Total Categorized $1,445,769 $ 4,954 $ 2,269 $ - $1,438,546

Interest Rate Risk Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market rates will adversely affect the
fair market value of an investment. The Agency's investment strategy is designed to match the life of the
asset with the date of its related liability. The Agency seeks to minimize interest rate risk by structuring the
portfolio to meet ongoing program and operational cash requirements without having to sell securities prior

to maturity.

Credit Risk Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not
fulfill its obligation. State statutes authorize the Agency to invest in (i) direct obligations or obligations
on which the principal and interest are unconditionally guaranteed by the US Government; (ii) obligations
issued by an approved agency or corporation wholly-owned by the US Government; (iii) interest-bearing
time deposits, certificates of deposit, or other approved forms of deposits in any bank or trust company
in North Carolina which satisfies insurance and, if necessary, collateral requirements for holding Agency
money; (iv) duly established investment programs of the State Treasurer; (v) repurchase agreements;
and (vi) repurchase agreements with banks and financial institutions which are chartered outside of the
State and meet specified rating and collateral requirements of the various trust agreements. The MBS
are securitized by FNMA, GNMA, and FHLMC. The US Agency securities are direct obligations of the
Federal Farm Credit Bank and Federal Home Loan Bank.

Concentration of Credit Risk Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss related to the
percentage of the Agency’s investment portfolio in any single issuer, except for investments explicitly
backed by the US government. The Agency’s investments in FNMA and FHLMC both exceed 5% of
total investments as of June 30, 2023.

Custodial Credit Risk Custodial credit risk occurs when investment securities are uninsured and
are not registered in the name of the Agency, and there is a failure of the counterparty. At year end, the
Agency was not exposed to custodial credit risk. The US Agency Securities are on deposit with the
Agency’s fiduciary agent, which holds these securities by book entry in its fiduciary Federal Reserve
accounts. The Agency’s ownership of these securities is identified through the internal records of the
fiduciary agent.

Foreign Currency Risk Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in foreign exchange rates
will adversely affect the fair value of an investment. The Agency does not have investments
denominated in foreign currencies, and thus does not have exposure to foreign currency risk.
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Fair Value Measurements To the extent available, the Agency’s investments are recorded at
fair value within the fair value hierarchy established by GAAP, in accordance with GASB Statement No.
72, Fair Value Measurement and Application (GASB 72). GASB 72 defines fair value as the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. This statement establishes a hierarchy of valuation inputs based
on the extent to which the inputs are observable in the marketplace. Inputs are used in applying the
various valuation techniques and take into account the assumptions that market participants use to make
valuation decisions. Inputs may include price information, credit data, interest and yield curve data, and
other factors specific to the financial instrument. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from
independent sources. In contrast, unobservable inputs reflect the entity’s assumptions about how
market participants would value the financial instrument. Valuation techniques should maximize the use
of observable inputs to the extent available.

A financial instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any
input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The following describes the hierarchy of inputs
used to measure fair value and the primary valuation methodologies used for financial instruments
measured at fair value on a recurring basis:

Level 1 Investments whose values are based on quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets
(or liabilities) in active markets that a government can access at the measurement date.

Level 2 Investments with inputs — other than quoted prices included within Level 1 — that are
observable for an asset (or liability), either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 !n:j/estm(atnts with unobservable inputs and may require a degree of professional
judgment.

The Agency had the following recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 2023 (in
thousands):

Investment Type Fair Value Input Level

The ownership interest of the STIF is determined

Short Term on a fair market valuation basis as of fiscal year-
Investment Fund $10,938 Level 2 end in accordance with the STIF operating
(STIF) procedures. Valuation of the underlying assets

is performed by the State’s custodian.

Valuation of the underlying assets is performed
$7,221 Level 2 using the policies and procedures established by
the Agency’s custodian.

Valuation of the underlying assets is performed
MBS $1,438,548 Level 2 using the policies and procedures established by
the Agency’s custodian.

US Agency
Securities

Securities Lending Transactions GASB Codification Section 160, Investments—Security
Lending (GASB 160), establishes accounting and financial reporting standards for transactions where
governmental entities transfer their securities to broker-dealers and other entities (borrowers) in
exchange for collateral (which may be cash, securities, or letters of credit) and simultaneously agree to
return the collateral in exchange for the original securities in the future. The Agency does not directly
engage in securities lending transactions; however, the State Treasurer is authorized to engage in these
types of transactions under State Statute 147-69.3(e). The types of securities include government
securities and corporate bonds and notes which are held in the pooled investment accounts of the State
Treasurer. A securities custodian manages the securities lending program for the State and receives
cash as collateral from the borrowers. Collateral is invested in a collateral investment pool and must be
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maintained at 100% of the market value of the original securities. This investment in the collateral
investment pool is considered to be a highly liquid investment. The State has a custodial credit risk
related to the transactions.

Throughout fiscal year 2023, the Agency had deposits in the pooled investment accounts of the
State Treasurer. The risk associated with these transactions will be recorded by the State in its fiduciary
funds. No allocation will be made to the Agency; therefore, the accompanying financial statements do
not reflect the risk associated with securities lending transactions in accordance with GASB 160.

MORTGAGE LOANS RECEIVABLE

The Agency’s mortgage loans are derived from various funding sources. Loans receivable, as
of June 30, 2023 are as follows (in thousands):

Housing Home
Trust Federal Ownership
Agency Fund and State Bond
Programs Programs Programs Programs Total
Mortgage loans receivable $ 10,307 $ 10,466 $ 83,664 $ 208,973 $ 313,410
Less: allowance for loan losses (1) (13) (100) (138) (252)

$ 10,306 $ 10,453 $ 83,564 $ 208,835 $ 313,158

Less: current portion (9,275) (1,073) (7,244) (35,910) (53,502)

Mortgage loans receivable, net $ 1,031 $ 9,380 $ 76,320 $ 172,925 $ 259,656

For the Home Ownership Bond Programs, the Agency has collateralized $196,557,000 in
mortgage loans receivable and $1,835,942,000 in cash and investments pledged to repay the
$1,650,715,000 single-family bonds payable outstanding as of June 30, 2023. Proceeds from the bonds
issued were used to finance housing throughout the State. The outstanding bonds are payable through
fiscal year 2054 and are repaid from principal and interest on mortgage loans and MBS, unexpended
bond proceeds, proceeds from the sale of investments as well as interest income from investments. The
Agency expects 100% of the mortgage loans and MBS, both principal and interest, to pay the principal
and interest debt service requirements on the bonds. The total debt service requirement based on
projected cash flows as of June 30, 2023 is $2,638,545,000 (see “Maturities” under Note D).

For the current fiscal year, debt service payments, bond calls and related interest payments
totaling $195,542,000 were made for the Home Ownership Bond Programs. Payments received on
mortgage loans and MBS for the Home Ownership Bond Programs were $42,324,000 and $156,551,000,
respectively.

The existing and future mortgage loans which the Agency may purchase under the Home
Ownership Bond Programs must comply with guidelines established by the Agency, including the
requirement that all such mortgage loans be insured by the Federal Housing Administration, guaranteed
by the Veterans Administration, guaranteed by the US Department of Agriculture, Rural Development,
insured under a private mortgage insurance program, or have a loan-to-value ratio equal to or less than
80%. As of June 30, 2023, all outstanding FirstHome mortgage loans purchased with mortgage revenue
bond proceeds satisfy these requirements and have stated interest rates ranging from 3% to 10.35%.
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D. BONDS PAYABLE

Bonds issued by the Agency are limited obligations payable solely from and secured by a pledge
of mortgage loans, MBS or other assets for payment of principal and interest. The bonds are
collateralized under a single bond indenture, and subject to all of the covenants, agreements and
conditions of the trust agreement. In addition, certain assets are further restricted for payment of interest
and principal in the event that the related debt service and other available funds are insufficient. Such
assets are segregated within various funds and held in cash or investments.

Bonds payable activity for the year ended June 30, 2023 was as follows (in thousands):

Beginning Ending
Balance Additions Reductions Balance
Bonds Payable

Home Ownership $ 1,445,965 $ 360,000 $ (155,250) $ 1,650,715
Home Ownership (Direct Placement) 13,480 - (13,480) -
$ 1,459,445 $ 360,000 $ (168,730) $ 1,650,715
Unamortized Bond Premium/Discount 43,004 12,414 (5,734) 49,684
Total Bonds Payable, Net $ 1,502,449 $ 372,414 $ (174,464) $ 1,700,399

Bonds payable as of June 30, 2023 are as follows (in thousands):

Stated Final Principal
Issue Rates (%) Maturity Amount

Home Ownership Revenue Bonds

(1998 Housing Revenue Bonds Trust Agreement)

Series 34 2.812 7/1/2035 $ 2,620
Series 35 2.870 7/1/2032 3,925
Series 36 3.000 — 3.482 1/1/2033 4,635
Series 37 1.950 — 3.500 7/1/2039 35,430
Series 38 2.000 — 4.000 7/1/2047 103,880
Series 39 2.600 — 4.000 7/1/2048 48,355
Series 40 2.600 — 4.250 7/1/2047 20,310
Series 41 1.900 — 4.000 1/1/2050 89,190
Series 42 1.300 — 4.000 1/1/2050 102,820
Series 43 1.350 — 4.000 7/1/2050 108,755
Series 44 1.300 — 4.000 7/1/2050 99,965
Series 45 0.400 — 3.000 7/1/2051 165,815
Series 46 0.350 — 3.000 7/1/2051 147,905
Series 47 0.200 - 3.000 7/1/2051 157,405
Series 48 1.450 - 5.000 7/1/2052 199,705
Series 49 3.000 - 6.000 7/1/2053 180,000
Series 50 2.600 — 5.500 1/1/2054 180,000
Total Bonds Outstanding $ 1,650,715
Plus Unamo